A discordance analysis of apolipoprotein A-I and high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol in UK Biobank

Selin Bilgic

Division of Experimental Medicine, McGill University, Montreal

August 2024

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the

requirements of the degree of Master of Science



©Selin Bilgic 2024

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	3
RÉSUMÉ	5
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	7
CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS	8
LIST OF FIGURES	9
LIST OF TABLES	10
ABBREVIATIONS	11
1.0 INTRODUCTION	15
2.0 BACKGROUND	18
2.1 Cardiovascular Disease Overview	18
2.1.1 Pathophysiology	19
2.1.2 Risk Factors	21
2.2 Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Overview	27
2.2.1 Biomarkers of Atherosclerosis	29
2.3 High-Density Lipoprotein	34
2.3.1 Structure of High-Density Lipoprotein and Size Variation	34
2.3.2 Proteome of High-Density Lipoprotein	36

2.3.3 Mechanism of Reverse Cholesterol Transport	45
2.3.4 Other Roles of High-Density Lipoprotein	49
2.3.5 High-Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol versus Apolipoprotein A-I	54
2.4 Current Treatments of Atherosclerosis	56
2.5 Approaches to Estimate the Impact of Variables on Atherosclerosis	62
3.0 METHODOLOGY	65
4.0 RESEARCH FINDINGS	68
5.0 DISCUSSION	80
6.0 CONCLUSION	86
7.0 BIBLIOGRAPHY	87
8.0 SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL	134

ABSTRACT

Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) remains a leading cause of death worldwide. Multiple lines of evidence have now established that apolipoprotein B (apoB) is the most accurate marker of ASCVD risk, superior in predictive power to both low-density lipoprotein-cholesterol (LDL-C) and non-high-density lipoprotein-cholesterol (non-HDL-C). However, evidence as to whether apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I), the primary apolipoprotein in HDL-C, is a better marker of ASCVD than HDL-C is limited. To address this gap in the literature, I will first categorize the relation of HDL-C and apoA-I to ASCVD risk, and then compare the relative strengths of HDL-C and apoA-I to risk by residual discordance analysis, a novel statistical method developed to compare the predictive power of highly correlated variables. I also investigate the relation between apoB, LDL-C, and non-HDL-C to ASCVD risk at different levels of apoA-I. Part 1 includes a sample of 291,995 UK Biobank adults, median age 56, 42.1% men, free of cardiovascular disease and lipid-lowering medication, with a median follow-up for new onset ASCVD of 11 years. Residuals of apoA-I and HDL-C were constructed after regressing each variable onto the other. Pearson correlation coefficients between apoA-I, HDL-C, non-HDL-C, apoB, LDL-C, log-transformed triglycerides, and both residuals were calculated. These markers were used as predictors in Cox proportional hazards regression models for new onset ASCVD, adjusted for standard risk factors, such as smoking. Part 2 of the study divides the cohort of participants into quintiles of apoA-I and repeats the steps in Part 1 within each quintile. In the main cohort, HDL-C, apoA-I, the HDL-C residual, and the apoA-I residual were significantly associated with new onset ASCVD (hazard ratio (HR)=0.85, 0.85, 0.98, 0.96, respectively; p<0.05). Across apoA-I quintiles, the concentrations of apoB, LDL-C, and non-HDL-C remained consistent, while their HRs significantly decreased from the lowest apoA-I

quintile to the highest (1.20 to 1.06, 1.21 to 1.04, and 1.23 to 1.05 for apoB, LDL-C, and non-HDL-C, respectively; p<0.05 for apoB and non-HDL-C). Interaction between apoA-I (or HDL-C) and apoB (or LDL-C or non-HDL-C) was determined by adding an interaction term to the proportional hazards regression models used in the main cohort. This analysis demonstrates that both HDL-C and apoA-I are significant markers of ASCVD risk and they appear to be of similar value. A novel finding in this study is the interaction between apoA-I (or HDL-C) and apoB (or LDL-C or non-HDL-C), in which the atherogenic risk predicted by apoB relates inversely to the concentration of apoA-I.

RÉSUMÉ

Les maladies cardiovasculaires liées à l'athérosclérose demeurent parmi les principales causes de mortalité dans le monde. De nombreuses données établi l'apolipoprotéine B (apoB) comme l'indicateur le plus fiable pour déterminer le risque d'athérosclérose, supérieur au cholestérol des lipoprotéines de basse densité (LDL-C) et des lipoprotéines de non-haute densité (non-HDL-C). Cependant, les données disponibles pour déterminer si l'apolipoprotéine A-I (apoA-I), la principale apolipoprotéine du HDL-C, est un meilleur marqueur que le HDL-C sont limitées. Je commencerai par classer la relation entre le HDL-C et l'apoA-I et le risque d'athérosclérose, puis je comparerai les forces relatives du HDL-C et de l'apoA-I par rapport au risque par utiliser l'analyse de la discordance résiduelle, une méthode statistique développée pour comparer le pouvoir prédictif de variables fortement corrélées. J'étudie également la relation entre l'apoB, le LDL-C et le non-HDL-C avec le risque d'athérosclérose à différents niveaux d'apoA-I. La première partie de cette étude utilise un échantillon de 291 995 adultes de la UK Biobank, 56 ans d'âge médian, 42,1 % d'hommes, sans maladie cardiovasculaire et médicaments hypolipidémiants, avec un suivi médian d'environ 11 ans pour l'apparition d'athéroscléroses. Les résidus de l'apoA-I et du HDL-C ont été construits après la régression de chacun sur l'autre. Les coefficients de corrélation de Pearson entre l'apoA-I, le HDL-C, le non-HDL-C, l'apoB, le LDL-C, les triglycérides log-transformés et les deux résidus ont été calculés. Ces marqueurs ont été utilisés comme prédicteurs dans les modèles de régression des risques proportionnels pour l'apparition de nouvelles maladies athéroscléroses, ajustés pour les facteurs de risque standard, tels que le tabagisme. La deuxième partie divise la cohorte en quintiles d'apoA-I et répète les étapes de la première partie dans chaque quintile. Dans la cohorte principale, le HDL-C, l'apoA-I, le résidu du HDL-C et le résidu de l'apoA-I étaient

significativement associés à l'apparition d'athéroscléroses (ratio de risque (HR)=0,85, 0,85, 0,98, 0,96, respectivement ; p<0,05). Dans les quintiles d'apoA-I, les concentrations d'apoB, le LDL-C et le non-HDL-C étaient constantes, tandis que leurs HRs ont diminué du quintile le plus bas au plus élevé (1,20 à 1,06, 1,21 à 1,04, 1,23 à 1,05 pour l'apoB, le LDL-C et le non-HDL-C respectivement ; p<0,05 pour l'apoB et le non-HDL-C). L'interaction entre l'apoA-I (ou le HDL-C) et l'apoB (ou le LDL-C ou le non-HDL-C) a été déterminée en ajoutant un terme d'interaction aux modèles de la cohorte principale. Cette analyse démontre que le HDL-C et l'apoA-I sont des marqueurs significatifs de l'athérosclérose, avec une valeur similaire. L'interaction entre l'apoA-I (ou le HDL-C) et l'apoB (ou le LDL-C ou le non-HDL-C) constitue une nouveauté de cette étude, dans laquelle le risque athérogène prédit par l'apoB est inversement proportionnel à la concentration de l'apoA-I.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I want to express my gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Allan Sniderman, who has continually supported me throughout my graduate studies. This thesis would not have been possible without your guidance and the invaluable wisdom that you have shared with me. I am extremely grateful for your kind and positive attitude, which fostered an encouraging environment for me to pursue my studies.

Thank you to my Co-Supervisor, Dr. George Thanassoulis, who has offered his unwavering support since we began working together. Your valuable feedback helped me improve my thesis and sparked new ideas for me to explore and include in this work.

To my Thesis Committee, Dr. Jamie Engert, Dr. Tamara Glavinovic, and Dr. Negareh Mousavi, thank you for your continuous encouragement and helpful input for me to improve my work. Our positive and constructive discussions helped motivate me throughout my writing process.

I want to express my sincerest appreciation to Line Dufresne, whose instruction in R Studio and assistance in exploring the biostatistical methods required for this project were instrumental in completing this thesis. Thank you for your incredible patience and guidance.

I want to acknowledge Dr. Michael Pencina and Dr. Karol Pencina, who have offered their expertise in the field of cardiology. I am grateful to have worked with you both on various projects through which I gained indispensable knowledge on lipids and cardiovascular disease.

Finally, thank you to my parents, Canan and Serdar Bilgic, who have always been my greatest role models. You have taught me what it means to work hard and to pursue what makes me happy. You will always be my greatest motivation.

CONTRIBUTION OF AUTHORS

Dr. Allan Sniderman established the main goal of this thesis. Selin Bilgic conducted all analyses, which were reviewed by Line Dufresne when necessary. Selin Bilgic drafted all chapters of the thesis, which were reviewed by Dr. Sniderman.

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Visual Depiction of the Reverse Cholesterol Transport Pathway	48
Figure 2. Plot of High-Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol (HDL-C) Concentration (mg/dL)	
Against Apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I) Concentration (mg/dL)	71
Figure 3. Plot of Non-High-Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol (Non-HDL-C) Concentration	
(mg/dL) Against Apolipoprotein B (ApoB) Concentration (mg/dL)	71
Figure 4. Relationship of Apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I) and Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular	
Disease (ASCVD) Incidence	72
Figure 5. Relationship of High-Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol (HDL-C) and Atherosclerotic	
Cardiovascular Disease (ASCVD) Incidence	73

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Participant Characteristics in UK Biobank Cohort	68
Table 2. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Lipids and Residuals in UK Biobank Cohort	69
Table 3. Hazard Ratios, 95% Confidence Intervals, and p-values for Incident Atherosclerotic	
Cardiovascular Disease in Cox Proportional Hazards Models with Lipid Parameters and Risk	
Factors	70
Table 4. Participant Characteristics in Apolipoprotein A-I Quintiles	74
Table 5. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Lipids and Residuals in Quintile 1	75
Table 6. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Lipids and Residuals in Quintile 2	75
Table 7. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Lipids and Residuals in Quintile 3	76
Table 8. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Lipids and Residuals in Quintile 4	76
Table 9. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Lipids and Residuals in Quintile 5	77
Table 10. Hazard Ratios, 95% Confidence Intervals, and p-values for Incident Atherosclerotic	;
Cardiovascular Disease in Cox Proportional Hazards Models with Lipid Parameters and Risk	
Factors in Apolipoprotein A-I Quintiles	78

ABBREVIATIONS

ABCA1: ATP-Binding Cassette Transporter A1

ABCG1: ATP-Binding Cassette Subfamily G Member 1

ACC: American College of Cardiology

AHA: American Heart Association

ApoA-I: Apolipoprotein A-I

ApoA-II: Apolipoprotein A-II

ApoA-IV: Apolipoprotein A-IV

ApoB: Apolipoprotein B

ApoC: Apolipoprotein C

ApoD: Apolipoprotein D

ApoE: Apolipoprotein E

ApoF: Apolipoprotein F

ApoH: Apolipoprotein H

ApoJ: Apolipoprotein J

ApoL-I: Apolipoprotein L-I

ApoM: Apolipoprotein M

ApoO: Apolipoprotein O

ASCVD: Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease

ATF3: Activating Transcription Factor 3

BMI: Body Mass Index

C3: Complement Component 3

C4: Complement Component 4

C9: Complement Component 9

CAD: Coronary Artery Disease

CETP: Cholesterol Ester Transfer Protein

CHD: Coronary Heart Disease

CI: Confidence Interval

COPD: Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

CVD: Cardiovascular Disease

HbA1c: Hemoglobin A_{1c}

HDL: High-Density Lipoprotein

HDL-C: High-Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol

HR: Hazard Ratio

IDL: Intermediate-Density Lipoprotein

LCAT: Lecithin-Cholesterol Acyltransferase

LDL: Low-Density Lipoprotein

LDL-C: Low-Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol

Lp(a): Lipoprotein (a)

LPS: Lipopolysaccharide

LXR: Liver X Receptor

Non-HDL-C: Non-High-Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol

NPC1L1: Niemann-Pick C1-Like 1

OR: Odds Ratio

PAD: Peripheral Artery Disease

PAF: Platelet-Activating Factor

PAFAH: Platelet-Activating Factor Acetylhydrolase

PCE: Pooled Cohort Risk Estimator Plus

PCSK9: Proprotein Convertase Subtilisin/Kexin Type 9

PLTP: Phospholipid Transfer Protein

PON-1: Paraoxonase-1

PPAR: Peroxisome Proliferator-Activated Receptor

RXR: Retinoid X Receptor

SAA: Serum Amyloid A

SBP: Systolic Blood Pressure

SR-B1: Scavenger Receptor Class B Member 1

TC: Total Cholesterol

VLDL: Very Low-Density Lipoprotein

1.0 INTRODUCTION

Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease (ASCVD) is a leading cause of death worldwide, accounting for 31% of deaths in 2015.¹ ASCVD is characterized by plaque buildup in the arteries, which is formed by the complex biological reaction to the deposition of cholesterol within the arterial wall.^{2,3} Based on the arteries affected, the condition can be referred to by different names like coronary artery disease (CAD), peripheral artery disease (PAD), or carotid artery disease.² Atherosclerotic plaques can cause narrowing or obstruction of these arteries, reducing or eliminating the supply of oxygenated blood to vital organs in the body.^{2,4,5}

For decades, cardiovascular researchers have focused on determining the most useful markers of ASCVD to ensure accurate diagnosis of the disease and to develop effective treatments. Research has demonstrated that high levels of low-density lipoprotein (LDL)- cholesterol (LDL-C) and low levels of high-density lipoprotein (HDL)-cholesterol (HDL-C) are associated with increased ASCVD risk.⁶ LDL particles are the end-product of the metabolism of very low-density lipoprotein (VLDL) and intermediate-density lipoprotein (IDL) particles.⁷ VLDLs are triglyceride-rich particles produced by the liver that transport triglycerides and cholesterol through the circulation because these lipids are insoluble in blood.⁷ The removal of triglycerides from IDL particles forms LDL particles.⁷ LDL particles, and the further removal of triglycerides from IDL particles forms LDL particles.⁷ LDL particles contain most of the cholesterol in the circulation.⁷ Apolipoprotein B (apoB)-100 is the main structural component of VLDL, IDL, and LDL, and is the essential player in cholesterol deposition in arterial walls.^{7,8} It is the trapping of apoB particles in the arterial wall that initiates and drives the development of atherosclerosis.⁹ Although LDL-C is currently the primary marker of

cardiovascular risk in clinical care, apoB has been shown to be a superior marker of ASCVD risk.^{9,10}

Alternatively, HDL, produced in the liver and intestines, removes cholesterol from macrophages to oppose the progression of atherosclerosis.^{8,11} The most accepted model for the anti-atherogenic effect of HDL-C is the reverse cholesterol transport model.⁶ This multistep model involves the liberation of free cholesterol from macrophages to HDL via three mechanisms.⁶ Cholesterol can be transferred via the interaction of apolipoprotein A-I (apoA-I), the main structural component of HDL, and ATP-binding cassette transporter A1 (ABCA1); via ATP-binding cassette subfamily G member 1 (ABCG1); and by Scavenger Receptor Class B Member 1 (SR-B1).⁶ The lecithin-cholesterol acyltransferase (LCAT) enzyme prevents the backwards transfer of free cholesterol to macrophages by converting free cholesterol to cholesterol and cholesteryl esters.⁶ Finally, SR-B1 found on the surface of hepatocytes takes free cholesterol and cholesteryl esters from HDL to be transferred to bile for intestinal excretion.⁶ Another important mediator is the cholesterol ester transport protein (CETP), which transfers cholesterol esters from HDL to VLDL, chylomicrons, and LDL in exchange for triglycerides from VLDL and chylomicrons to HDL.

Despite the essential role of apoA-I in reverse cholesterol transport, most emphasis is still placed on HDL-C as an anti-atherogenic particle. Currently, researchers are divided on whether HDL-C or apoA-I is a more useful marker for ASCVD risk. The potential superiority of either HDL-C or apoA-I is not as clearly understood as the superiority of apoB over non-HDL-C and LDL-C. Some researchers have shown that apoA-I may be a more effective predictor for ASCVD,¹²⁻¹⁵ whereas others have demonstrated the superiority of HDL-C over apoA-I.¹⁶⁻¹⁹

Some research even reveals that both apoA-I and HDL-C are similar predictors of ASCVD risk, adding little value to each other.²⁰

An obstacle faced in analyzing ASCVD risk across various markers using conventional statistical methods lies in separating the effects of highly correlated variables, such as HDL-C and apoA-I, which are biologically intertwined. Discordance analysis is a novel statistical method that addresses this challenge by creating groups in which the highly correlated markers are discordant.²¹ The least arbitrary, and therefore the most unbiased, of the different methods to analyze discordance is residual analysis, which calculates the differences of the "observed" values of HDL-C and apoA-I from the "expected" values obtained from the regression that relates the two.^{22,23}

This study aims: first, to categorize the relation of HDL-C and apoA-I to ASCVD risk; second, to compare the relative strengths of HDL-C and apoA-I to ASCVD risk using residual discordance analysis; and third, to determine if there is any interaction between apoB (or LDL-C or non-HDL-C) and apoA-I (or HDL-C) on ASCVD risk.

2.0 BACKGROUND

2.1 Cardiovascular Disease Overview

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) encompasses a wide range of conditions involving the heart and blood vessels.²⁴ These various disorders can be grouped into four main categories: CAD, defined as narrowing of the coronary arteries; cerebrovascular disease, which primarily affects blood vessels of the brain, commonly leading to stroke; PAD, which affects blood flow in large- and medium-sized arteries, other than the coronary arteries and arteries to the brain; and aortic atherosclerosis, characterized by a build-up of plaque in the aorta.²⁵⁻²⁹ Altogether, CVD is the primary cause of death worldwide, contributing to over 19 million deaths in 2020.^{25,30} This number has been projected to increase to over 23 million deaths worldwide in 2030.^{24,31,32} Notably, more than three-quarters of these deaths caused by CVD have ensued in low- and middle-income countries.²⁴ Central Europe, Eastern Europe, and Central Asia have the highest rates of CVD deaths.³³ Between 2011 and 2015, the economic burden from CVDs in low- and middle-income countries was about \$3.7 trillion.³⁴ This economic burden places CVD as one of the most costly diseases, ahead of Alzheimer's disease and diabetes.²⁵

CVD commonly occurs alongside other health conditions, known as comorbidities, which can exacerbate its burden.³⁵ Multiple studies demonstrate a statistically significant association between CVD and low vision, diabetes, back and neck problems, osteoarthritis, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD), and cancer.³⁵⁻³⁹ These associations may be attributed to the overlap of risk factors between the conditions.³⁵ The prevalence of risk factors for CVD, such as dyslipidemia and smoking, are also high in patients who live with Type 2 Diabetes.³⁵ Smoking is also a risk factor for low vision, COPD, and certain types of cancer.^{35,40} Comorbidities for CVD may also include additional cardiovascular disorders.³⁵ A cohort study using logistic

regression analysis with medical record data from the Julius General Practitioners' Network in the Netherlands identified coronary heart disease (CHD) as the most common cardiovascular comorbid condition in patients with heart failure, PAD, and stroke.³⁵ Other studies have employed a meta-analysis approach to reveal PAD and heart failure, as well as stroke and heart failure, as comorbid conditions.^{41,42}

2.1.1 Pathophysiology

The pathophysiology of CVD remains complex and depends on the type of CVD in question. For instance, CAD manifests from the formation of an atherosclerotic plaque, which is a build-up of calcium, cholesterol, and inflammatory components, that can obstruct the coronary vessel lumen, limiting normal blood flow.³ These plaques are initially formed by the subendothelial deposition of foam cells, lipid-laden macrophages, which ultimately create the initial atherosclerotic lesion, known as a "fatty streak".³ The subendothelial plaque develops as more foam cells accumulate, necrose, and the cholesterol within them form a lipid core within a fibrous outer surface.^{3,43} The plaque may remain stable and quiescent.³ However, if it ruptures and is exposed to tissue factor, an initiator of blood coagulation, acute thrombosis can result, causing occlusion of the vessel lumen.^{3,44} Thrombosis may then lead to death of the tissue being supplied by the vessel, producing myocardial or cerebral infarction depending on whether the heart or brain are involved.^{3,45}

Cerebrovascular disease encompasses several distinct pathologies, such as ischemic stroke caused by an obstruction that reduces blood flow to the brain, transient ischemic attack which is a stroke that lasts a few minutes, and aneurysms, when a blood vessel bulges in one

spot.⁴⁶⁻⁴⁹ Stroke is the most devastating manifestation of cerebrovascular disorders.⁴⁶ Ischemic stroke can arise from a thrombotic or embolic event that reduces oxygen-rich blood flow to the brain.⁴⁷ Similar to CAD, a thrombotic event occurs when an atherosclerotic plaque narrows the vessels supplying blood to the brain and accumulates, leading to thrombosis and causing a stroke.^{50,51} Less commonly, an embolus, a blood clot or plaque debris that travels through the bloodstream until it can no longer fit through the vessel, develops elsewhere in the body and travels to a vessel in the brain, causing an embolic stroke.⁵¹⁻⁵³

Similar to both CAD and some manifestations of cerebrovascular disease, PAD is primarily triggered by an atherosclerotic plaque in the blood vessels.⁵⁴ Generally, an atherosclerotic plaque develops in the vessels carrying blood from the heart to the legs, which narrows or blocks blood flow in this direction.⁵⁴ This may cause typical symptoms of PAD such as leg pain with physical activity, muscle weakness, or cramps with walking.⁵⁴

Lastly, aortic atherosclerosis manifests through a progressive buildup of plaque in the aorta, the largest artery in the body, which supplies blood from the heart to the rest of the body.⁵⁵ Specifically, aortic atherosclerosis can cause two types of emboli - a thromboembolism or an atheroembolism.⁵⁵ More commonly, thromboembolisms develop as a blood clot that forms on the plaque's surface, breaks away, and travels through the blood.⁵⁵ Otherwise, an atheroembolism can develop when the cholesterol plaque itself breaks away and travels through the blood.⁵⁵ Both types of emboli block blood flow to the area in which they become stuck, leading to ischemia (shortage of oxygen-rich blood) and subsequent damage of tissues and organs in the area.⁵⁵

Atherosclerosis is the common denominator in the pathophysiology of the great majority of cardiovascular events.⁵⁶

2.1.2 Risk Factors

Although the direct cause of CVD is unknown, there are various risk factors that increase the risk of developing CVD.⁵⁷ It is important to recognize risk factors, monitor them, and make life-style changes with this information to manage CVD risk and burden.⁵⁸ These risk factors may be non-modifiable, such as age, sex, ethnicity, race, and genetic factors, or modifiable, such as smoking, physical inactivity, hypertension, poor diet, alcohol, and diabetes.⁵⁹

Age

Age is one of the strongest risk factors for CVD. In both males and females, the prevalence of CVD rises substantially after the 5th decade.⁶⁰ Two different mechanisms are involved. The first is more prolonged exposure to the causes of atherosclerosis: entry and trapping of apoB particles within the arterial wall, elevated blood pressure or blood sugar, and smoking.⁶¹ The second relates to the still poorly understood changes with aging that accelerate that atherosclerotic process, such as increased oxidative stress and inflammation.^{60,61} In addition to the various processes by which age influences CVD risk, age also has complex interactions with a multitude of other risk factors of CVD, exacerbating its impact.^{60,62}

Sex

Notable differences in CVD risk exist between men and women.⁶³ Typically, men have an elevated risk and earlier onset of CVD.⁶³ This difference in risk can be attributed to many factors, for instance, men generally have less favorable levels of blood pressure and cholesterol and smoke more than women.⁶⁴ Sex differences in risk have also been attributed to sex hormones.⁶⁰ The incidence of stroke significantly increases in menopausal women.⁶⁵ Therefore, many studies have investigated the protective effect of estrogen on the cardiovascular system.

Clinical studies have found a high incidence of CAD in young women who have had a bilateral oophorectomy, the removal of both estrogen-producing ovaries.⁶⁰ Experiments in rodents have demonstrated the role of estrogen and its receptors in increasing angiogenesis and vasodilation and reducing oxidative stress, inflammation, and cardiomyocyte apoptosis.⁶⁶⁻⁷⁰ Similarly, genetic research has shown that the X chromosome influences the expression of genes associated with apoptosis, lipid oxidation, and mitochondrial production of reactive oxygen species.⁷¹ Further. the sex-determining region Y of the Y chromosome mediates transcription of tyrosine hydroxylase, the rate-limiting enzyme in catecholamine (e.g., noradrenaline) synthesis, resulting in a sex-specific difference in sympathetic activity, making men more predisposed to hypertension than women.^{72,73} Despite the strong evidence for estrogen as a cardioprotective agent, multiple studies investigating hormone-replacement therapy have yielded mixed results.⁷⁴⁻ ⁷⁷ For instance, the Heart and Estrogen/Progestin Replacement Study found no significant differences in CHD death, nonfatal myocardial infarction, coronary revascularization, stroke, PAD, congestive heart failure, resuscitated cardiac arrest, or unstable angina when randomly treating 3,000 postmenopausal women with either placebo or combination hormone therapy (estrogen and medroxyprogesterone), after a four-year follow-up.⁷⁷ The Women's Health Initiative study even revealed a higher incidence of cardiovascular events, thromboembolic events, and stroke in postmenopausal women who received combination hormone therapy, leading to the trial's termination.⁷⁵

Ultimately, sex differences in CVD risk may stem from a complex interaction between environmental, hormonal, and genetic factors.

Race and ethnicity

Racial and ethnic disparities in cardiovascular health have been documented extensively, emphasizing the disproportionate effect of CVD on ethnic minority groups.⁷⁸ In the United States, research has consistently underscored higher rates of CVD mortality among Black adults compared to White adults, with many potential reasons for this difference in risk.⁷⁹⁻⁸¹ Studies have demonstrated a higher body mass index (BMI), systolic blood pressure (SBP), hemoglobin A_{1c} (HbA1c), and prevalence of obesity, diabetes, and hypertension, as well as a lower socioeconomic status, in Black populations compared to White populations.^{80,82,83} Furthermore, an earlier age of onset of CVDs among African Americans may be attributable to the higher prevalence of CVD risk factors, such as hypertension, diabetes, obesity, and ASCVD risk, in these populations.⁸⁴ South Asian populations also face increased CVD risk compared to White populations.^{78,85,86} South Asians have been shown to have stronger associations of BMI, triglycerides, and HbA1c with CVD compared to White populations.⁸⁵

Genetic factors

Some CVDs may be linked to genetic causes and can therefore be inherited from one generation to the next.⁸⁷ For instance, familial hypercholesterolemia is mainly caused by mutations within the LDL receptor, apoB, and proprotein convertase subtilisin/kexin type 9 (PCSK9) genes.⁸⁸ LDL receptor mutations are the most frequent, and there are about 1,000 LDL receptor mutations that lead to familial hypercholesterolemia.⁸⁸ These mutations in the LDL receptor gene cause a significant increase of LDL-C levels in the plasma, which greatly increases ASCVD risk.⁸⁹ Thus, genetics can influence the varying levels of lipoproteins in the blood, which can, in turn, lead to increased CVD risk.⁹⁰ Another example of this involves apolipoprotein E (apoE), which is found in many lipoproteins and binds tightly to the LDL receptor.⁹¹ The *APOE* gene is polymorphic (i.e., its DNA sequence can vary across individuals),

generating three alleles that encode three corresponding isoforms of the final protein.^{91,92} The E2 isoform is linked to lower LDL-C levels than the E3 isoform, whereas the E4 isoform is linked to higher LDL-C levels.⁹¹ Consequently, those with an E4 isoform have been shown to have a higher risk of CHD compared to individuals who are homozygous for E3.⁹¹

Smoking

Tobacco use was the cause of over 3 million cardiovascular deaths in 2021 and remains one of the leading causes of cardiovascular death today.⁹³ Smoking is linked to early onset atherosclerosis, which underlies the development of most CVDs.^{56,94} Experimental studies have associated hydrophilic cigarette smoke fractions (e.g., nicotine, metals, and various oxidants and free radicals) with the oxidation of endothelial cell structures (e.g., microtubules, cytoskeleton, intermediate filaments), LDL oxidation, and endothelial cell apoptosis, necrosis, contraction, and leakiness.⁹⁵⁻⁹⁹ Though there may be various mechanisms by which the different components of cigarette smoke promote CVD risk, the endothelium is a clear target of smoking.⁹⁴ The onset of atherosclerosis begins with vascular endothelial dysfunction.^{94,100}

Physical inactivity

Physical activity is known to have a positive influence on cardiovascular health.¹⁰¹ Conversely, physical inactivity, has been associated with increased CVD risk.¹⁰¹⁻¹⁰⁴ Approximately 7% of CVD deaths and 6% of CHD prevalence worldwide can be attributed to physical inactivity.^{102,105} The World Health Organization also identifies physical inactivity as the cause for about 30% of ischemic heart disease burden.¹⁰⁶ Physical inactivity may cause CVD burden via different mechanisms, such as reducing popliteal artery flow-mediated dilation and increasing endothelial cell apoptosis.¹⁰⁷ Furthermore, physical inactivity is strongly linked to metabolic disorders, like impaired glucose metabolism, which significantly elevates CVD risk.¹⁰¹

Hypertension

High SBP accounted for almost 11 million cardiovascular deaths in 2021.⁹³ High blood pressure, coined hypertension, and defined as an SBP of 130 mmHg or higher and/or a diastolic blood pressure of 80 mmHg or higher, is a modifiable CVD risk factor with the most compelling evidence linking it to causation.¹⁰⁸⁻¹¹⁰ Meta-analyses and cohort studies reveal a log-linear relationship between blood pressure and CVD, increasing significantly with age.¹¹¹⁻¹¹³ The harmful actions of hypertension on CVD risk may be associated to damaged endothelial function, likely related to oxidative stress.¹¹⁴ This endothelial dysfunction plays a significant role in the development of atherosclerosis, leading to CVD.^{94,100,114} Decreasing blood pressure is one of the best approaches to lowering CVD burden.¹¹⁵ Research has demonstrated that a 10 mmHg decrease in SBP can decrease the risk of major CVD events by 20%, CHD by 17%, and stroke by 27%.¹¹² Randomized controlled trials have verified the effectiveness of antihypertensive drugs like thiazides, beta blockers, calcium channel blockers, angiotensin receptor blockers, and angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitors in decreasing CVD risk.¹¹⁶

Diet

In the United States, it is estimated that poor diet is linked to over half of the deaths due to CHD and stroke.¹¹⁷ Diet has a significant impact on many CVD components, such as diabetes, obesity, and hypertension, ultimately increasing CVD risk.¹¹⁸ There are many foods that have been clearly linked with negative impacts on CVD components and should be avoided. Foods with a high-glycemic index, like ultra-processed foods, are associated with a higher risk of Type

2 Diabetes.¹¹⁷⁻¹¹⁹ Red meat and refined grains are associated with greater inflammation.^{120,121} Excessive sodium consumption (e.g., through commercially processed foods) is linked to a higher risk of hypertension, through mechanisms such as perturbing renal sodium homeostasis or direct effects on the vascular wall.¹¹⁷ Conversely, many foods have been linked to having beneficial effects on CVD risk. Fruits, vegetables, whole grains, nuts, seeds, fiber, olive oil, and legumes are associated with lower inflammation.^{117,120} Nuts have also been linked to weight loss and decreased LDL-C, hypertension risk, and Type 2 Diabetes risk.^{119,120} Magnesium, which may be found in whole grains, nuts, and vegetables, has also been shown to lower the risk of Type 2 Diabetes.¹¹⁹ Higher potassium intake is associated with a lower risk of CVD mortality.¹¹⁷ Moreover, specific diets such as the Mediterranean diet, involving fish, olive oil, fruits, vegetables, whole grains, legumes, nuts, and moderate alcohol consumption, have been linked to lower inflammation and protection against risk factors like waist circumference, lipids, glucose, and blood pressure.^{120,122} However, the optimal diet to enhance cardiovascular health is still under investigation.

Alcohol

Alcohol consumption presents a complex relationship with CVD risk. Excessive alcohol intake greater than 60 g/day in men and 40 g/day in women is significantly associated with CVD burden and death.¹²³ Excessive alcohol consumption is associated with other risk factors of CVD as well, including hypertension and diabetes.¹²⁴⁻¹²⁶ However, alcohol consumption appears to form a J-shaped relationship with CVD risk, as low to moderate alcohol consumption leads to lower CVD risk compared to no alcohol intake or excessive alcohol intake.¹²³ Alcohol is thought by some researchers to initially confer a positive effect on the endothelial-nitric oxide-generating system, then a negative effect.¹²⁷ Notably, endogenous nitric oxide synthase expression and nitric

oxide production, which helps mediate vascular tone and contributes a protective effect to the cardiovascular system, was increased in the aortic vascular wall of rats that consumed low to moderate amounts of ethanol for six weeks.^{127,128} In another study, endogenous nitric oxide synthase expression was decreased in rats that consumed high concentrations of ethanol.¹²⁹

Diabetes

Diabetic adults have a cardiovascular risk that is two to four times higher than nondiabetic adults.^{130,131} Diabetes is strongly associated with incident CVD in all age groups, and this may be due to a multitude of factors.⁶² First, diabetes and CVD share many risk factors, like obesity, insulin resistance, dyslipidemia, and inflammation.¹³² Furthermore, the relationship between diabetes and CVD can be explained by pathophysiological mechanisms such as hyperglycemia and hyperinsulinemia.¹³⁰ Hyperglycemia, high blood glucose, is required for diabetes diagnosis and has been shown to cause endothelial dysfunction through oxidative stress.¹³³⁻¹³⁵ Hyperglycemia can also increase the concentrations of pro-atherothrombotic biomarkers, including adhesion molecules VCAM-1, E-selectin, and ICAM-1.¹³⁵⁻¹³⁹ Hyperinsulinemia, high levels of insulin in the blood, is linked to cardiomyocyte hypertrophy via diverse pathways like the PI3Kα/Akt-1 pathway.¹⁴⁰ Cardiomyocyte hypertrophy is the heart's early response to stress and may eventually lead to heart failure via increased left ventricle thickness.¹⁴¹

2.2 Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease Overview

Atherosclerosis is an inflammatory condition, characterized by the buildup of plaques in the arteries, and is the primary cause of CVDs.^{142,143} ASCVD mainly constitutes ischemic heart

disease and cerebrovascular disease (e.g., stroke), whereas aortic atherosclerosis and PAD are other less prevalent ASCVDs.¹⁴²⁻¹⁴⁴ Clinically, plaques can be visualized via non-invasive imaging procedures, such as magnetic resonance tomography, computer tomography, positron emission tomography, and single-photon emission computed tomography.¹⁴⁵ Angiography is also a common method for atherosclerotic lesion imaging; however, it is an invasive procedure used for higher-risk patients.¹⁴² Furthermore, physicians can assess risk scores through a variety of methods. For instance, the 2018 Multi-Society Cholesterol Management Guidelines and the 2019 American College of Cardiology (ACC)/American Heart Association (AHA) Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease Guidelines recommend the Pooled Cohort Risk Estimator Plus (PCE) for ASCVD risk assessment for those without diagnosed CVD or familial hypercholesterolemia.¹⁴⁶ The PCE considers risk factors, such as age, sex, SBP, treatment for hypertension, total cholesterol (TC), diabetes, and smoking, to provide a 10-year risk estimation of future ASCVD, categorized into low (<5%), borderline (5-<7.5%), intermediate (7.5-<20%), and high (≥20%) risk.¹⁴⁶

Despite the complexity of the pathologic process leading to atherosclerosis, a commonly accepted model involves endothelial dysfunction adding to LDL retention and oxidation by reactive oxygen species in the intima.^{5,147} Oxidized LDL particles and other atherogenic factors help activate endothelial cells, resulting in the recruitment of monocytes within the intima.⁵ Monocytes, which attach to the vessel wall, transmigrate into the arterial wall and mature into macrophages.¹⁴⁸ Such monocyte differentiation into pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory macrophages is influenced by local metabolic signals, such as lactate that can promote an anti-inflammatory environment or HIF-1α that can promote inflammatory macrophages, and the availability of cytokines.¹⁴⁹⁻¹⁵¹ Pro-inflammatory macrophages release inflammatory cytokines,

mainly IL-1β, IL-6, TNFα, and CCL2, and produce reactive oxygen species, which further promote monocyte recruitment and inflammatory response propagation.^{5,149} Additionally, macrophages accumulate lipids via cholesterol uptake by scavenger receptors (e.g., SR-A1 and CD36) on their surface and turn into foam cells, lipid-laden macrophages existing at all stages of disease progression.¹⁴⁹ The accumulation of foam cells, and thus cholesterol, forms an atherosclerotic lesion.⁵ Overtime, foam cells die and form a necrotic core in the lesion.^{152,153} The necrotic core is covered by a "fibrous cap", which acts as a barrier between the necrotic core and circulating coagulation factors and platelets.⁵ The thickness of the fibrous cap is inversely related to the vulnerability of the plaque to rupture.⁵ If the fibrous cap weakens, for instance from its degradation by metalloproteases released by foam cell apoptosis, the plaque can rupture, and a thrombus forms, leading to complications such as CAD or ischemic stroke as described in section 2.1.1.^{5,152,154}

2.2.1 Biomarkers of Atherosclerosis

Extensive research has identified numerous biomarkers associated with atherosclerosis. In fact, the many components of atherosclerosis development provide several different types of biomarkers. As described in section 2.2, inflammation is an integral part in the development of atherosclerosis.¹⁵⁵ Therefore, many inflammatory markers of atherosclerosis exist, including high sensitivity C-reactive protein, secreted in response to IL-6 by macrophages, and cytokines (e.g., IL-1 β , IL-6, TNF α , and CCL2), which are released by macrophages during atherosclerosis development.¹⁵⁵ Oxidative stress constitutes another important process in atherosclerosis, thus oxidized LDL, resulting from the action of reactive oxygen species, is a biomarker for atherosclerosis.^{147,155} Matrix metalloproteases are also biomarkers of oxidative stress in atherosclerosis.¹⁵⁵ Metalloproteases like MMP-2 and MMP-9 degrade extracellular matrix, weakening the fibrous cap of the atherosclerotic plaque, leading to plaque rupture.¹⁵⁵

The trapping of apoB lipoprotein particles in the arterial wall is the key process that triggers and sustains the entire atherosclerotic process.¹⁵⁶ ApoB lipoproteins include chylomicrons, chylomicron remnants, VLDL, IDL, LDL, and lipoprotein(a) (Lp(a)).¹⁵⁶ Chylomicrons are the largest of the apoB particles.⁷ These triglyceride-rich particles are produced in the intestine and contain one apoB-48 molecule each.⁷ In peripheral tissues, lipoprotein lipase removes triglycerides from chylomicrons, resulting in chylomicron remnants.⁷ Intact chylomicrons are the only apoB particles too large to enter the arterial wall.⁹ All the rest can enter the wall and, therefore, all the rest are atherogenic.⁹ Similar to chylomicrons, VLDL particles are triglyceride-rich; however, they are made by the liver and each contains one apoB-100 molecule.⁷ When triglycerides are removed from VLDL by lipoprotein lipase, IDL particles are formed.⁷ Further removal of triglycerides from IDL results in LDL particles, which carry most of the cholesterol in the circulation.^{7,157} LDL particles vary in size and density, depending on their lipid content, and small dense LDL particles are more atherogenic than large LDL particles.^{7,158} Small dense LDL particles might be more atherogenic because they are more rapidly oxidized, they bind more strongly to proteoglycans in the subendothelial space, they have a lower binding affinity for the LDL receptor, and they have a longer half-life.^{7,158-160} Finally, Lp(a) is another atherogenic form of LDL that contains an apolipoprotein(a) molecule connected to its apoB molecule through a disulfide bond.⁹ Like hypertension, apoB particles are causal factors for atherosclerosis.¹⁶¹ Lowering their concentration in plasma is a primary objective of prevention.¹⁶² LDL-C, triglycerides, and non-HDL-C have been the conventional biomarkers used clinically.^{9,163} However, insufficient emphasis is placed on apoB, the common denominator

of all apoB particles. The α3 domain of apoB binds to the LDL receptor, initiating the clearance of LDL from the plasma.¹⁶² Thus, loss-of-function mutations in either the LDL receptor or the apoB found on LDL can lead to high LDL-C in the plasma, and thus familial hypercholesterolemia and atherosclerosis.¹⁶² ApoB also possesses binding sites for proteoglycans in the endothelial wall, and this binding is essential for LDL retention in the subendothelium.¹⁶² The evidence is now overwhelming that apoB is a more accurate marker of atherosclerotic risk than LDL-C or non-HDL-C.^{14,15,164-171}

HDL-C levels also predict atherosclerotic risk.¹⁷² Specifically, low HDL-C levels are associated with a higher risk of CVD.¹⁷²⁻¹⁷⁷ HDL is produced in the liver and intestines and is believed to remove cholesterol from foam cells to counteract the progression of atherosclerosis.^{8,11} This reverse cholesterol transport pathway is considered the primary process by which HDL decreases atherosclerotic burden.¹⁷⁸ However, HDL may confer additional cardioprotective effects through its anti-inflammatory activity, its anti-oxidant activity, modulation of coagulation, alteration of platelet function, interaction with the metabolism of triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, and enhancement in endothelial function.¹⁷⁸ Despite substantial research revealing the possible cardioprotective effects of HDL-C, more recent research has demonstrated that very high levels of HDL-C predict increased risk of cardiovascular mortality, creating a "U-shaped" curve.¹⁷⁹⁻¹⁸¹ The Copenhagen City Heart Study and the Copenhagen General Population Study each examined non-overlapping patient cohorts with low risks for CVD.¹⁸² This combined cohort of 110,000 men and women revealed a significantly increased risk of all-cause mortality at HDL-C levels over 2.51 mmol/L in men and 3.50 mmol/L in women and less than 1.04 mmol/L in both men and women. Cardiovascular death also had a U-shaped association with HDL-C values in both sexes.¹⁸² Evidence remains mixed as other studies have

demonstrated that extremely high levels of HDL-C are not linked to such poor outcomes and Mendelian randomization studies have not confirmed a causal role for HDL as a determinant of cardiovascular risk.¹⁸³⁻¹⁸⁵ This paradoxical association between HDL-C and CVD remains unclear, but researchers have suggested several potential explanations.¹⁸⁰ First, the increase in adverse events in relation to raised HDL-C may be associated with other CVD risks factors.¹⁸⁰ This relationship may also be linked to genetic variation in specific genes like CETP, ABCA1, or SR-B1, which are linked to increased HDL-C when mutated.^{180,182} Research examining patients with these mutated alleles has not reported a clear increased risk of cardiovascular events.¹⁸² Furthermore, a higher risk of mortality could be related to HDL size and function.^{180,186} For instance, Martin et al. found an increase of greater than 50% in mortality and myocardial infarction risk in participants with lower HDL₃-C (i.e., small HDL) levels, while HDL-C and HDL₂-C (i.e., large HDL) levels had no significant relationships.¹⁸⁷ HDL subclasses may also be associated with age and sex, adding another complex layer to the paradox. A study by Freedman et al. describes a steady decrease in HDL₂ particles with age in women, while men show a Ushaped trend.¹⁸⁸ HDL₃ particles appeared to exhibit an inverted U-shaped curve with age in both men and women.¹⁸⁸ Therefore, it may be advantageous to differentiate between HDL subgroups and gain a deeper understanding of their functions in relation to cardiovascular outcomes.¹⁸⁶ Lastly, it is important to keep in mind the multifunctional role of HDL in processes like inflammation, oxidation, thrombosis, and immunity.¹⁸⁰ Like apoB lipoprotein particles, HDL has its own primary apolipoprotein molecule, apoA-I.¹⁸⁹ ApoA-I is an important mediator of reverse cholesterol transport as it interacts with ABCA1 to transfer free cholesterol from macrophages to HDL.^{6,189} ApoA-I is also a cofactor for LCAT, enhancing its activity and preventing the backwards transfer of free cholesterol to macrophages by converting free cholesterol to

cholesteryl esters.^{6,178,189} Furthermore, apoA-I can inhibit neutrophil and endothelial cell activation, an important step in the development of atherosclerosis.^{147,190} However, like HDL-C, Faaborg-Andersen et al. have observed a U-shaped association between apoA-I and CVD, whereby very low and very high apoA-I levels are related to higher cardiovascular mortality.¹⁹¹ This may be partly due to participants with very high apoA-I levels being older, having a higher prevalence of smoking and alcohol use, and having high TC levels.¹⁹¹ Another proposed mechanism involves molecular modifications to apoA-I that modify its function in response to environmental stressors, like oxidative stress and inflammation, at high concentrations.¹⁹¹

Although specific lipid levels are key for the prediction of ASCVD risk, lipid ratios have also been used in risk prediction. The LDL-C:apoB ratio can be helpful in distinguishing between large buoyant LDL from small dense LDL, which are more atherogenic.¹⁶⁰ Specifically, an LDL-C:apoB ratio below 1.2 was found to be the cutoff between large buoyant LDL and small dense LDL particles.¹⁶⁰ Furthermore, a greater HDL-C:apoA-I ratio may reflect the hindered capacity of dysfunctional HDL to uptake excess cholesterol from tissues and atherosclerotic plaques.¹⁹² Researchers have shown the positive association between increasing HDL-C:apoA-I ratio and CVD mortality.¹⁹² In general, the associations between lipid ratios such as the TC:HDL-C ratio and the apoB:apoA-1 ratio with cardiovascular risk are stronger than between single lipid measurements and risk. Kastelein et al. suggest that ratios of proatherogenic to antiatherogenic lipid measurements.¹⁹³ In some, but not all studies, the apoB:apoA-I ratio is more strongly associated with cardiovascular risk than the TC:HDL-C ratio.¹⁹³ Indeed, across all nationalities, the INTERHEART study found the apoB:apoA-I ratio to be the most important risk factor for myocardial infarction.¹⁹⁴ By contrast, the Framingham Heart study found the TC:HDL-C ratio to be superior to the apoB:apoA-1 ratio.¹⁹

2.3 High-Density Lipoprotein

2.3.1 Structure of High-Density Lipoprotein and Size Variation

HDL particles consist of a lipid core, which includes cholesterol and triglycerides surrounded by a monolayer of phospholipids. Within this monolayer are multiple apolipoproteins, such as apoA-I and apolipoprotein A-II (apoA-II) as well as enzymes like LCAT.¹⁹⁵ HDL is highly heterogeneous and can be classified into different subclasses based on density, size, shape, and lipid and protein composition.¹⁹⁶ Generally, HDL is separated by ultracentrifugation based on density and classified as either HDL₂, the less dense (1.063-1.125 g/mL) and more lipid-rich form of HDL, or HDL₃, the more dense (1.125-1.210 g/mL) and protein-rich form.¹⁹⁷ Non-denaturing polyacrylamide gradient gel electrophoresis can be used to separate HDL₂ and HDL₃ into further subclasses based on size: HDL_{3c} (7.2-7.8 nm in diameter), HDL_{3b} (7.8-8.2 nm), HDL_{3a} (8.2-8.8 nm), HDL_{2a} (8.8-9.7 nm), and HDL_{2b} (9.7-12.0 nm).¹⁹⁷ Furthermore, agarose gel electrophoresis can separate HDL into α -migrating particles and pre- β migrating particles based on surface charge and shape.¹⁹⁷ Pre-β-migrating HDL particles represent nascent HDL particles, which are less abundant in the plasma and can be found in a discoidal shape. A-migrating HDL particles are the predominant form found in plasma and are present in spherical form.^{196,198}

HDL is formed when apoA-I is secreted by hepatocytes or intestinal mucosa and interacts with the 220-240 kDa transporter ABCA1 in peripheral cells to gain free cholesterol and

phospholipids, creating the small discoidal particle referred to as pre- β -HDL or nascent HDL.^{196,199,200} Apart from de novo synthesis and secretion, apoA-I can be found in circulation from mature HDL catabolism or apoB lipoprotein lipolysis.¹⁹⁶ The free cholesterol on the maturing HDL's surface acts as a substrate for LCAT, whereas the apoA-I activates the enzyme, converting free cholesterol into cholesteryl esters, which penetrate the phospholipid monolayer of discoidal HDL to accumulate in its hydrophobic core.¹⁹⁶ This prevents the backwards transfer of free cholesterol to the tissues and transforms the discoidal HDL into spherical HDL.¹⁹⁶ While discoidal HDL is small, lipid-poor, and formed from apolipoprotein in a monolayer of phospholipid and cholesterol, spherical HDL is larger, formed from discoidal HDL, and has a hydrophobic core of cholesteryl esters.²⁰¹ Mature HDL can further facilitate cholesterol efflux via ABCG1 and ABCG4.²⁰¹ Research has found that smaller HDL₃ particles perform more efficient cholesterol efflux via ABCA1 compared to larger particles; however, these smaller and larger particles are equally as effective via ABCG1.²⁰¹ Small, dense HDL₃ has also been shown to be more effective at protecting against LDL oxidation than HDL₂ and appear to have a stronger anti-inflammatory effect.²⁰²⁻²⁰⁴

While apoA-I is the predominant apolipoprotein found on HDL, making up for about 70% of total HDL protein, apoA-II can also be found on HDL, making up for about 20% of HDL protein.¹⁹⁵ Briefly, apoA-I has important functions in reverse cholesterol transport, the assembly of HDL, inflammation, and infection, whereas apoA-II plays important roles in cholesterol efflux, HDL remodelling, and stabilizing HDL structure.²⁰⁵ HDL particles can contain only apoA-I (referred to as LpA-I) or both apoA-I and apoA-II (referred to as LpA-I).²⁰⁵ Most proteins associated with LpA-I have roles in hemostasis, metal ion binding, protease inhibition, inflammatory responses, and immune responses, whereas most proteins associated with LpA-
I:A-II are important for lipid transport.²⁰⁵ Current evidence predominantly agrees that LpA-I has superior anti-atherogenic effects compared to LpA-I:A-II. Research has shown that LpA-I facilitates cholesterol efflux through both slow, nonspecific and fast, specific, energy-dependent mechanisms, thus being more active in the reverse cholesterol transport chain.²⁰⁶ Furthermore, expression of human apoA-I in transgenic mice has been shown to increase cholesterol efflux from macrophages, whereas murine apoA-II in transgenic mice did not.²⁰⁷ A similar study by Chiesa et al. demonstrated that the expression of human apoA-I, but not apoA-II, improved cholesterol efflux in apoA-I-deficient mice.²⁰⁸ Some researchers have also shown that transgenic mice overexpressing apoA-I and apoA-II had an increased susceptibility for developing atherosclerosis compared to mice that overexpressed only human apoA-I.²⁰⁹ Additionally, apoA-II is able to displace apoA-I from HDL since apoA-II possesses a higher affinity for lipids.^{210,211} Ultimately, it is important to keep in mind this complexity of HDL structure, resulting in different cardioprotective activities.²¹²

2.3.2 Proteome of High-Density Lipoprotein

The HDL proteome refers to the complete set of proteins found in HDL.¹⁹⁶ There have been hundreds of proteins identified to-date, including various types of apolipoproteins, enzymes, lipid transfer proteins, complement system components, and protease inhibitors.¹⁹⁶ The protein:lipid ratio in HDL can range from 10:1 in pre-β-HDL to 1:2 in large HDL₂.¹⁹⁶ Importantly, changes in HDL protein content can act as a marker, or even mediator, of ASCVD.²¹³ Compared to the LDL proteome, HDL is more complex in its protein composition. Most sources describe the LDL proteome to consist of less than 100 proteins.²¹⁴ Given the complexities of the composition of HDL particles from the large number of differing

36

constituents, and therefore differing properties of HDL particles, there is an almost infinite number of ways discordance could be described and tested. As the primary protein of HDL, accounting for 70% of the proteome, apoA-I is a clear first choice for a discordance analysis with HDL.

Apolipoproteins

Apolipoproteins are serum proteins with four general functions.⁷ They can help maintain particle structure, serve as ligands for lipoprotein receptors, guide lipoprotein formation, and act as activators or inhibitors of enzymes that serve roles in lipoprotein metabolism.⁷ HDL contains several types of apolipoproteins in its proteome, including apoA-I, apoA-II, apolipoprotein A-IV (apoA-IV), apolipoprotein C (apoC), apolipoprotein D (apoD), apoE, apolipoprotein F (apoF), apolipoprotein H (apoH), apolipoprotein J (apoJ), apolipoprotein L-I (apoL-I), apolipoprotein M (apoM), and apolipoprotein O (apoO).¹⁹⁷

Accounting for approximately 70% of total HDL protein, apoA-I is the primary structural and functional protein of HDL.¹⁹⁷ ApoA-I is approximately 28 kDa, composed of 243 amino acids, glycosylated, and can be found as an antiparallel dimer.²¹⁵⁻²¹⁸ Its secondary structure consists of repeating amphipathic α-helical domains, which help the apolipoprotein associate with lipids in aqueous blood.²¹⁷ These amphipathic helices in addition to non-helical residues provide apoA-I with flexibility and plasticity to self-associate with other elements of HDL, conferring its receptor binding ability and catalytic activity.¹⁸⁹ ApoA-I plays a multifunctional role in reverse cholesterol transport, cellular cholesterol homeostasis, inflammation, apoptosis, and viral and bacterial infection.¹⁸⁹ During reverse cholesterol transport, apoA-I interacts with various molecules like ABCA1, LCAT, and SR-B1 to initiate and progress the pathway.²¹⁹ As the first step of the pathway, free apoA-I binds directly to the extracellular domain of the ABCA1

dimer to accept lipids and form nascent pre-β-HDL.²¹⁹ ApoA-I is also essential for the maturation of nascent HDL through its activation of LCAT, which transfers the sn-2 acyl of phosphatidylcholine to cholesterol to form a cholesteryl ester.²¹⁹ When these cholesteryl esters move to the hydrophobic core of nascent HDL, they cause the nascent discoidal HDL to transform into spherical α -HDL.²¹⁹ As the last step of the reverse cholesterol transport pathway, apoA-I binds to SR-B1, the primary receptor for HDL, and acts as a bridge that connects SR-B1 and HDL, mediating the uptake of HDL-cholesteryl ester and regulating HDL-C plasma levels.²¹⁹ Aside from these reverse cholesterol transport roles of apoA-I, apoA-I can also exhibit anti-inflammatory activities, such as interfering with the T-cell signalling of monocytes, therefore inhibiting the production of the pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IL-1 β , and transferring lipopolysaccharide (LPS) from LPS-binding protein to HDL instead of CD14 on the surface of monocytes, thus inhibiting the activation of monocytes by LPS.¹⁸⁹ Conversely, oxidized and dysfunctional apoA-I has been shown to lose its ability to accept cholesterol and behaves as pro-inflammatory, initiating atherogenesis.^{189,213} ApoA-I also plays a role in apoptosis by decreasing survivin, which is an inhibitor of apoptosis and a promoter of the cell cycle that typically plays a role in the poor prognosis of melanoma.¹⁸⁹ Furthermore, apoA-I can serve antibacterial functions by conjugating with and neutralizing bacterial endotoxins, which are LPS residing in the outer membrane of gram-negative bacteria that can cause septic reactions, and lipoteichoic acid, which is a polymer found in the cell wall of gram-positive bacteria.^{189,220,221} Mice deficient in apoA-I can develop increased atherosclerosis, even in well maintained HDL-C levels.²²² This finding strengthens the importance of apoA-I as an anti-atherogenic particle that helps HDL-C against ASCVD.²²² Moore et al. further demonstrated that the absence of apoA-I impairs macrophage reverse cholesterol transport and HDL anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidant

functions, despite preserved levels of HDL-C.²²³ In humans, apoA-I deficiency, also known as familial hypoalphalipoproteinemia, is a rare lipoprotein metabolism disorder that has only been described in about 30 families.²²⁴ Biochemically, this condition is defined by the absence of apoA-I and very low HDL-C in the plasma, due to mutations in the *APOA1* gene.²²⁴ In this case, apoA-I and HDL-C, given that HDL-C is also almost completely absent in apoA-I deficiency, significant discordance is not possible. Clinically, the condition can manifest as corneal opacities which can cause vision loss, xanthomas which are localized accumulations of cholesterol-laden histiocytes, and premature CHD.²²⁴⁻²²⁷ Not only is apoA-I vital for HDL functioning and protection from atherosclerosis, but it continues to be investigated for its diverse functions that may play a role in cancer, infectious diseases, neurological diseases like Alzheimer's disease, and diabetes.^{189,228}

ApoA-II is the second most abundant HDL protein.²¹⁷ It is composed of 77 amino acids as a homodimer and has amphipathic α-helix domains like apoA-I.²¹⁷ ApoA-II is synthesized in the liver and the intestines, similar to apoA-I, and may be a monomer or homo/heterodimer through disulfide bonds with itself, apoD, or apoE.²¹⁷ Mainly, apoA-II serves a role in HDL remodelling, HDL structure stabilization, and cholesterol efflux.²⁰⁵ However, apoA-II is more poorly understood than apoA-I and findings are mixed regarding its cardioprotective functions.²⁰⁵ For instance, one study examining apoA-II knock-in rabbits produced positive results.²²⁹ Knock-in rabbits on a standard diet had low plasma triglycerides resulting from increased clearance of triglyceride-rich particles and lipoprotein lipase activity compared to control rabbits.²²⁹ Furthermore, knock-in rabbits on a cholesterol-rich diet were resistant to dietinduced hypertriglyceridemia, leading to fewer atherosclerotic lesions.²²⁹ Conversely, Schultz et al. used human apoA-II transgenic mice and discovered an increased susceptibility of atherosclerosis.²⁰⁹

ApoA-IV is a 46 kDa apolipoprotein secreted by enterocytes of the small intestine, and may be found on chylomicrons, HDL, or in free form in the plasma.²³⁰⁻²³² Though human studies on apoA-IV are limited, research from animal and in vitro studies suggest that apoA-IV activates chylomicron lipolysis, enhances reverse cholesterol transport, protects from LDL oxidation, helps glucose homeostasis, reduces inflammation, and inhibits platelet aggregation.²³⁰

ApoCs compose a family of apolipoproteins synthesized in the liver that range in size from 6-9 kDa.^{233,234} The smallest apoC, apoC-I, associates with HDL and VLDL and activates LCAT.^{197,233} ApoC-II is associated with HDL and VLDL and acts as a cofactor for lipoprotein lipase.¹⁹⁷ ApoC-III is the most abundant apoC, predominantly found in VLDL but also in some HDL, and inhibits lipoprotein lipase and hepatic lipase.^{197,233} HDL with apoC-III is recognized as dysfunctional and is associated with a higher risk of CHD.²³⁵

ApoD is a 20 kDa glycoprotein primarily associated with HDL₃.^{197,236} ApoD is part of the lipocalin family of small lipid transfer proteins.¹⁹⁷ This apolipoprotein is involved in LCAT regulation and functions against oxidative stress and inflammation.²³⁶

ApoE is a 34 kDa glycoprotein that is mainly synthesized in the liver and intestine.^{233,237} ApoE plays important roles in the regulation of cholesterol efflux and metabolism of apoB lipoproteins.²³⁸ Mainly, apoE appears to interact with LDL and VLDL receptors to promote lipoprotein clearance.²³⁸ ApoE and apoC-III have an antagonistic relationship whereby apoC-III hinders VLDL binding to its receptors, which shifts VLDL metabolism away from clearance and toward its conversion to LDL.²³⁹ The cardioprotective effects of apoE are diminished by the copresence of apoC-III on HDL.²³⁵

ApoF is a 29 kDa sialoglycoprotein mostly found in large HDL particles, but it also binds to LDL.^{240,241} ApoF overexpression has been shown to increase the rate of HDL-C clearance from the circulation.²⁴¹

ApoH is a 43-50 kDa glycoprotein expressed by the liver that may play a role in inhibiting blood coagulation by binding to phospholipids on damaged cells.^{197,242} ApoH can be found on HDL, chylomicrons, VLDL, and LDL.²⁴³

ApoJ is a 70 kDa glycoprotein that may be found unbound or on HDL.^{244,245} Although apoJ is not well understood, decreased levels of apoJ are found in CHD and the protein may promote cholesterol efflux from foam cells.²⁴⁴

ApoL-I is a 39-42 kDa protein found in HDL₃ with paraoxonase-1 (PON-1) and apoF, and is only present in humans and a few primate species.^{246,247} Its specific protein domains suggest potential roles in ion transport and apoptosis.²⁴⁷ However, apoL-I on HDL is most notably responsible for inhibiting infections by parasites like tryposomes and Leishmania.^{248,249}

ApoM is a 26 kDa lipocalin, like apoD, that is only found in about 5% of HDL particles.^{250,251} HDL that contains apoM enhances cholesterol efflux, protects endothelial cells from apoptosis, and decreases TNF- α release from macrophages by neutralizing LPS.^{250,252}

ApoO associated with HDL is a 55 kDa glycoprotein.²⁵³ The physiological function of apoO is not well understood as it serves as a cholesterol acceptor in vitro, like apoA-I, but its overexpression in transgenic mice does not affect cholesterol transport.²⁵³

Enzymes

HDL enzymes play important roles for many of HDL's activities, including protection against LDL oxidation and facilitating reverse cholesterol transport. PON-1, LCAT, and plateletactivating factor acetylhydrolase (PAFAH) are key examples of HDL enzymes with anti-oxidant properties.²¹³ PON-1 is a 43 kDa calcium-dependent glycoprotein that hydrolyzes biologically active lipid peroxides to prevent LDL oxidation, counteracting the development of atherosclerosis.^{254,255} Most of this important PON-1 activity can be found in small HDL₃.²⁵⁵ Similarly, PAFAH, a 45 kDa hydrophobic serine lipase, also protects LDL from oxidation.^{256,257} PAFAH degrades platelet-activating factor (PAF), which is normally produced during LDL oxidation, leading to endothelial dysfunction, and promotes the release of reactive oxygen species, leading to additional LDL oxidation.^{258,259} By hydrolyzing the sn-2 ester bond of PAF, PAFAH degrades PAF into its inactive form, lyso-PAF.^{258,259} As introduced in section 2.3.1, LCAT converts free cholesterol to cholesteryl esters to prevent the backwards transfer of free cholesterol on HDL to macrophages during reverse cholesterol transport.^{6,256,258} LCAT is a 67 kDa secretory protein with two catalytic activities to esterify cholesterol: (1) its phospholipase A2 activity cleaves fatty acids from the sn-2 position of phosphatidylcholine, among other phospholipids, and (2) its transesterification activity moves the newly cleaved fatty acid to the hydroxyl group present on the A-ring of cholesterol.²⁶⁰ These activities require apoA-I as a cofactor.²⁶⁰ Not only does LCAT prevent the backwards exchange of cholesterol from HDL to macrophages, but its formation of cholesteryl esters transforms small, discoidal pre-B-HDL into larger, spherical α -HDL.²⁶⁰ HDL's increase in size stabilizes the lipoprotein, preventing its removal via renal clearance.²⁶⁰ Modifications to HDL enzymes can impair the cardioprotective functions of HDL.²¹³ In fact, HDL dysfunctionality, in which HDL can no longer prevent

atherosclerosis, is commonly measured by the loss of anti-inflammatory and anti-oxidative function.²⁵⁵

Lipid Transfer Proteins

HDL is primarily associated with two types of lipid transfer proteins, CETP and phospholipid transfer protein (PLTP). CETP is a 74 kDa glycoprotein that mediates the transfer of cholesteryl esters from HDL to LDL and triglyceride-rich lipoproteins like VLDL, in addition to the transfer of triglycerides from triglyceride-rich lipoproteins to HDL and LDL.^{6,261,262} The tunnel hypothesis describes a ternary complex with a tunnel for transfer whereby the N-terminal domain of CETP penetrates the core of HDL and the C-terminal domain binds to LDL or VLDL.¹⁹⁸ Alternatively, the shuttle hypothesis describes the potential for HDL to act as a shuttle that transfers triglycerides between LDLs and VLDLs.¹⁹⁸ Overall, CETP activity results in a decrease in HDL-C, which may increase CVD risk.²⁶¹ Similar to CETP, PLTP activity is a CVD risk factor, and it is highly expressed in atherosclerotic lesions.²⁶³ PLTP is an 80 kDa glycoprotein with hydrophobic pockets that bind acyl chains of phospholipids.^{198,264} PLTP has a high affinity for binding triglyceride-rich HDLs, transferring phospholipids between HDL particles and promoting their fusion to create larger HDLs during HDL remodelling.¹⁹⁸ PLTP also transfers excess phospholipids from VLDL to HDL.¹⁹⁸ Ultimately, PLTP plays a role in reverse cholesterol transport by helping to generate and mature HDL particles, and may potentially promote ABCA1-mediated cholesterol efflux.¹⁹⁸

Complement System Proteins

The complement system consists of about 40 serum proteins, with enzymatic, receptor, or regulatory functions, that work with the innate and adaptive immune systems to eliminate

pathogens and protect from infection.²⁶⁵ The complement system even helps mediate tissue damage from acute myocardial infarction.²¹³ Many important complement factors associate with HDL, such as complement component 3 (C3), complement component 4 (C4), complement component 9 (C9), and vitronectin.²¹³ C3, a 190 kDa glycoprotein, is essential for the activation of the complement system.^{197,266} C3 has an inverse relationship with large HDL particles and a positive relationship with small HDL particles.²⁶⁷ Interestingly, HDL from CAD patients appear to be enriched in C3 and C4, a 200 kDa glycoprotein that is important for the activation of the classical pathway of the complement system.^{197,268,269} Furthermore, C9 is a 70 kDa glycoprotein associated with apoA-I and apoA-II.^{270,271} The increased binding affinity of apoA-I and apoA-II to endothelial cells treated with the complex C5b-9 depends on the presence of polymeric C9.^{270,271} In addition to complement components, vitronectin is a 65-75 kDa polypeptide that can also associate with HDL and serves a role in complement system regulation.^{197,272} Vitronectin is an extracellular matrix protein, thus some HDL components may be derived from noncellular sources or cells other than those in the liver and intestine that form apoA-I.²¹³

Protease Inhibitors

Plaque rupture may be influenced by the proteolysis of structural proteins in atherosclerotic lesions.²¹³ Therefore, protease inhibitors in HDL may play a key role in protecting against CAD.²¹³ HDL is enriched with protease inhibitors, mainly serine protease inhibitors, which inhibit proteases with diverse roles in inflammation, hemostasis, and the complement system.^{270,273} HDL may potentially serve as a shuttle to transport serine protease inhibitors into parts of the vasculature that they are unable to reach.²⁷⁴ For instance, HDL may be able to transport alpha-1-antitrypsin, a serine protease inhibitor, to areas of inflammation across the endothelium so that it can prevent damage of extracellular matrix by proteases such as elastase.²⁷⁴ Normally, this destruction of extracellular matrix can lead to atherosclerotic plaque rupture.²⁷⁴

2.3.3 Mechanism of Reverse Cholesterol Transport

The accumulation of cholesterol in peripheral cells via the uptake of apoB particles and de novo cholesterol synthesis is an important step in atherosclerosis development.^{2,3,7} However, most cells, other than those capable of synthesizing steroid hormones from cholesterol, do not have processes for catabolizing cholesterol.⁷ Therefore, reverse cholesterol transport plays a key role in combatting atherosclerosis by reducing the cholesterol content within cells.⁷

The reverse cholesterol transport pathway begins with the formation of HDL, the main lipoprotein involved (Figure 1).²⁰⁰ ApoA-I secreted into the bloodstream by the liver or intestine interacts with ABCA1 in various cell types, like hepatocytes and macrophages, which facilitates the movement of free cholesterol and phospholipids from peripheral tissues to apoA-I and forms nascent (or pre- β) HDL that continues to accumulate cholesterol and phospholipids.^{196,200} LCAT ensures that there is no backwards transfer of cholesterol by turning free cholesterol into cholesteryl ester.¹⁹⁶ Cholesteryl esters penetrate the phospholipid monolayer of HDL to accumulate in the hydrophobic core, which transforms the discoidal-shaped HDL into spherical HDL, the main form of HDL in the plasma that is ready for transport.^{196,275}

Cholesterol efflux from foam cells in atherosclerotic plaques to HDL can occur through three different mechanisms.^{275,276} First, ABCA1 integrated in the membrane can mediate the ATP-dependent unidirectional transfer of cholesterol from foam cells to apoA-I found on HDL.^{275,276} As described above, this mechanism is essential for the formation of pre-β-HDL. LCAT can then catalyze the transformation of cholesterol to cholesteryl ester.^{275,276} The specific method of interaction between ABCA1 and apoA-I is still to be determined.²⁷⁶ However, several methods have been proposed, such as direct apoA-I binding to extracellular ABCA1 loop domains, apoA-I binding to protrusions caused by ABCA1 floppase activity, and apoA-I binding to a phosphatidylserine that was translocated outward by ABCA1 floppase activity.²⁷⁶ The second mechanism of cholesterol efflux involves the ATP-dependent unidirectional transfer of cholesterol from foam cells to HDL via ABCG1, a 644-785 amino acid transporter that requires homo/heterodimerization to function.²⁷⁶ Following this cholesterol transfer, LCAT can transform cholesterol into cholesteryl ester.²⁷⁶ The exact transport mechanism of ABCG1 in transferring cholesterol to HDL is still under investigation.²⁷⁷ However, a recent study by Xu et al. used cryoelectron microscopy to observe human ABCG1 in complex with cholesterol and sphingomyelin, suggesting that sphingomyelin may be important for ABCG1-mediated cholesterol efflux.²⁷⁷ Specifically, they found a cholesterol-binding cavity formed by a cluster of conserved hydrophobic residues and two sphingomyelins, which was closed by three pairs of conserved phenylalanine residues.²⁷⁷ This structure creates a hydrophobic path for cholesterol release.²⁷⁷ A third mechanism of cholesterol efflux is the bidirectional passive diffusion of cholesterol via SR-B1 and HDL interaction.²⁷⁵ When HDL binds to SR-B1 found on the cell surface, free cholesterol can be transferred from cells to HDL, or cholesteryl esters from HDL can be selectively taken up by the cell.²⁷⁸ This process does not internalize the HDL particle.^{278,279}

The efficiency of cholesterol efflux can be mediated by various mechanisms, such as increased apoA-I levels and increased ABCA1 and ABCG1 expression at the plasma membrane.²⁷⁶ The production and release of apoA-I by the liver and intestine are transcriptionally and post-transcriptionally regulated by various hormones and second

46

messengers like retinoids, insulin, thyroid hormone, and sex hormones.²⁸⁰ For example, insulin has been shown to increase apoA-I gene expression, whereas glucose inhibits expression.^{281,282} ABCA1 and ABCG1 transcription can be regulated by liver X receptor (LXR), retinoid X receptor (RXR), and peroxisome proliferator-activated receptors (PPARs).²⁷⁶ LXRs are cellular cholesterol sensors that are activated by the accumulation of cholesterol's oxidized derivatives oxysterols.²⁷⁶ Once activated, LXR forms a heterodimer with RXR. This LXR/RXR complex binds to the LXR response element and initiates transcription of various target genes, including ABCA1 and ABCG1.²⁷⁶ Similarly, PPARs form heterodimers with RXR once they become activated by fatty acid metabolites.²⁷⁶ This PPAR/RXR complex binds to isotope-specific peroxisome proliferator response elements in target genes, such as apoA-1 and LXR.²⁷⁶ Therefore, PPARs can increase apoA-I transcription as well as ABCA1 and ABCG1 expression via increased LXR transcription.²⁷⁶

Once cholesterol is loaded onto HDL through cholesterol efflux, HDL travels through the bloodstream to the liver.²⁷⁵ SR-B1 on the cell surface of hepatocytes selectively takes up cholesteryl ester from HDL, as described earlier.²⁷⁵ Cholesteryl esters can also be transferred from HDL to apoB lipoprotein particles by CETP.²⁷⁵ The LDL receptor can then take up these transferred cholesteryl esters.²⁷⁵ HDL containing apoE may also be recognized by the LDL receptor for cholesteryl ester uptake.²⁷⁵

Finally, cholesterol in the hepatocytes will either be transferred to bile for intestinal excretion or used to maintain the lipid membrane.^{6,275} ABCB11, an ATP bile salt export pump, pumps bile salts out of the cell where they may interact with the extracellular canalicular membrane, which contains ABCB4 and heterodimers of ABCG5 and ABCG8.²⁷⁵ These ATP-dependent canalicular membrane transporters facilitate biliary excretion of cholesterol and

47

phospholipids.²⁷⁵ A micelle is then formed from the interaction of bile salts, cholesterol, and phospholipids.²⁷⁵ This micelle has a hydrophobic core covered by hydrophilic head groups to facilitate its transport through the digestive system.²⁷⁵

Figure 1. Visual Depiction of the Reverse Cholesterol Transport Pathway. Reverse cholesterol transport begins with the formation of discoidal HDL via the association of apoA-I from the liver with cholesterol and phospholipids from peripheral cells, with the help of ABCA1. LCAT converts free cholesterol on discoidal HDL to cholesteryl esters, which penetrate into the core of the HDL particle, forming a spherically shaped HDL. HDL can facilitate cholesterol efflux via three different mechanisms: 1) unidirectional transfer of cholesterol from foam cells to apoA-I on HDL via ABCA1; 2) unidirectional transfer of cholesterol from foam cells to HDL via ABCG1; 3) bidirectional passive diffusion of cholesterol via SR-B1 and HDL interaction. Eventually, the cholesterol loaded onto HDL is transported to hepatocytes where it can interact with bile salts and phospholipids to form a micelle that travels through the digestive system to be excreted.



2.3.4 Other roles of High-Density Lipoprotein

Although HDL is primarily known for its vital role in reverse cholesterol transport, it can also play a pivotal role in inflammation, oxidation, thrombosis, reproduction, and bacterial, viral, and parasitic infections.¹⁷⁸

Inflammation

HDL plays several roles in inflammation, which are mainly anti-inflammatory.²⁸³ HDL is capable of promoting the expression and activation of activating transcription factor 3 (ATF3).²⁸³

ATF3 is a transcriptional modulator that negatively feeds back onto Toll-like receptor signalling, which normally promotes the expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines from macrophages.²⁸³ Furthermore, HDL inhibits cytokine-induced expression of the endothelial cell adhesion molecules E-selectin, ICAM-1, and VCAM-1.^{190,252,284} HDL can also reduce CD11b expression, a monocyte-adhesion molecule, and MCP-1, a chemokine that recruits monocytes into the subendothelial space.^{190,252,285,286} These anti-inflammatory roles of HDL can be cardioprotective as monocyte attachment to the vessel wall and transmigration into the subendothelial space are important steps in foam cell formation and atherosclerosis development.¹⁴⁸ Furthermore, HDL inhibits the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines TNF- α and IL-6.²⁵² Specifically, apoM in the HDL proteome can bind and neutralize LPS, which decreases TNF- α release from macrophages.²⁵² Smaller HDLs have a higher apoM content, which may influence their greater potential to inhibit adhesion molecule expression.²⁵² ApoE may also confer anti-inflammatory activity to HDL as HDLs containing apoE have been shown to promote the survival of anti-inflammatory regulatory T lymphocytes.²⁵²

However, HDL may switch from anti-inflammatory to pro-inflammatory in patients with autoimmune diseases.²⁸³ Primarily, apoA-I in HDL is displaced by serum amyloid A (SAA), and PON-1 activity is reduced.²⁸³ Oxidation of HDL can also cause HDL to exhibit pro-inflammatory activity.^{283,287} In this case, oxidized HDL can induce the upregulation of platelet-derived growth factor receptor β , which increases monocyte chemotaxis and TNF- α release.²⁸³

Oxidation

Oxidative stress plays an important role in the pathophysiology of several diseases, including atherosclerosis, diabetes, and Alzheimer's disease.^{252,288} This stress can induce endothelial dysfunction, pro-inflammatory pathways in the vascular wall, and lipoprotein

modifications.²⁵² HDL possesses many anti-oxidant functions to counteract the development of disease.²⁵² Mainly, HDL can protect LDL from oxidation by free radicals and copper ions.²⁵² Normally, oxidized LDLs promote inflammation and oxidative stress in blood vessels by promoting monocyte recruitment, pro-inflammatory cytokine release, reactive oxygen species formation, and the disruption of endothelial cell homeostasis and nitric oxide production.²⁵² The anti-oxidant role of HDL may involve removing or neutralizing lipid hydroperoxides that oxidize LDL through the specific action of apoA-L^{252,286} The methionine residues at positions 112 and 148 of apoA-I can convert lipid hydroperoxides into redox-inactive lipid hydroperoxides. HDL also carries enzymes, such as PON-1 and paraoxonase-3, that destroy lipid hydroperoxides.^{252,286} PON-1 induces lipid peroxide breakdown into carboxylic acids, instead of aldehydes or ketones, which prevents oxidized LDL uptake by macrophages and smooth muscle cells.²⁵² CETP has also been found to enhance the ability of HDL to inhibit LDL oxidation, possibly through promoting the transfer of lipid peroxides to HDL.²⁵² Interestingly, HDL size appears to be negatively correlated to HDL's effectiveness in protecting LDL from oxidation.²⁵²

Thrombosis

Thrombosis, a blood clot formed in blood vessels limiting blood flow, often underlies ischemic heart disease, ischemic stroke, and venous thromboembolisms.^{289,290} HDL exhibits many anti-thrombotic properties, mainly promoting blood flow, reducing thrombin production, and attenuating endothelial and platelet activation.²⁸⁹ For instance, HDL promotes blood flow by increasing the production of nitric oxide and prostacyclin, which stimulates vasodilation and inhibits platelet aggregation.^{289,291} Platelet activation can also be inhibited by HDL's downregulation of the release of PAF and production of thromboxane A2, a platelet aggregation factor and vasoconstrictor.^{289,292} Similarly, HDL can induce the production of nitric oxide and

inhibit the apoptosis of endothelial cells, formation of microparticles, and expression of tissue factor, P-selectin, and E-selectin to ultimately attenuate endothelial activation.²⁸⁹ HDL can also reduce thrombin production, a procoagulant and platelet adhesion factor, by enhancing activated protein C and protein S activity within the anticoagulant protein C pathway.^{289,293} HDL sphingolipids, such as glucosylceramide and glycosphingolipids, can also act as cofactors for activated protein C.²⁸⁹ Moreover, HDL is important for platelet count and morphology.²⁹⁴ Specifically, mice deficient in SR-B1 exhibit low platelet count and large, abnormally shaped platelets due to an increased content of unesterified cholesterol.²⁹⁴

Reproduction

Although the role of HDL is traditionally seen in the context of ASCVD defense, researchers have also associated HDL to reproduction. In many mammalian species, such as mice and humans, HDL is the only lipoprotein class that is substantially found in follicular fluid, the proper environment for oocyte development.^{295,296} HDL appears to execute multiple roles in female fertility.²⁹⁵ For instance, after ovulation, HDL-C in the follicular fluid is taken up by SR-B1 to support progesterone synthesis by luteal cells, a hormone that prepares the endometrium for fertilized egg implantation in the uterus.^{295,297} This role of HDL metabolism in female fertility has been demonstrated by SR-B1 knockout mice.²⁹⁵ Knockout mice have abnormally structured HDL that are large, cholesterol-rich, and high in apoA-I, apoE, phospholipids, and unesterified cholesterol.²⁹⁵ Compared to normal mouse HDL, SR-B1 knockout mouse HDL was dysfunctional and displayed defective cholesterol transport ability.²⁹⁵ These female SR-B1 knockout mice were infertile, whereas males with the same knockout were not.²⁹⁵ To strengthen this association, fertility was restored in SR-B1 knockout mice by giving probucol, a cholesterollowering drug, or inactivating the apoA-1 gene, which normalizes HDL-C content.²⁹⁵ Another key protein in reverse cholesterol transport, ABCA1, may be important for female fertility.²⁹⁸ ABCA1 knockout females have significantly decreased TC, HDL lacking cholesterol, abnormal phospholipid composition, reduced fertility, lower pregnancy rates, and smaller litter sizes.²⁹⁸ Moreover, oxidative stress negatively affects reproductive fitness, as seen in females with polycystic ovarian syndrome and endometriosis.²⁹⁶ Interestingly, researchers have demonstrated an association between higher follicular fluid HDL anti-oxidative capacity and reduced odds of the oocyte being properly fertilized.²⁹⁶ This may be due to the potentially harmful effects of both extremely low and extremely high levels of oxidative stress for oocyte maturation and embryo quality.²⁹⁶ One study has suggested that a certain amount of oxidative stress might be needed for normal reproduction, which again highlights HDL's potential role in fertility.²⁹⁹

HDL also plays a role in male fertility.³⁰⁰ HDL was found to be the primary source of cholesterol used by Sertoli cells, which maintain cholesterol homeostasis via reverse cholesterol transport, in rodents.³⁰⁰ In fact, ABCA1 is expressed highly in the testis and Sertoli cells in the seminiferous tubules.³⁰⁰ ABCA1 knockout mice accumulated lipid in their Sertoli cells and had decreased intra-testicular testosterone levels and sperm counts, diminishing their fertility.³⁰⁰

Infection

HDL plays a multifunctional role against infectious diseases, including bacterial, viral, and parasitic infections. Regarding bacterial infections, HDL has the ability to neutralize gramnegative bacterial LPS and gram-positive bacterial lipoteichoic acid through apoA-I activity.^{189,248} HDL also promotes the uptake, and thus clearance, of LPS via SR-B1.²⁴⁸ Normally, LPS and lipoteichoic acid can induce cytotoxic actions that lead to sepsis and possibly death.²⁴⁸ Low levels of HDL-C are inversely related to the severity of septic disease and related to exaggerated systemic inflammation.²⁴⁸ HDL is also effective in protecting against leprosy, caused by *Mycobacterium leprae*, a bacterium dependent on host metabolic pathways, which includes host-derived oxidized phospholipids.²⁴⁸ The addition of normal HDL, which can scavenge oxidized phospholipids, has been shown to reverse the inhibition of innate immune responses by mycobacterial infection.²⁴⁸

HDL can play both beneficial and detrimental roles in the context of viral infections. For instance, HDL can remove cholesterol from lipid rafts, in which the ACE2 receptor, the receptor for SARS-CoV-2, is localized.³⁰¹ This reduction in cholesterol may induce a change in configuration of ACE2 in the lipid raft, decreasing SARS-CoV-2 entry and the severity of the infection. On the other hand, the main HDL receptor, SR-B1, can facilitate viral entry by binding to the S1 subunit of the SARS-CoV-2 spike protein.³⁰¹ Similarly, SR-B1 plays a pivotal role in the entry of hepatitis B virus, hepatis C virus, dengue virus, and Zika virus. Researchers have demonstrated the effective use of anti-SR-B1 antibodies to block some of these infections.^{302,303}

HDL also serves an important role during parasitic infections. Mainly, apoL-I found on HDL can traffic to the lysosome of trypanosomes, dangerous blood parasites, where acidic pH leads to conformational change, activating anion channels in the N-terminus of apoL-I and resulting in lysosomal swelling and killing of the trypanosome.²⁴⁸ ApoL-I and haptoglobinrelated protein, a plasma protein associated with HDLs that contain apoL-I, can also inhibit infection by Leishmania, another parasite.^{249,304}

2.3.5 High-Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol versus Apolipoprotein A-I

The link between LDL-C and ASCVD risk has been strengthened by numerous epidemiological studies, Mendelian randomization studies, randomized clinical trials with LDL-

C lowering drugs, observations from familial hypercholesterolemia, and experimental studies, such as those inducing LDL receptor knockouts.³⁰⁵⁻³²⁴ LDL-C has thus traditionally served as the main indicator of CVD risk attributable to apoB lipoprotein particles.⁹ More recently, evidence, including epidemiological studies, randomized clinical trials, and discordance analyses, has grown remarkably in favor of apoB as a more accurate marker of ASCVD risk than LDL-C and non-HDL-C.^{14,15,164-171} In fact, multiple discordance analyses have demonstrated that apoB is a more accurate marker of cardiovascular risk than LDL-C or non-HDL-C, the most detailed study being an analysis of UK Biobank that confirmed apoB is a more accurate marker of cardiovascular risk overall than non-HDL-C.³²⁵

Epidemiological studies have also strengthened the association between HDL-C and ASCVD, leading to the notion of HDL-C as "good cholesterol".^{173,326-328} Furthermore, in vivo experimental studies demonstrate the association between high HDL and apoA-I levels with protection against atherosclerotic lesion development.^{329,330} Despite an extensive focus on HDL-C as a marker for atherosclerosis, apoA-I has not been as thoroughly considered. Similar to the relationship between apoB and non-HDL-C, apoA-I acts as the primary structural component of HDL-C and the two are highly correlated.⁷ As described, the acceptance of apoB as a better marker for ASCVD risk than non-HDL-C is growing. However, comparisons between apoA-I and HDL-C are limited and lack a clear consensus. The current literature includes both sides of the matter. The INTERHEART Study analyzed 21,465 participants with logistic regression and found that apoA-I was associated with a 33% decrease in myocardial infarction risk whereas HDL-C was associated with a 15% decrease in risk.¹⁴ On the same side of the argument, the AMORIS Study analyzed 175,553 participants with Cox proportional hazards regression.¹⁵ They also found that apoA-I was a stronger predictor of myocardial infarction risk than TC or

triglycerides.¹⁵ Conversely, Benoit Lamarche and colleagues analyzed 2,155 males with Cox proportional hazards regression and found that although apoA-I was associated with a decreased risk of ischemic heart disease, it was not statistically significant.¹⁸ The same study revealed that HDL-C was associated with a greater decrease in ischemic heart disease risk than apoA-I, which was statistically significant.¹⁸ Similarly, Erik Ingelsson and colleagues analyzed 3,322 participants from the Framingham Heart Study with Cox proportional hazards regression and found that apoA-I was not significantly associated with CHD risk while HDL-C was associated with reduced risk.¹⁹ Other researchers have shown that both apoA-I and HDL-C are similar predictors of ASCVD that add minimal value to each other.²⁰

Although multiple discordance analyses have shown that apoB is a better marker of ASCVD risk than non-HDL-C, a discordance analysis of HDL-C and apoA-I has not been carried out. This gap in the literature led to the rationale of the first two aims of the present study: 1) to categorize the relation of HDL-C and apoA-I to ASCVD risk; 2) to compare the relative strengths of HDL-C and apoA-I to ASCVD risk using residual discordance analysis.

2.4 Current Treatments of Atherosclerosis

Promoting a healthy lifestyle throughout life is the key to preventing ASCVD.³³¹ Current recommendations underscore the importance of controlling body weight, alcohol intake, smoking, and diet.¹⁶³ Weight loss (≥5% change from baseline BMI) is associated with cardiovascular event risk reduction.^{332,333} Alcohol intake has been shown to have a J- or U-shaped association with CVD risk, representing a reduced risk of CVD with light to moderate alcohol consumption compared to no alcohol or heavy alcohol intake.³³⁴⁻³³⁶ Studies have also

demonstrated reductions in CVD risk in those who stopped smoking.³³⁷⁻³⁴¹ One study examining the Framingham Heart Study cohort revealed that smoking cessation was related to a substantial decline in CVD risk within 5 years of cessation (hazard ratio (HR)= 0.61).³³⁷ Regarding a healthy diet, the ACC/AHA Nutrition and Diet Recommendations for Prevention of ASCVD promotes the intake of vegetables, fruits, legumes, nuts, whole grains, and fish, as well as a lower intake of sodium, cholesterol, processed meats, refined carbohydrates, and trans fats to minimize ASCVD risk.³⁴² However, adopting a healthy lifestyle is not always enough and many individuals may require medicinal treatments, which focus on lowering LDL, triglycerides, or Lp(a) and increasing levels of HDL.¹⁶³

Atherosclerosis was first characterized by high levels of LDL-C, making statins, a lipidlowering therapy, an important line of defense against the condition.^{6,343} Investigations into statins began in 1959 with triparanol, an inhibitor of cholesterol synthesis, and overcame many challenges to finally achieve FDA approval of lovastatin in 1987.³⁴⁴ The active form of lovastatin, metabolized in the stomach, inhibits HMG-CoA reductase, an essential enzyme in the rate-limiting step of cholesterol synthesis.³⁴⁵ In addition to lowering cholesterol levels by directly inhibiting its synthesis, HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors like lovastatin can reduce highsensitivity C-reactive protein levels, help endothelial function, decrease inflammation at plaque sites, limit platelet aggregation, and inhibit coagulation.^{345,348} Lovastatin has been FDAapproved to prevent and treat CHD, hypercholesterolemia, and adolescents with heterozygous familial hypercholesterolemia.³⁴⁵ One clinical trial reports that lovastatin decreased the incidence of coronary events, myocardial infarction, unstable angina, and cardiovascular events in participants.³¹⁰ By 2010, simvastatin, pravastatin, fluvastatin, atorvastatin, rosuvastatin, and pitavastatin were available on the market.³⁴⁴ These statins serve as HMG-CoA reductase inhibitors like lovastatin, reducing the biosynthesis of cholesterol.³⁴⁹⁻³⁵⁴ The type of statin used for each patient generally depends on their 10-year ASCVD risk estimation determined by the PCE, recommended by the 2018 Multi-Society Cholesterol Management Guidelines and the 2019 ACC/AHA Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease Guideline.^{146,355} Such guidelines recommend high-intensity statin treatment for patients with the highest ASCVD risk.³⁵⁵ In the ACC/AHA guidelines, statins are categorized into high-intensity statins (rosuvastatin 20 mg or 40 mg, and atorvastatin 10 mg or 20 mg, pravastatin 40 mg or 80 mg, lovastatin 40 mg or 80 mg, fluvastatin XL 80 mg, fluvastatin 40 mg BID, and pitavastatin 1-4 mg) which reduce LDL-C by 30 to 49%, and low-intensity statins (simvastatin 10 mg, pravastatin 10 mg or 20 mg, lovastatin 20 mg or 40 mg, and fluvastatin 20 mg or 40 mg) which reduce LDL-C by less than 30%.³⁴³

Newer non-statin lipid-lowering treatments have emerged, such as ezetimibe and PCSK9 inhibitors.³⁵⁶ Ezetimibe is the most common non-statin lipid-lowering drug and acts by targeting the NPC1L1 transporter in the jejunal brush border in the intestine.³⁵⁶ This reduces cholesterol absorption by 50% and less cholesterol travels to the liver.³⁵⁶ LDL receptor expression is increased as a result, decreasing LDL-C levels in the plasma by about 20%.³⁵⁶ Ezetimibe may be added on top of statin therapy in very high ASCVD risk patients where the LDL-C level remains \geq 70 mg/dL.^{144,357} If the LDL-C level remains \geq 70 mg/dL even after statin and ezetimibe therapy, a PCSK9 inhibitor may be used.³⁵⁷ PCSK9 is a serine protease that signals LDL receptors for lysosomal degradation, resulting in less LDL receptors available on hepatocytes and, therefore,

less clearance of LDL particles.³⁵⁶ PCSK9 inhibitors, such as alirocumab and evolocumab, inhibit LDL receptor degradation and lead to lower LDL-C levels.³⁵⁶

HDL-C-increasing drugs have also been explored. Niacin, also known as nicotinic acid or vitamin B3, is the most potent HDL-C-elevating drug used in the clinic.³⁵⁸ Clinical studies over the years have revealed the beneficial effects of niacin alone and in combination with other drugs. Niacin treatment on its own has been linked to a 27% decrease in nonfatal myocardial infarction, whereas niacin treatment in combination with colestipol or simvastatin decreased cardiovascular events by up to 90%.³⁵⁹⁻³⁶² Niacin can also decrease triglyceride and LDL-C levels in addition to increasing HDL-C.³⁵⁸ Several studies have proposed mechanisms of action of niacin to increase HDL-C. Jin et al. found that niacin selectively inhibited the uptake of HDLapoA-I, but not HDL cholesterol esters, thus increasing apoA-I-containing HDL particles, in a human hepatocyte model system.³⁶³ Specifically, Zhang et al. demonstrated the downregulation of β -chain adenosine triphosphate synthase expression, associated with mediating hepatic HDL holoparticle endocytosis, resulting in decreased hepatic removal of HDL.³⁶⁴ Therefore, niacin's mechanism of action may involve HDL holoparticle catabolism receptors, rather than SR-B1 which is selective to HDL cholesterol esters.³⁶⁵ Niacin also appears to favor LpA-I over LpA-I: A-II as it has been shown to significantly inhibit the uptake of LpA-I particles by human hepatocytes, while having no significant effect on LpA-I:A-II uptake.³⁶⁶ This inhibition may increase LpA-I particles in the circulation and enhance reverse cholesterol transport, as LpA-I is believed to be more efficient than LpA-I:A-II at delivering cholesterol esters.³⁶⁶ Furthermore, niacin decreases CETP gene expression and hepatic VLDL output which decreases the exchange of triglycerides in VLDL with cholesteryl esters in HDL via CETP.³⁶⁷ This increases HDL-C by turning HDL into HDL2, the more cholesterol-rich form.³⁶⁷ Niacin may also promote ABCA1,

stimulating cholesterol efflux from macrophages to HDL.³⁶⁷ Although niacin appears to be a promising drug for elevating HDL-C levels and protecting against CVD, some randomized clinical trials have failed to demonstrate that niacin can reduce CVD incidence.^{368,369} The reason why research regarding niacin has produced mixed results may be due to a change in the HDL proteome associated with niacin administration.³⁷⁰ Gordon et al. found that niacin administration was associated with a decrease in apoJ, apoL-I, and apoA-II, as well as an increase in SAA and angiotensinogen.³⁷⁰ Importantly, SAA is able to displace apolipoproteins from HDL, making dysfunctional HDL with damaged cholesterol efflux and reverse cholesterol transport.³⁷⁰

CETP inhibitors were thought to provide another avenue for cardioprotection via HDL-C elevation.³⁷¹ By decreasing the rate of cholesteryl ester transfer from HDL to triglyceride-rich lipoproteins, CETP inhibitors increase HDL-C and decrease non-HDL-C.³⁷¹ Though the REVEAL study with 30,449 ASCVD participants showed a significant decrease in coronary death, myocardial infarction, and coronary revascularization with administration of the CETP inhibitor anacetrapib, other CETP inhibitors that significantly increase HDL-C levels, such as torcetrapib and dalcetrapib, did not reduce CVD risk in clinical trials.^{372,373} A study by Furtado et al. revealed that treatment with evacetrapib and torcetrapib elevated total apoA-I concentration.²³⁵ Mainly, apoA-I concentration in HDL that contains apoC-III, a dysfunctional HDL subclass, was elevated the most of all subclasses.²³⁵ Elevating HDL-C should not be about elevating total HDL-C, but researchers must consider whether the HDL is functional.²³⁵ These CETP inhibitors were also able to increase apoA-I in HDL with cardioprotective apoE.²³⁵

As apoA-I is recognized as the major protein conferring HDL's beneficial effects, apoA-I mimetic peptides have been investigated for the development of potential CVD treatments. Most

of these apoA-I mimetic peptides are composed of amphipathic helices with no primary amino acid homology to apoA-I.³⁷⁴ The mechanism of action for anti-atherogenic and antiinflammatory apoA-I mimetic peptides involves binding non-oxidized lipids, associating closely to their head group rather than their lipid acyl chain, and activating LCAT.³⁷⁵ Researchers have suggested that the association of apoA-I mimetic peptides to lipid head groups creates a microenvironment that favours the sequestration of pro-inflammatory lipids.³⁷⁵ 4F peptides are the most studied of the apoA-I mimetic peptides.³⁷⁵ In vitro, 4F has been found to increase the generation of pre-β-HDL with enhanced PON-1 activity, enhance cholesterol efflux, and decrease the oxidation of lipoproteins.^{375,376} 4F also associates with HDL to recruit phospholipids and apoA-I into the HDL particle, which form LpA-I particles that are good anchors for PON-1, inhibit LPS-induced inflammation, and enhance endothelial function.³⁷⁶ Though there are no apoA-I mimetic peptides being used in the clinic, 4F has been tested in two phase 2 clinical studies.³⁷⁴ In the first, 36 men and 14 postmenopausal women with CHD or CHD equivalent conditions were randomized into groups receiving one oral dose of D-4F (4F made with D-amino acids) at 30, 100, 300, or 500 mg or placebo.³⁷⁷ These single doses were well tolerated, absorbed rapidly, and doses of 300 or 500 mg improved the HDL inflammatory index, a measure of HDL's ability to modify inflammatory responses promoted by LDL.³⁷⁷ The second study merged two trials, one with participants with CHD or CHD equivalents receiving daily L-4F (4F made with L-amino acids) intravenously for seven days, and the other receiving L-4F subcutaneously for 28 days.³⁷⁸ Though doses were tolerated, there were no improvements in HDL inflammatory index or PON-1 levels.³⁷⁸ Furthermore, one apoA-I therapy named CSL-112 was recently tested in a phase 3 trial, AEGIS-II.³⁷⁹ CSL-112 is an apoA-I derived from the plasma that has been remodeled into disk-shaped lipoproteins with phosphatidylcholine and stabilized with sucrose.³⁸⁰

In the trial, 18,219 participants were split into either an experimental group receiving four weekly infusions of 6 g of CSL-112 or a placebo group.³⁷⁹ However, after a 90-day follow-up, no significant differences in the risk of myocardial infarction, stroke, or cardiovascular death were found between the two groups.³⁷⁹ Therefore, further research leading to more promising clinical trials is needed to consider apoA-I peptides for clinical use against CVD.

2.5 Approaches to Estimate the Impact of Variables on Atherosclerosis

To determine the impact of different variables (i.e., markers) on disease risk, researchers often utilize regression analyses. Typically, the choice is between three types of regression analyses: linear, logistic, and multiple regression.³⁸¹ Linear regression determines the relationship between one continuous (e.g., age) or categorical (e.g., smoking vs non-smoking) independent variable and one dependent continuous variable.³⁸¹ Logistic regression uses a categorical dependent variable, and multiple regression uses one or more continuous dependent variables.³⁸¹ Regression analyses quantify the direction and strength of the relationship by providing a regression coefficient, which describes the average change in the dependent variable for each 1-unit change in an independent variable.³⁸² The odds ratio (OR) is one of the main measurements of interest produced by a regression analysis and can be obtained by the exponential function of the regression coefficient ($OR = e^{\text{regression coefficient}}$).³⁸³ For example, a logistic regression model with age as the independent variable and CVD as the dependent variable, resulting in an OR of 1.98, means that a 1-unit increase in age increases the odds of CVD by a factor of 1.98. An OR above 1 indicates that the independent variable is associated with higher odds of the dependent variable occurring, whereas an OR below 1 indicates that the independent variable is associated with lower odds of the dependent outcome.³⁸³ Another core

statistical method, Cox regression, also known as proportional hazards regression, is a survival analysis that describes the relationship between exposures (independent variables) and the occurrence of an outcome (dependent variable) after a certain follow-up time in a cohort of participants.³⁸⁴ Cox regression is the analytic technique chosen in the present study as ASCVD incidence is the outcome of interest. The main estimate of interest provided by Cox regression is the HR, which is the magnitude of the hazard rate change when a continuous independent variable increases, for instance by one unit.³⁸⁴ HRs are interpreted in a similar manner to ORs, where an HR above 1 indicates an increased risk of the outcome and an HR below 1 suggests a decreased risk of the outcome.³⁸⁵ The farther the HR is from 1, in either direction, the larger the effect of the exposure variable on the outcome.³⁸⁴

A considerable challenge arises in both multiple and Cox regression when two or more independent variables in the model are correlated, a situation known as multicollinearity.^{386,387} This phenomenon can produce a change in the coefficients, and thus HRs, obtained by the regression analysis.³⁸⁶ The standard errors for predictors' coefficients may also be inflated, which can result in the insignificance of predictors when they should be significant.³⁸⁷ Ultimately, multicollinearity can lead to wrong interpretations and conclusions, and should be avoided. Typically, multicollinearity can be solved by omitting one of the correlated variables.³⁸⁷ However, if the research aim involves analyzing the effects of all highly correlated variables on an outcome, such as HDL-C and apoA-I on ASCVD incidence in this study, researchers must turn to another method. Discordance analysis is a statistical method that addresses the challenge of multicollinearity and separates the effects of highly correlated variables by creating groups in which the highly correlated markers are discordant.²¹ These groups can be formed by residual discordance analysis, the method chosen for this study, which calculates the differences between the observed level of each variable (i.e., HDL-C and apoA-I) and the expected level from the regression relating the two markers.^{22,23}

3.0 METHODOLOGY

There are two main parts to this thesis.

Part 1

From the full cohort of 502,413 participants in UK Biobank, those with CVD or taking lipid-lowering therapy at baseline examination were excluded. Participants with missing records for HDL-C, apoA-I, LDL-C, non-HDL-C, apoB, triglycerides, HbA1c, BMI, or SBP baseline measurements as well as missing records for sex, smoking history, hypertension treatment, or diabetes treatment were also excluded. Furthermore, participants with triglycerides \geq 400 mg/dL, apoB <20 mg/dL and >400 mg/dL, or LDL-C \geq 250 mg/dL were excluded. The final analytic sample included 291,995 participants aged 38 to 73 years old.

R version 4.2.2 was used to perform all statistical analyses. First, residuals of HDL-C and apoA-I were created due to the high correlation between the two variables. The residual of HDL-C was formed by regressing HDL-C on apoA-I, and the residual of apoA-I was formed by regressing apoA-I on HDL-C. The residual of HDL-C represents the amount of HDL-C that is not explained by apoA-I, and the residual of apoA-I represents the amount of apoA-I that is not explained by HDL-C. Triglycerides were log-transformed in order to create a less-skewed distribution of the variable. Next, correlations between HDL-C, LDL-C, non-HDL-C, log-transformed triglycerides, apoB, apoA-I, the HDL-C residual, and the apoA-I residual were measured by obtaining Pearson correlation coefficients, which represent high correlation between two variables the farther the coefficient is from 0. Negative correlation coefficients represent inverse relationships between variables. Finally, the effect of exposure variables (HDL-C, LDL-C, non-HDL-C, triglycerides, apoB, apoA-I, the HDL-C residual, and the apoA-I

residual) on ASCVD incidence was estimated using Cox proportional hazards models. Two separate models were created: one with HDL-C and the apoA-I residual, and the other with apoA-I and the HDL-C residual. SBP, HbA1c, age, sex, BMI, hypertension treatment, diabetes treatment, and smoking status were adjusted for by including them in both models. Cox proportional hazards models provide HRs, a 95% confidence interval (CI) for the HRs, and pvalues. If the HR for a variable is below 1, the variable reduces the risk of ASCVD incidence. If the HR is above 1, the variable increases the risk of ASCVD incidence. The farther the HR is from 1, the larger the effect. All HRs were expressed per 1 standard deviation. Note that due to the high correlation between apoB, LDL-C, and non-HDL-C, they were each run in separate models. The values presented for all other variables were obtained from the model that included apoB.

Plots of apoA-I concentration against HDL-C concentration and apoB concentration against non-HDL-C concentration were also created to help visualize the differences in these relationships. Furthermore, plots were created to display the relationship of apoA-I to ASCVD risk and HDL-C to ASCVD risk, controlled for age, sex, apoB, log-transformed triglycerides, HbA1c, BMI, SBP, blood pressure medication, diabetes medication, and smoking.

Part 2

The main cohort of 291,995 participants was divided into quintiles of apoA-I. The first quintile included participants with apoA-I \geq 42.9 mg/dL and <132.9 mg/dL, the second quintile included apoA-I \geq 132.9 mg/dL and <146.6 mg/dL, the third quintile included apoA-I \geq 146.6 mg/dL and <159.7 mg/dL, the fourth quintile included apoA-I \geq 159.7 mg/dL and <176.5 mg/dL, and the fifth quintile included apoA-I \geq 176.5 mg/dL and \leq 250 mg/dL. Similar to Part 1, HDL-C and apoA-I residuals were created, Pearson correlation coefficients were obtained between HDL-

C, LDL-C, non-HDL-C, log-transformed triglycerides, apoB, apoA-I, the HDL-C residual, and the apoA-I residual, and Cox proportional hazards models were used to measure the effects of the same exposure variables as Part 1 on ASCVD incidence in each apoA-I quintile. Note that HDL-C, apoA-I, and both residuals were included in the Cox proportional hazards models, but their HRs are not reported in the results because their values within the quintiles are within a small range and are not normally distributed. Nevertheless, the concentrations of apoA-I and HDL-C over the whole distribution of their values are powerful and consistent predictors of risk, as tested in Part 1.

An interaction term between apoA-I and apoB, also expressed as the apoA-I:apoB ratio, was added to the Cox proportional hazards model used within the full cohort in Part 1 to investigate potential biological interaction. As apoA-I and HDL-C are highly correlated, an HDL-C to apoB interaction term was also added in a separate model to determine whether HDL-C and apoB have a significant biological interaction. Similarly, interaction terms between apoA-I and LDL-C, apoA-I and non-HDL-C, HDL-C and LDL-C, and HDL-C and non-HDL-C were analyzed in separate models. These tests output HRs, 95% CIs, and p-values as usual, but the p-values become the focus for interaction. A significant p-value (p<0.05) suggests a significant interaction between apoA-I (or HDL-C) and apoB (or LDL-C or non-HDL-C).

4.0 RESEARCH FINDINGS

Part 1

The median age of the main cohort of participants at baseline was 56 years, and 42.1% of these participants were male (Table 1). Over a median follow-up of 11 years, there were 19,849 ASCVD events. Correlation was high (Pearson correlation coefficient \geq 0.50) between apoA-I and HDL-C, apoB and non-HDL-C, apoB and LDL-C, non-HDL-C and LDL-C, non-HDL-C and log-transformed triglycerides, the HDL-C residual and log-transformed triglycerides, and the HDL-C residual and apoA-I residual (Table 2). Interestingly, log-transformed triglycerides were moderately correlated with HDL-C but less strongly with apoA-I.

Variables	Values [SD] (%)		
Participants (N)	291995		
Age (years)	56.00 [8.11]		
Male (N)	123057 (42.1)		
Incidence ASCVD (N)	19849 (6.8)		
Follow-up (years)	10.96 [2.06]		
Body Mass Index (kg/m²)	26.27 [4.59]		
Systolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	135.00 [18.61]		
Blood Pressure Medication (N)	36020 (12.3)		
Ever Smoked (N)	170628 (58.4)		
HbA1c (%)	5.33 [0.46]		
Diabetes Medication (N)	2379 (0.8)		
Total Cholesterol (mg/dL)	225.06 [39.73]		
HDL-C (mg/dL)	55.68 [14.19]		
Non-HDL-C (mg/dL)	167.52 [38.18]		
LDL-C (mg/dL)	141.57 [30.66]		
TG (mg/dL)	125.59 [71.17]		
ApoB (mg/dL)	104.80 [22.67]		
ApoA-I (mg/dL)	153.00 [26.89]		
HDL-C: ApoA-I Ratio	0.36 [0.04]		

Table 1. Participant Characteristics in UK Biobank Cohort

	HDL-C	Non-HDL-C	АроВ	LDL-C	InTG	ApoA-I	HDL-C
						Residual SD	Residual SD
ApoA-I	0.92	-0.02	-0.08	0.04	-0.28	0.39	0
	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p=1.00)
HDL-C		-0.07	-0.11	0.02	-0.47	0	0.39
		(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p=1.00)	(p<0.001)
Non-HDL-C			0.96	0.98	0.51	0.12	-0.14
			(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)
АроВ				0.96	0.42	0.06	-0.10
				(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)
LDL-C					0.38	0.07	-0.05
					(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)
InTG						0.39	-0.54
						(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)
ApoA-I							-0.92
Residual SD							(p<0.001)

Table 2. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Lipids and Residuals in UK Biobank Cohort

In the Cox proportional hazards model with HDL-C, the apoA-I residual, apoB, and logtransformed triglycerides (adjusted for SBP, HbA1c, age, sex, BMI, hypertension treatment, diabetes treatment, and smoking status), HDL-C and the apoA-I residual were significantly associated with new onset ASCVD with HR=0.85 (95% CI: 0.83, 0.87; p<0.0001) and HR=0.96 (95% CI: 0.94, 0.97; p<0.0001), respectively (Table 3). In the Cox proportional hazards model adjusted for the same predictors but including apoA-I, the HDL-C residual, apoB, and logtransformed triglycerides, apoA-I and the HDL-C residual were significantly associated with new onset ASCVD with HR=0.85 (95% CI: 0.83, 0.86; p<0.0001) and HR=0.98 (95% CI: 0.96, 0.99; p<0.01), respectively (Table 3). **Table 3.** Hazard Ratios, 95% Confidence Intervals, and p-values for Incident AtheroscleroticCardiovascular Disease in Cox Proportional Hazards Models with Lipid Parameters and Risk

Variable	Hazard Ratio	95% Hazard Ra Lim	P-value	
ApoA-I	0.85	0.83	0.86	< 0.0001
HDL-C Residual	0.98	0.96	0.99	0.0098
HDL-C	0.85	0.83	0.87	< 0.0001
ApoA-I Residual	0.96	0.94	0.97	< 0.0001
АроВ	1.14	1.12	1.16	< 0.0001
LDL-C ¹	1.13	1.12	1.15	< 0.0001
Non-HDL-C ¹	1.15	1.13	1.17	< 0.0001
InTG	1.03	1.01	1.05	0.0107
SBP	1.19	1.17	1.20	< 0.0001
HbA1c	1.08	1.07	1.09	< 0.0001
Age	1.07	1.06	1.07	< 0.0001
Male	1.70	1.65	1.75	< 0.0001
BMI	1.08	1.07	1.10	< 0.0001
BP Medication	1.52	1.46	1.57	< 0.0001
Diabetes Medication	1.57	1.42	1.74	< 0.0001
Smoking	1.24	1.20	1.28	< 0.0001

Factors

¹LDL-C and non-HDL-C were included in separate models in substitution for apoB. All other numbers are taken from the models with apoB.

The plot of apoA-I concentration against HDL-C concentration looks very different from the plot of apoB concentration against non-HDL-C concentration (Figures 2 and 3). The apoA-I and HDL-C plot fans out at higher concentrations of apoA-I. Therefore, the variance in HDL-C for a given value of apoA-I gets larger and larger as apoA-I increases. However, this is not seen in the apoB and non-HDL-C plot. The variance in non-HDL-C stays relatively the same throughout the range of apoB. The difference between these relationships led to the idea of dividing the main cohort of participants based on quintiles of apoA-I.

Figure 2. Plot of High-Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol (HDL-C) Concentration (mg/dL) Against Apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I) Concentration (mg/dL)



Figure 3. Plot of Non-High-Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol (Non-HDL-C) Concentration (mg/dL) Against Apolipoprotein B (ApoB) Concentration (mg/dL)


Furthermore, the plotted relationships of apoA-I and HDL-C to ASCVD risk are curvilinear (Figures 4 and 5), suggesting that the relation of apoA-I and HDL-C to risk is not constant over their entire range of concentrations.

Figure 4. Relationship of Apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I) and Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease (ASCVD) Incidence



Figure 5. Relationship of High-Density Lipoprotein-Cholesterol (HDL-C) and Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease (ASCVD) Incidence



Part 2

Quintile 1 includes 58,353 participants with apoA-I \ge 42.9 mg/dL and <132.9 mg/dL. These participants had a median age of 54 years, and 69.4% of these participants were male (Table 4). Over a median follow-up of about 11 years, there were 5,502 ASCVD events. Quintile 2 includes 58,048 participants with apoA-I \ge 132.9 mg/dL and <146.6 mg/dL. These participants had a median age of 55 years, and 54.5% of these participants were male. Over a median followup of 11 years, there were 4,455 ASCVD events. Quintile 3 includes 58,434 participants with apoA-I \ge 146.6 mg/dL and <159.7 mg/dL. These participants had a median age 56 years, and 41.2% of these participants were male. Over a median follow-up of 11 years, there were 3,742 ASCVD events. Quintile 4 includes 58,741 participants with apoA-I \ge 159.7 mg/dL and <176.5 mg/dL. These participants had a median age 57 years, and 28.7% of these participants were male. Over a median follow-up of 11 years, there were 3,285 ASCVD events. Quintile 5 includes 58,419 participants with apoA-I \geq 176.5 mg/dL and \leq 250 mg/dL. These participants had a median age 58 years, and 17.2% of these participants were male. Over a median follow-up of 11 years, there were 2,865 ASCVD events. Overall, similar patterns in correlation strength between variables seen in the main cohort were observed in each of the apoA-I quintiles (Tables 5-9). However, within the first quintile, apoA-I and the apoA-I residual are highly correlated (as well as HDL-C and the HDL-C residual) whereas they are weakly correlated in the main cohort. The same observation holds in the second quintile, in addition to both residuals being more weakly inversely correlated to each other and apoA-I and HDL-C being more weakly correlated to each other than they are within the main cohort. The correlations in quintiles 3 and 4 are similar to those in quintile 2, and quintile 5 is similar to quintile 1.

	1 st Quintile	2 nd Quintile	3 rd Quintile	4 th Quintile	5 th Quintile
Ν	58353	58048	58434	58741	58419
Age (years)	54.00 [8.40]	55.00 [8.25]	56.00 [8.07]	57.00 [7.87]	58.00 [7.57]
Male (N)	40500 (69.4)	31615 (54.5)	24053 (41.2)	16846 (28.7)	10043 (17.2)
Incidence ASCVD (N)	5502 (9.4)	4455 (7.7)	3742 (6.4)	3285 (5.6)	2865 (4.9)
Follow-up (years)	10.93 [2.33]	10.95 [2.12]	10.97 [2.02]	10.97 [1.92]	10.95 [1.86]
Body Mass Index (kg/m2)	27.89 [4.74]	27.09 [4.63]	26.32 [4.50]	25.55 [4.29]	24.57 [3.96]
Systolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	134.50 [17.39]	135.00 [18.25]	135.00 [18.62]	134.50 [19.06]	135.50 [19.63]
Blood Pressure Medication (N)	8231 (14.1)	7561 (13.0)	7081 (12.1)	6703 (11.4)	6444 (11.0)
Ever Smoked (N)	34676 (59.4)	33662 (58.0)	33582 (57.5)	33924 (57.8)	34784 (59.5)
HbA1c (%)	5.35 [0.56]	5.34 [0.48]	5.33 [0.45]	5.33 [0.41]	5.32 [0.37]
Diabetes Medication (N)	971 (1.7)	533 (0.9)	402 (0.7)	270 (0.5)	203 (0.4)
Total Cholesterol (mg/dL)	208.05 [38.80]	218.18 [38.42]	224.44 [38.10]	230.78 [37.38]	241.84 [37.31]
HDL-C (mg/dL)	40.87 [5.42]	49.00 [4.83]	55.69 [5.37]	63.46 [6.30]	76.03 [10.34]
TG (mg/dL)	159.52 [80.44]	138.97 [73.72]	125.77 [67.69]	113.81 [61.72]	102.56 [54.73]
ApoB (mg/dL)	106.80 [22.94]	106.30 [23.11]	105.50 [22.82]	103.90 [22.23]	101.60 [21.86]
ApoA-I (mg/dL)	123.60 [9.02]	140.10 [3.90]	152.90 [3.77]	167.20 [4.79]	192.00 [16.59]

 Table 4. Participant Characteristics in Apolipoprotein A-I Quintiles

	HDL-C	Non-HDL-C	АроВ	LDL-C	InTG	ApoA-I Residual	HDL-C Residual
ApoA-I	0.70 (p<0.001)	0.10 (p<0.001)	0.05 (p<0.001)	0.13 (p<0.001)	-0.06 (p<0.001)	0.71 (p<0.001)	0 (p=1.00)
HDL-C		0.08 (p<0.001)	0.08 (p<0.001)	0.17 (p<0.001)	-0.40 (p<0.001)	0 (p=1.00)	0.71 (p<0.001)
Non-HDL-C			0.95 (p<0.001)	0.98 (p<0.001)	0.51 (p<0.001)	0.06 (p<0.001)	0.01 (p=0.004)
АроВ				0.96 (p<0.001)	0.40 (p<0.001)	-0.01 (p=0.034)	0.07 (p<0.001)
LDL-C					0.38 (p<0.001)	0.01 (p=0.017)	0.11 (p<0.001)
InTG						0.31 (p<0.001)	-0.50 (p<0.001)
ApoA-I Residual							-0.70 (p<0.001)

Table 5. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Lipids and Residuals in Quintile 1

Table 6. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Lipids and Residuals in Quintile 2

	HDL-C	Non-HDL-C	АроВ	LDL-C	InTG	ApoA-I Residual	HDL-C Residual
АроА-І	0.40 (p<0.001)	0 (p=0.99)	-0.01 (p=0.022)	0.01 (p=0.002)	-0.06 (p<0.001)	0.92 (p<0.001)	0 (p=1.00)
HDL-C		-0.11 (p<0.001)	-0.06 (p<0.001)	-0.01 (p<0.001)	-0.55 (p<0.001)	0 (p=1.00)	0.92 (p<0.001)
Non-HDL-C			0.96 (p<0.001)	0.98 (p<0.001)	0.55 (p<0.001)	0.05 (p<0.001)	-0.12 (p<0.001)
АроВ				0.97 (p<0.001)	0.44 (p<0.001)	0.02 (p<0.001)	-0.06 (p<0.001)
LDL-C					0.43 (p<0.001)	0.02 (p<0.001)	-0.02 (p<0.001)
InTG						0.17 (p<0.001)	-0.57 (p<0.001)
ApoA-I Residual							-0.40 (p<0.001)

	HDL-C	Non-HDL-C	АроВ	LDL-C	InTG	ApoA-I	HDL-C
						Residual	Residual
ApoA-I	0.38	-0.01	-0.02	0	-0.06	0.93	0
	(p<0.001)	(p=0.009)	(p<0.001)	(p=0.82)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p=1.00)
HDL-C		-0.17	-0.12	-0.08	-0.58	0	0.93
		(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p=1.00)	(p<0.001)
Non-HDL-C			0.96	0.98	0.55	0.06	-0.18
			(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)
АроВ				0.97	0.45	0.03	-0.12
				(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)
LDL-C					0.44	0.03	-0.09
					(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)
InTG						0.17	-0.60
						(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)
ApoA-I							-0.38
Residual							(p<0.001)

Table 7. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Lipids and Residuals in Quintile 3

Table 8. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Lipids and Residuals in Quintile 4

	HDL-C	Non-HDL-C	АроВ	LDL-C	InTG	ApoA-I Residual SD	HDL-C Residual
ApoA-I	0.41	-0.01	-0.02	0	-0.06	0.91	0
	(p<0.001)	(p=0.04)	(p<0.001)	(p=0.64)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p=1.00)
HDL-C		-0.19	-0.15	-0.10	-0.58	0	0.91
		(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p=1.00)	(p<0.001)
Non-HDL-C			0.96	0.98	0.53	0.08	-0.20
			(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)
АроВ				0.97	0.43	0.05	-0.16
				(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)
LDL-C					0.42	0.05	-0.12
					(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)
InTG						0.20	-0.61
						(p<0.001)	(p<0.001)
ApoA-I							-0.41
Residual							(p<0.001)

	HDL-C	Non-HDL-C	АроВ	LDL-C	InTG	ApoA-I Residual	HDL-C Residual
АроА-І	0.68 (p<0.001)	-0.01 (p=0.03)	-0.03 (p<0.001)	-0.02 (p=0.66)	-0.07 (p<0.001)	0.73 (p<0.001)	0 (p=1.00)
HDL-C		-0.15 (p<0.001)	-0.15 (p<0.001)	-0.08 (p<0.001)	-0.48 (p<0.001)	0 (p=1.00)	0.73 (p<0.001)
Non-HDL-C			0.96 (p<0.001)	0.98 (p<0.001)	0.47 (p<0.001)	0.09 (p<0.001)	-0.17 (p<0.001)
АроВ				0.96 (p<0.001)	0.39 (p<0.001)	0.07 (p<0.001)	-0.16 (p<0.001)
LDL-C					0.36 (p<0.001)	0.05 (p<0.001)	-0.09 (p<0.001)
InTG						0.20 (p<0.001)	-0.59 (p<0.001)
ApoA-I Residual							-0.68 (p<0.001)

 Table 9. Pearson Correlation Coefficients for Lipids and Residuals in Quintile 5

ApoB and sex were the only variables with a clear and statistically significant (p<0.05) trend across apoA-I quintiles. Despite the concentration of apoB remaining relatively constant across apoA-I quintiles, the HR of apoB decreased from 1.20 (first quintile) to 1.06 (fifth quintile). As expected, the HRs of LDL-C and non-HDL-C showed the same pattern as apoB across apoA-I quintiles. The HR of LDL-C decreased from 1.21 to 1.04. The HR of non-HDL-C decreased from 1.23 to 1.05. The HR for being male increased from 1.56 (first quintile) to 1.88 (fifth quintile). To address potential concerns about whether being male acts as a confounding variable influencing the observed diminishing effect of apoB on ASCVD risk, the same quintile analysis was performed separately in males and females (Supplemental Materials 1 and 2). The effect of apoB on ASCVD risk decreases as apoA-I concentration increases in both males and females. Although the effect is stronger in males, it is still evident in females.

 Table 10. Hazard Ratios, 95% Confidence Intervals, and p-values for Incident Atherosclerotic

 Cardiovascular Disease in Cox Proportional Hazards Models with Lipid Parameters and Risk

 Factors in Apolipoprotein A-I Quintiles

	1 st Quintile	2 nd Quintile	3 rd Quintile	4 th Quintile	5 th Quintile
Variable		Hazard Ratio (95%	% Confidence Limits))	
АроВ	1.20 (1.16,1.24) ***	1.18 (1.14,1.22) ***	1.14 (1.10,1.18) ***	1.10 (1.06,1.14) ***	1.06 (1.02,1.10)
LDL-C ¹	1.21 (1.18,1.25) ***	1.18 (1.14,1.22) ***	1.14 (1.10,1.18) ***	1.09 (1.05,1.13) ***	1.04 (1.00,1.08)
Non-HDL-C ¹	1.23 (1.19,1.27)	1.19 (1.15,1.23)	1.15 (1.11,1.20)	1.10 (1.06,1.15)	1.05 (1.01,1.10)
	***	***	***	***	*
lnTG	0.98 (0.94,1.01)	1.00 (0.95,1.04)	1.04 (0.99,1.09)	1.04 (0.99,1.09)	1.11 (1.06,1.17) ***
SBP	1.15 (1.12,1.18)	1.18 (1.15,1.22)	1.20 (1.16,1.24)	1.22 (1.17,1.26)	1.19 (1.14,1.23)
	***	***	***	***	***
HbA1c	1.10 (1.07,1.12) ***	1.10 (1.07,1.12) ***	1.06 (1.04,1.09) ***	1.09 (1.06,1.12) ***	1.06 (1.04,1.09) ***
Age	1.07 (1.06,1.07)	1.07 (1.06,1.07)	1.07 (1.06,1.07)	1.07(1.06,1.07)	1.07 (1.06,1.08)
	***	***	***	***	***
Male	1.56 (1.46,1.67)	1.68 (1.57,1.79)	1.68 (1.57,1.80)	1.74 (1.62,1.87)	1.88 (1.73,2.04)
	***	***	***	***	***
BMI	1.08 (1.05,1.11)	1.07 (1.04,1.11)	1.10 (1.06,1.13)	1.07 (1.03,1.11)	1.07 (1.03,1.11)
	***	***	***	***	***
BP	1.45 (1.35,1.54)	1.47 (1.37,1.58)	1.45 (1.34,1.57)	1.62 (1.49,1.76)	1.70 (1.55,1.86)
Medication	***	***	***	***	***
Diabetes	1.50 (1.28,1.76)	1.73 (1.40,2.13)	1.62 (1.23,2.13)	1.40 (0.99,1.99)	2.05 (1.41,2.98)
Medication	***	***	***		***
Smoking	1.32 (1.25,1.40)	1.23 (1.16,1.31)	1.20 (1.12,1.28)	1.18 (1.10,1.27)	1.19 (1.10,1.29)
	***	***	***	***	***

* p<0.05 (statistically significant)

*** p<0.001 (high statistical significance)

¹LDL-C and Non-HDL-C were included in separate models in substitution for apoB. All other numbers are taken from the models with apoB.

Finally, the interaction term between apoA-I and apoB in the Cox proportional hazards models used in the main cohort produced a p-value <0.001 (highly statistically significant). The interaction terms between HDL-C and apoB, HDL-C and LDL-C, HDL-C and non-HDL-C,

apoA-I and LDL-C, and apoA-I and non-HDL-C (in separate models) were also significant. Therefore, there is significant interaction between apoA-I (or HDL-C) and apoB (or LDL-C or non-HDL-C), meaning that apoA-I and apoB are effect modifiers of each other. Furthermore, a significant interaction between apoA-I and apoB is observed separately in both males and females.

5.0 DISCUSSION

The debate as to whether HDL-C or apoA-I is a more useful marker of ASCVD risk continues. This study found no significant difference between the two markers. Both HDL-C and apoA-I are significant markers of ASCVD incidence as demonstrated in both Cox proportional hazards models in the main cohort. However, the HDL-C residual and the apoA-I residual appeared to add similar but relatively minor value to apoA-I and HDL-C, respectively, as indicated by their HRs being close to 1. Virtually all the apoA-I in the circulation is associated with HDL, and with a Pearson correlation coefficient of 0.92, it is clear that apoA-I and HDL-C are highly linked, and they function tightly together.³⁸⁸ To the best of my knowledge, this is the first discordance analysis between apoA-I and HDL-C, adding a new line of evidence to previous research similarly revealing no significant difference between the two markers of ASCVD risk.

This thesis also presents the novel finding that apoA-I is related to a decreased risk of ASCVD associated with apoB, as shown by the decreasing effect of apoB on ASCVD risk in the Cox proportional hazards models across apoA-I quintiles. As apoA-I concentration increases, the effect of apoB on ASCVD incidence appears to weaken. This general trend is observed in both males and females. That an interaction between apoA-I and apoB is biologically credible, demonstrated by the statistical significance of the apoA-I:apoB interaction term in the main Cox proportional hazards models, strengthens this finding. Cholesterol can only be deposited in the arterial wall within apoB particles.¹⁵⁶ Conversely, ApoA-I is postulated to remove cholesterol from macrophages in the arterial wall via its interaction with ABCA1.³⁸⁹ Thus, net apoB-induced cholesterol deposition may depend on the rate or amount of cholesterol removal by apoA-I. This is only one possible mechanism of how apoA-I and apoB may interact to impact ASCVD risk.

Interestingly, residual apoA-I does not appear to strongly affect the risk of ASCVD directly, as demonstrated by an HR of 0.96 in the main cohort. However, apoA-I clearly confers its impact in an indirect manner, as its concentration influences the effect of apoB on ASCVD risk.

To avoid toxicity, excess cholesterol within macrophages is moved to the extracellular matrix or stored in cytosolic lipid droplets as cholesteryl esters.³⁹⁰ Researchers have confirmed the role of both apoA-I and HDL in cholesterol efflux to the extracellular matrix by demonstrating the loss of extracellular and cell surface-associated cholesterol microdomains of macrophages when incubated with apoA-I and HDL.³⁹¹ Therefore, reverse cholesterol transport also happens in the extracellular matrix, and apoA-I and HDL may mediate cholesterol efflux through this additional mechanism to counteract the effects of apoB.³⁹¹

HDL has a complex structure, with particles varying in size and lipid composition, leading to different levels of cardiovascular protection. This creates an almost infinite number of hypotheses as to how it might impact atherosclerosis. The observational relations between HDL and ASCVD risk relate to HDL-C and apoA-I. These markers must, therefore, be operational surrogates for whatever pathway might actually be involved, such as the reverse cholesterol transport pathway or potential inflammatory pathways.

Although this thesis shows the interaction of apoA-I and apoB at a fairly constant level of apoB (101.60 mg/dL in the highest apoA-I quintile to 106.80 in the lowest quintile), one experiment using rodent hepatocytes finds another mechanism by which apoA-I and apoB may interact, not specifically at a constant concentration of apoB. This study by Sahoo et al. demonstrated decreased cholesterol availability for apoB lipoprotein particle secretion by the liver caused by the diversion of hepatocyte cholesterol into the reverse cholesterol transport

81

pathway by apoA-I.³⁹² Thus, it appears that the upregulation of reverse cholesterol transport by apoA-I reduces apoB lipoprotein particle secretion and thus, cholesterol deposition in the arterial wall. It would be interesting to investigate this mechanism further via in vivo experiments observing the changes in apoB cholesterol deposition with gradually increasing or decreasing reverse cholesterol transport via the apoA-I/ABCA1 pathway.

As ABCA1 is an essential component of the reverse cholesterol transport pathway alongside apoA-I, future research can investigate whether there is also an interaction between apoB and ABCA1. Uncovering more about the relationship between apoB and apoA-I (or potentially ABCA1) may help scientists find new targets for the prevention and treatment of ASCVD.

HDL particle size influences ASCVD risk and should be considered in future research involving HDL's protective role against atherosclerosis. Small, dense HDL₃ are thought to be more effective at protecting against LDL oxidation than HDL₂ and to have a stronger antiinflammatory effect.²⁰²⁻²⁰⁴ However, larger HDL particles are able to carry more cholesterol.³⁷² HDL subclasses have also been associated with age and sex. Thus, future research could explore the impact of elevating specific HDL subgroups across different populations, considering differences in age and sex.

It is important to acknowledge the limitations of this study. Although discordance analysis eliminates the challenge of separating the effects of highly correlated variables, such as HDL-C and apoA-I, posed by conventional statistical methods, it does not establish causality. Rather, Cox proportional hazards models provide information about the association between the time to an event (e.g., ASCVD) and various explanatory variables (e.g., apoA-I and HDL-C).³⁹³ Therefore, this thesis reveals significant associations between apoA-I and ASCVD, as well as

82

HDL-C and ASCVD; however, these results cannot be interpreted as apoA-I or HDL-C directly causing the prevention of ASCVD. Notably, several clinical trials employing HDL-C-elevating therapies have failed to demonstrate a decrease in CVD risk.³⁷² CETP inhibitors that significantly increase HDL-C levels, such as torcetrapib, dalcetrapib, and evacetrapib, did not reduce CVD risk in clinical trials.^{372,373} Even niacin, the most widely used medication to elevate HDL-C levels, has failed to reduce CVD incidence in randomized controlled trials.^{368,369} Therefore, it is imperative to refer to multiple lines of evidence before resulting to causality when dealing with statistical methods like Cox proportional hazards models. The use of methods that are capable of determining causality, such as Mendelian randomization and randomized controlled trials, may be advantageous for future research investigating the relationships between apoA-I and ASCVD, HDL-C and ASCVD, as well as apoB and apoA-I in association with ASCVD.^{394,395}

As described in Section 2.1.2, there are various risk factors associated with CVD. Future research may benefit from investigating the influence of different risk factors that were not included in this thesis. As CVD has a disproportionate effect on ethnic minority groups, it would be interesting to see if the same observations from the work in this thesis hold in different ethnic groups. First, researchers can explore whether HDL-C and apoA-I are similarly significant markers of ASCVD risk across various ethnicities or whether one marker demonstrates superiority over the other in specific ethnic groups. A similar quintile analysis can follow to determine whether the effect of apoB on ASCVD risk diminishes at higher concentrations of apoA-I in each ethnic group. Biological interaction between apoB and apoA-I can then be examined in each group to determine if any variability exists depending on ethnicity. UK Biobank provides researchers with information about participant ethnicity (e.g., Asian, South Asian, Black, Black African, Black Caribbean, Chinese, White, White British, White Irish,

Mixed, etc.); therefore, this future research will be possible in the UK Biobank cohort used for this study. The results from this ethnicity-focused research may inform the future development of preventions and treatments for diverse ethnic groups, as treatments are not typically "one-sizefits-all".

Another finding to make note of is the stronger correlation observed between logtransformed triglycerides and HDL-C in comparison to the weaker correlation obtained between log-transformed triglycerides and apoA-I. This may be because HDL-C decreases as triglycerides are exchanged from a chylomicron or LDL particle, as triglyceride-rich HDL particles are cleared more rapidly.³⁹⁶ Thus, one difference between HDL-C and apoA-I may be that triglycerides do not seem to be a major determinant of apoA-I, whereas they are important for HDL-C. Future research may delve into what role triglycerides may play in regulating the reverse cholesterol transport pathway, to see whether and to what extent they influence HDL-C and apoA-I. This research could help determine whether triglycerides would be important targets for ASCVD prevention and treatment in the context of the reverse cholesterol transport

As ASCVD remains a leading cause of death worldwide, it is critical to conduct research that advances our knowledge on the markers and causes of the disease.¹ By understanding whether current diagnostic tools are actually effective, guideline improvements can be made. This thesis demonstrates the effectiveness of HDL-C and apoA-I as ASCVD markers and supports HDL-C and apoA-I as equivalent markers. As equivalent markers, the apoA-I:apoB and HDL-C:apoB ratios should be equivalent. Thus, it is not necessary to measure apoA-I, saving time and money in the clinic. These findings, alongside similar work demonstrating the similarity of HDL-C and apoA-I as markers of ASCVD risk, should be considered when

84

formulating new guidelines for risk prediction.²⁰ This work will also help inform future avenues of research, including the novel ideas described in this section.

6.0 CONCLUSION

Today, CVD diminishes both the quality of life and life expectancy, while also placing substantial financial burdens on health systems worldwide.²⁴ Identifying and utilizing the most accurate biomarkers in the clinic for ASCVD risk prediction is essential to enhance CVD prevention and treatment. This thesis explores the individual relationships of apoA-I and HDL-C to ASCVD risk, and reveals the novel biological interaction between apoB and apoA-I. In two separate Cox proportional hazards models within the full cohort (one with HDL-C and the apoA-I residual, one with apoA-I and the HDL-C residual, and both adjusted for apoB, log-transformed triglycerides, SBP, HbA1c, age, sex, BMI, hypertension treatment, diabetes treatment, and smoking status), the HDL-C residual and the apoA-I residual appeared to add similar value to apoA-I and HDL-C, respectively. HDL-C and apoA-I are both individually significant markers of ASCVD (p<0.001). However, neither of the two markers shows superiority over the other in predicting risk. With these findings, there appears to be no benefit in switching to using apoA-I as a risk predictor over HDL-C in a clinical setting.

The third objective of this thesis investigated the interaction between apoB (or LDL-C or non-HDL-C) and apoA-I (or HDL-C) on ASCVD risk. The same discordance analysis used in the main cohort of this study, but with an interaction term added between apoB and apoA-I, revealed a significant interaction between the two markers. Thus, future research can delve deeper into this biological interaction to aid in the development of potential ASCVD treatments. This novel finding adds to a strong foundation of research aimed at preventing and treating ASCVD to ultimately enhance quality of life and life expectancy worldwide.

7.0 BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Kim H, Kim S, Han S, et al. Prevalence and incidence of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease and its risk factors in Korea: a nationwide population-based study. *BMC Public Health*. 2019;19(1):1112.
- What is atherosclerosis? National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute.
 <u>https://www.nhlbi.nih.gov/health/atherosclerosis</u>. Updated March 24, 2022. Accessed April 27, 2023.
- Shahjehan RD, Bhutta BS. Coronary artery disease. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Bentzon JF, Otsuka F, Virmani R, Falk E. Mechanisms of plaque formation and rupture. *Circ Res.* 2014;114(12):1852-1866.
- Jebari-Benslaiman S, Galicia-García U, Larrea-Sebal A, et al. Pathophysiology of atherosclerosis. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2022;23(6).
- 6. Pownall HJ, Rosales C, Gillard BK, Gotto AM. High-density lipoproteins, reverse cholesterol transport and atherogenesis. *Nat Rev Cardiol.* 2021;18(10):712-723.
- Feingold KR. Introduction to lipids and lipoproteins. In. *Endotext [Internet]*. South Dartmouth (MA): MDText.com, Inc.; 2000.
- Barter P. The role of HDL-cholesterol in preventing atherosclerotic disease. *Eur Heart J* Suppl. 2005;7(suppl F):F4-F8.
- Glavinovic T, Thanassoulis G, Graaf Jd, Couture P, Hegele RA, Sniderman AD.
 Physiological bases for the superiority of apolipoprotein B over low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol as a marker of cardiovascular risk. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2022;11(20):e025858.

- Sniderman AD. Apolipoprotein B versus non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol: contradictory results in the same journal. *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* 2022;29(18):2347-2348.
- Bailey A, Mohiuddin SS. Biochemistry, high density lipoprotein. In. *StatPearls* [*Internet*]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Florvall G, Basu S, Larsson A. Apolipoprotein A1 is a stronger prognostic marker than are HDL and LDL cholesterol for cardiovascular disease and mortality in elderly men. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. 2006;61(12):1262-1266.
- Rahim S, Abdullah HM, Ali Y, et al. Serum apo A-1 and its role as a biomarker of coronary artery disease. *Cureus*. 2016;8(12):e941.
- McQueen MJ, Hawken S, Wang X, et al. Lipids, lipoproteins, and apolipoproteins as risk markers of myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): a casecontrol study. *Lancet.* 2008;372(9634):224-233.
- Walldius G, Jungner I, Holme I, Aastveit AH, Kolar W, Steiner E. High apolipoprotein B, low apolipoprotein A-I, and improvement in the prediction of fatal myocardial infarction (AMORIS study): a prospective study. *Lancet.* 2001;358(9298):2026-2033.
- Cremer P, Nagel D, Mann H, et al. Ten-year follow-up results from the Goettingen Risk, Incidence and Prevalence Study (GRIPS). I. Risk factors for myocardial infarction in a cohort of 5790 men. *Atherosclerosis*. 1997;129(2):221-230.
- Sweetnam PM, Bolton CH, Downs LG, et al. Apolipoproteins A–I, A–II and B, lipoprotein(a) and the risk of ischaemic heart disease: the Caerphilly Study. *Eur J Clin Invest.* 2000;30(11):947-956.

- Lamarche B, Moorjani S, Lupien PJ, et al. Apolipoprotein A-I and B levels and the risk of ischemic heart disease during a five-year follow-up of men in the Que'bec Cardiovascular Study. *Circulation*. 1996;94(3):273-278.
- Ingelsson E, Schaefer EJ, Contois JH, et al. Clinical utility of different lipid measures for prediction of coronary heart disease in men and women. *J Am Med Assoc*. 2007;298(7):776-785.
- 20. van der Steeg WA, Boekholdt SM, Stein EA, et al. Role of the apolipoprotein Bapolipoprotein A-I ratio in cardiovascular risk assessment: a case-control analysis in EPIC-Norfolk. *Ann Intern Med.* 2007;146(9):640-648.
- Sniderman AD, St-Pierre AC, Cantin B, Dagenais GR, Després JP, Lamarche B.
 Concordance/discordance between plasma apolipoprotein B levels and the cholesterol indexes of atherosclerotic risk. *Am J Cardiol.* 2003;91(10):1173-1177.
- Pencina MJ, D'Agostino RB, Zdrojewski T, et al. Apolipoprotein B improves risk assessment of future coronary heart disease in the Framingham Heart Study beyond LDL-C and non-HDL-C. *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* 2020;22(10):1321-1327.
- 23. Lawler PR, Akinkuolie AO, Ridker PM, et al. Discordance between circulating atherogenic cholesterol mass and lipoprotein particle concentration in relation to future coronary events in women. *Clin Chem.* 2017;63(4):870-879.
- Amini M, Zayeri F, Salehi M. Trend analysis of cardiovascular disease mortality, incidence, and mortality-to-incidence ratio: results from global burden of disease study 2017. BMC Public Health. 2021;21(1):401.
- Lopez EO, Ballard BD, Jan A. Cardiovascular disease. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.

- Portegies MLP, Koudstaal PJ, Ikram MA. Chapter 14 Cerebrovascular disease. In: Aminoff MJ, Boller F, Swaab DF, eds. *Handbook of clinical neurology*. Vol 138. Elsevier; 2016:239-261.
- Shu J, Santulli G. Update on peripheral artery disease: Epidemiology and evidence-based facts. *Atherosclerosis*. 2018;275:379-381.
- Kronzon I, Tunick PA. Aortic atherosclerotic disease and stroke. *Circulation*. 2006;114(1):63-75.
- 29. Coronary artery disease: Overview. In. *InformedHealth.org*. Cologne, Germany: Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care (IQWiG); 2013.
- Tsao CW, Aday AW, Almarzooq ZI, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics—2022 update: A report from the American Heart Association. 2022. doi:10.1161/CIR.00000000001052.
- 31. Nawsherwan., Bin W, Le Z, Mubarik S, Fu G, Wang Y. Prediction of cardiovascular diseases mortality- and disability-adjusted life-years attributed to modifiable dietary risk factors from 1990 to 2030 among East Asian countries and the world. *Front Nutr.* 2022;9.
- Colantonio LD, Muntner P. It is time for reducing global cardiovascular mortality. *Circulation*. 2019;140(9):726-728.
- 33. Deaths from cardiovascular disease surged 60% globally over the last 30 years: Report. <u>https://world-heart-federation.org/news/deaths-from-cardiovascular-disease-surged-60-globally-over-the-last-30-years-report/</u>. Published May 20, 2023. Accessed January 10, 2024.
- Sun J, Qiao Y, Zhao M, Magnussen CG, Xi B. Global, regional, and national burden of cardiovascular diseases in youths and young adults aged 15–39 years in 204

countries/territories, 1990–2019: A systematic analysis of Global Burden of Disease Study 2019. *BMC Med.* 2023;21(1):222.

- Buddeke J, Bots ML, van Dis I, et al. Comorbidity in patients with cardiovascular disease in primary care: A cohort study with routine healthcare data. *Br J Gen Pract*. 2019;69(683):e398-e406.
- 36. van Oostrom SH, Picavet HS, van Gelder BM, et al. Multimorbidity and comorbidity in the Dutch population data from general practices. *BMC Public Health*. 2012;12:715.
- 37. Loprinzi PD. Association of objectively-determined visual impairment and 10-year risk for first atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease event. *Int J Cardiol.* 2015;201:604-605.
- 38. Braunstein JB, Anderson GF, Gerstenblith G, et al. Noncardiac comorbidity increases preventable hospitalizations and mortality among medicare beneficiaries with chronic heart failure. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2003;42(7):1226-1233.
- 39. Chen W, Thomas J, Sadatsafavi M, FitzGerald JM. Risk of cardiovascular comorbidity in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A systematic review and metaanalysis. *Lancet Respir Med.* 2015;3(8):631-639.
- 40. Jacob L, Freyn M, Kalder M, Dinas K, Kostev K. Impact of tobacco smoking on the risk of developing 25 different cancers in the UK: A retrospective study of 422,010 patients followed for up to 30 years. *Oncotarget*. 2018;9(25):17420-17429.
- 41. Anand RG, Ventura HO, Mehra MR. Is heart failure more prevalent in patients with peripheral arterial disease? A meta-analysis. *Congest Heart Fail*. 2007;13(6):319-322.
- 42. Witt BJ, Gami AS, Ballman KV, et al. The incidence of ischemic stroke in chronic heart failure: a meta-analysis. *J Card Fail*. 2007;13(6):489-496.

- 43. Brophy ML, Dong Y, Wu H, Rahman HNA, Song K, Chen H. Eating the dead to keep atherosclerosis at bay. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* 2017;4.
- 44. Mackman N. Role of tissue factor in hemostasis, thrombosis, and vascular development. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2004;24(6):1015-1022.
- 45. Wang JC, Bennett M. Aging and atherosclerosis: Mechanisms, functional consequences, and potential therapeutics for cellular senescence. *Circ Res.* 2012;111(2):245-259.
- 46. Sharma VK. Cerebrovascular disease. In: Quah SR, ed. *International encyclopedia of public health (Second edition)*. Oxford: Academic Press; 2017:455-470.
- Hui C, Tadi P, Patti L. Ischemic stroke. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL):
 StatPearls Publishing; 2022.
- 48. Transient ischemic attack (TIA). National Institute of Neurological Disorders and Stroke. <u>https://www.ninds.nih.gov/health-information/disorders/transient-ischemic-attack-tia#:~:text=A%20transient%20ischemic%20attack%20(TIA,do%20not%20last%20as%20long. Updated November 28, 2023. Accessed January 16, 2024.</u>
- 49. Huang J. Unruptured brain aneurysms. Johns Hopkins Medicine.
 <u>https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/health/conditions-and-diseases/unruptured-brain-aneurysms</u>. Accessed January 16, 2024.
- 50. Kuriakose D, Xiao Z. Pathophysiology and treatment of stroke: Present status and future perspectives. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21(20).
- 51. Types of stroke. Johns Hopkins Medicine.
 <u>https://www.hopkinsmedicine.org/health/conditions-and-diseases/stroke/types-of-stroke#:~:text=Embolic%20strokes%20are%20usually%20caused,and%20without%20any%20warning%20signs</u>. Accessed January 16, 2024.

- 52. Ntaios G, Hart RG. Embolic stroke. *Circulation*. 2017;136(25):2403-2405.
- 53. Rees M. What is a cardiac source of embolism? Medical News Today.
 <u>https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/cardiac-</u>
 <u>embolism#:~:text=A%20cardiac%20embolism%20causes%20a,it%20is%20called%20an</u>
 <u>%20embolism</u>. Published November 24, 2021. Accessed January 16, 2024.
- 54. About peripheral arterial disease (PAD). Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/heart-disease/about/peripheral-arterial-</u> <u>disease.html?CDC_AAref_Val=https://www.cdc.gov/heartdisease/PAD.htm</u>. Published 2022. Updated May 15, 2024. Accessed January 16, 2024.
- 55. Atherosclerosis of aorta. Cleveland Clinic. <u>https://my.clevelandclinic.org/health/diseases/23431-atherosclerosis-of-aorta</u>. Updated June 29, 2022. Accessed January 16, 2024.
- Cardiovascular disease. NHS UK. <u>https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/cardiovascular-disease/</u>.
 Updated April 22, 2022. Accessed January 16, 2024.
- Rafieian-Kopaei M, Setorki M, Doudi M, Baradaran A, Nasri H. Atherosclerosis:
 Process, indicators, risk factors and new hopes. *Int J Prev Med.* 2014;5(8):927-946.
- Francula-Zaninovic S, Nola IA. Management of measurable variable cardiovascular disease' risk factors. *Curr Cardiol Rev.* 2018;14(3):153-163.
- 59. Md. Shah A, Nasiba Binte B, Shopnil A. Perspective chapter: Physiology and pathology of the cardiovascular system. In: David CG, ed. *Novel pathogenesis and treatments for cardiovascular disease*. Rijeka: IntechOpen; 2022:Ch. 1.
- 60. Rodgers JL, Jones J, Bolleddu SI, et al. Cardiovascular risks associated with gender and aging. *J Cardiovasc Dev Dis.* 2019;6(2).

- Sniderman AD, Furberg CD. Age as a modifiable risk factor for cardiovascular disease.
 Lancet. 2008;371(9623):1547-1549.
- 62. Tian F, Chen L, Qian ZM, et al. Ranking age-specific modifiable risk factors for cardiovascular disease and mortality: Evidence from a population-based longitudinal study. *EClinicalMedicine*. 2023;64:102230.
- 63. Bots SH, Peters SAE, Woodward M. Sex differences in coronary heart disease and stroke mortality: A global assessment of the effect of ageing between 1980 and 2010. *BMJ Glob Health.* 2017;2(2):e000298.
- 64. Peters SAE, Muntner P, Woodward M. Sex differences in the prevalence of, and trends in, cardiovascular risk factors, treatment, and control in the united states, 2001 to 2016.
 Circulation. 2019;139(8):1025-1035.
- 65. Gao Z, Chen Z, Sun A, Deng X. Gender differences in cardiovascular disease. *Med Novel Tech Dev.* 2019;4:100025.
- 66. Ardelt AA, McCullough LD, Korach KS, Wang MM, Munzenmaier DH, Hurn PD. Estradiol regulates angiopoietin-1 mRNA expression through estrogen receptor-alpha in a rodent experimental stroke model. *Stroke*. 2005;36(2):337-341.
- Guo X, Razandi M, Pedram A, Kassab G, Levin ER. Estrogen induces vascular wall dilation: Mediation through kinase signaling to nitric oxide and estrogen receptors α and β. *J Biol Chem.* 2005;280(20):19704-19710.
- 68. O'Lone R, Knorr K, Jaffe IZ, et al. Estrogen receptors α and β mediate distinct pathways of vascular gene expression, including genes involved in mitochondrial electron transport and generation of reactive oxygen species. *Mol Endocrinol.* 2007;21(6):1281-1296.

- Kararigas G, Fliegner D, Gustafsson J, Regitz-Zagrosek V. Role of the estrogen/estrogenreceptor-beta axis in the genomic response to pressure overload-induced hypertrophy. *Physiol Genomics*. 2011;43(8):438-446.
- Patten RD, Pourati I, Aronovitz MJ, et al. 17beta-estradiol reduces cardiomyocyte apoptosis in vivo and in vitro via activation of phospho-inositide-3 kinase/Akt signaling. *Circ Res.* 2004;95(7):692-699.
- Winham SJ, de Andrade M, Miller VM. Genetics of cardiovascular disease: Importance of sex and ethnicity. *Atherosclerosis*. 2015;241(1):219-228.
- Turner ME, Farkas J, Dunmire J, Ely D, Milsted A. Which Sry locus is the hypertensive Y chromosome locus? *Hypertension*. 2009;53(2):430-435.
- Daubner SC, Le T, Wang S. Tyrosine hydroxylase and regulation of dopamine synthesis.
 Arch Biochem Biophys. 2011;508(1):1-12.
- 74. Hulley S, Grady D, Bush T, et al. Randomized trial of estrogen plus progestin for secondary prevention of coronary heart disease in postmenopausal women. J Am Med Assoc. 1998;280(7):605-613.
- 75. Rossouw JE, Anderson GL, Prentice RL, et al. Risks and benefits of estrogen plus progestin in healthy postmenopausal women: Principal results from the women's health initiative randomized controlled trial. *J Am Med Assoc.* 2002;288(3).
- Herrington DM, Reboussin DM, Brosnihan KB, et al. Effects of estrogen replacement on the progression of coronary-artery atherosclerosis. *N Engl J Med.* 2000;343(8):522-529.
- Grady D, Herrington D, Bittner V, et al. Cardiovascular disease outcomes during 6.8 years of hormone therapy: Heart and Estrogen/progestin Replacement Study follow-up (HERS II). *J Am Med Assoc.* 2002;288(1):49-57.

- Ali MR, Nacer H, Lawson CA, Khunti K. Racial and ethnic disparities in primary prevention of cardiovascular disease. *Can J Cardiol.* 2024;S0828-282X(24):00076-X.
- 79. Mensah GA, Fuster V. Race, ethnicity, and cardiovascular disease. *J Am Coll Cardiol*.
 2021;78(24):2457-2459.
- Tajeu GS, Safford MM, Howard G, et al. Black-White differences in cardiovascular disease mortality: A prospective US study, 2003-2017. *Am J Public Health*. 2020;110(5):696-703.
- Havranek EP, Mujahid MS, Barr DA, et al. Social determinants of risk and outcomes for cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*. 2015;132(9):873-898.
- He J, Zhu Z, Bundy JD, Dorans KS, Chen J, Hamm LL. Trends in cardiovascular risk factors in US adults by race and ethnicity and socioeconomic status, 1999-2018. JAm Med Assoc. 2021;326(13):1286-1298.
- Mensah GA, Desvigne-Nickens P. Race, ethnicity, and cardiovascular disease. In: Fuster V, Harrington RA, Narula J, Eapen ZJ, eds. *Hurst's the heart, 14e.* New York: McGraw-Hill Education; 2017.
- 84. Carnethon MR, Pu J, Howard G, et al. Cardiovascular health in African Americans: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circulation*. 2017;136(21):e393-e423.
- 85. Ho FK, Gray SR, Welsh P, et al. Ethnic differences in cardiovascular risk: Examining differential exposure and susceptibility to risk factors. *BMC Med.* 2022;20(1):149.
- 86. Rana A, de Souza RJ, Kandasamy S, Lear SA, Anand SS. Cardiovascular risk among South Asians living in Canada: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *CMAJ Open*. 2014;2(3):E183-191.

- Musunuru K, Hershberger RE, Day SM, et al. Genetic testing for inherited cardiovascular diseases: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association. *Circ Genom Precis* Med. 2020;13(4):e000067.
- Vrablik M, Dlouha D, Todorovova V, Stefler D, Hubacek JA. Genetics of cardiovascular disease: How far are we from personalized CVD risk prediction and management? *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021;22(8):4182.
- 89. Poznyak AV, Grechko AV, Wetzker R, Orekhov AN. In search for genes related to atherosclerosis and dyslipidemia using animal models. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2020;21(6):2097.
- 90. Kathiresan S, Srivastava D. Genetics of human cardiovascular disease. *Cell*.
 2012;148(6):1242-1257.
- Cambien F, Tiret L. Genetics of cardiovascular diseases. *Circulation*. 2007;116(15):1714-1724.
- Bull L. Genetics, mutations, and polymorphisms. In. *Madame Curie Bioscience Database*. Austin (TX): Landes Bioscience.
- 93. Vaduganathan M, Mensah GA, Turco JV, Fuster V, Roth GA. The global burden of cardiovascular diseases and risk. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2022;80(25):2361-2371.
- 94. Gallucci G, Tartarone A, Lerose R, Lalinga AV, Capobianco AM. Cardiovascular risk of smoking and benefits of smoking cessation. *J Thorac Dis.* 2020;12(7):3866-3876.
- 95. Bernhard D, Csordas A, Henderson B, Rossmann A, Kind M, Wick G. Cigarette smoke metal-catalyzed protein oxidation leads to vascular endothelial cell contraction by depolymerization of microtubules. *The FASEB Journal*. 2005;19(9):1096-1107.

- 96. Frei B, Forte TM, Ames BN, Cross CE. Gas phase oxidants of cigarette smoke induce lipid peroxidation and changes in lipoprotein properties in human blood plasma. Protective effects of ascorbic acid. *Biochem J.* 1991;277(Pt 1):133-138.
- 97. Tuder RM, Wood K, Taraseviciene L, Flores SC, Voekel NF. Cigarette smoke extract decreases the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor by cultured cells and triggers apoptosis of pulmonary endothelial cells. *Chest.* 2000;117(5 Suppl 1):241s-242s.
- 98. Wickenden JA, Clarke MC, Rossi AG, et al. Cigarette smoke prevents apoptosis through inhibition of caspase activation and induces necrosis. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol.* 2003;29(5):562-570.
- 99. Bernhard D, Pfister G, Huck CW, et al. Disruption of vascular endothelial homeostasis by tobacco smoke—impact on atherosclerosis. *The FASEB Journal*. 2003;17(15):2302-2304.
- Bernhard D, Rossmann A, Wick G. Metals in cigarette smoke. *IUBMB Life*.2005;57(12):805-809.
- 101. Lavie CJ, Ozemek C, Carbone S, Katzmarzyk PT, Blair SN. Sedentary behavior, exercise, and cardiovascular health. *Circ Res.* 2019;124(5):799-815.
- 102. Lee IM, Shiroma EJ, Lobelo F, Puska P, Blair SN, Katzmarzyk PT. Effect of physical inactivity on major non-communicable diseases worldwide: An analysis of burden of disease and life expectancy. *Lancet.* 2012;380(9838):219-229.
- 103. Di Raimondo D, Musiari G, Rizzo G, Tuttolomondo A, Pinto A. Effects of physical inactivity in cardiovascular biomarkers. *J Lab Precis Med.* 2020;5.
- 104. Kubota Y, Evenson KR, Maclehose RF, Roetker NS, Joshu CE, Folsom AR. Physical activity and lifetime risk of cardiovascular disease and cancer. *Med Sci Sports Exerc*. 2017;49(8):1599-1605.

- 105. Katzmarzyk PT, Friedenreich C, Shiroma EJ, Lee IM. Physical inactivity and noncommunicable disease burden in low-income, middle-income and high-income countries. *Br J Sports Med.* 2022;56(2):101-106.
- 106. Global health risks: Mortality and burden of disease attributable to selected major risks. <u>https://iris.who.int/bitstream/handle/10665/44203/9789241563871_eng.pdf?sequence=1</u>. Accessed January 25, 2024.
- 107. Boyle LJ, Credeur DP, Jenkins NT, et al. Impact of reduced daily physical activity on conduit artery flow-mediated dilation and circulating endothelial microparticles. *J Appl Physiol.* 2013;115(10):1519-1525.
- 108. Fuchs FD, Whelton PK. High blood pressure and cardiovascular disease. *Hypertension*.
 2020;75(2):285-292.
- 109. Poznyak AV, Sadykhov NK, Kartuesov AG, et al. Hypertension as a risk factor for atherosclerosis: Cardiovascular risk assessment. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* 2022;9.
- 110. Iqbal AM, Jamal SF. Essential hypertension. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- 111. Tackling G, Borhade MB. Hypertensive heart disease. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- 112. Ettehad D, Emdin CA, Kiran A, et al. Blood pressure lowering for prevention of cardiovascular disease and death: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Lancet*. 2016;387(10022):957-967.
- 113. Rao S, Li Y, Nazarzadeh M, et al. Systolic blood pressure and cardiovascular risk in patients with diabetes: A prospective cohort study. *Hypertension*. 2023;80(3):598-607.

- Maruhashi T, Higashi Y. Cardiovascular risk in patients receiving antihypertensive drug treatment from the perspective of endothelial function. *Hypertens Res.* 2022;45(8):1322-1333.
- 115. Malik R, Georgakis MK, Vujkovic M, et al. Relationship between blood pressure and incident cardiovascular disease: Linear and nonlinear Mendelian randomization analyses. *Hypertension*. 2021;77(6):2004-2013.
- 116. Wisløff T, Selmer RM, Halvorsen S, Fretheim A, Norheim OF, Kristiansen IS. Choice of generic antihypertensive drugs for the primary prevention of cardiovascular disease - A cost-effectiveness analysis. *BMC Cardiovasc Disord*. 2012;12(1):26.
- Juul F, Vaidean G, Parekh N. Ultra-processed foods and cardiovascular diseases:
 Potential mechanisms of action. *Adv Nutr.* 2021;12(5):1673-1680.
- 118. Anand SS, Hawkes C, de Souza RJ, et al. Food consumption and its impact on cardiovascular disease: Importance of solutions focused on the globalized food system: A report from the workshop convened by the World Heart Federation. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2015;66(14):1590-1614.
- 119. Ardisson Korat AV, Willett WC, Hu FB. Diet, lifestyle, and genetic risk factors for type 2 diabetes: A review from the Nurses' Health Study, Nurses' Health Study 2, and Health Professionals' Follow-up Study. *Curr Nutr Rep.* 2014;3(4):345-354.
- Casas R, Castro-Barquero S, Estruch R, Sacanella E. Nutrition and cardiovascular health. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2018;19(12).
- 121. Li J, Lee DH, Hu J, et al. Dietary inflammatory potential and risk of cardiovascular disease among men and women in the U.S. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2020;76(19):2181-2193.

- 122. Widmer RJ, Flammer AJ, Lerman LO, Lerman A. The Mediterranean diet, its components, and cardiovascular disease. *Am J Med.* 2015;128(3):229-238.
- Hoek AG, van Oort S, Mukamal KJ, Beulens JWJ. Alcohol consumption and cardiovascular disease risk: Placing new data in context. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2022;24(1):51-59.
- Husain K, Ansari RA, Ferder L. Alcohol-induced hypertension: Mechanism and prevention. *World J Cardiol.* 2014;6(5):245-252.
- 125. Nygren K, Hammarström A, Rolandsson O. Binge drinking and total alcohol consumption from 16 to 43 years of age are associated with elevated fasting plasma glucose in women: Results from the northern Swedish cohort study. *BMC Public Health*. 2017;17(1):509.
- 126. Wannamethee SG, Camargo CA, Jr, Manson JE, Willett WC, Rimm EB. Alcohol drinking patterns and risk of type 2 diabetes mellitus among younger women. *Arch Intern Med.* 2003;163(11):1329-1336.
- 127. Piano MR. Alcohol's effects on the cardiovascular system. *Alcohol Res.* 2017;38(2):219-241.
- 128. Kleinhenz DJ, Sutliff RL, Polikandriotis JA, et al. Chronic ethanol ingestion increases aortic endothelial nitric oxide synthase expression and nitric oxide production in the rat. *Alcohol Clin Exp Res.* 2008;32(1):148-154.
- 129. Tirapelli CR, Leone AFC, Yogi A, et al. Ethanol consumption increases blood pressure and alters the responsiveness of the mesenteric vasculature in rats. *J Pharm Pharmacol*. 2010;60(3):331-341.

- 130. Dal Canto E, Ceriello A, Rydén L, et al. Diabetes as a cardiovascular risk factor: An overview of global trends of macro and micro vascular complications. *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* 2020;26(2 suppl):25-32.
- Bertoluci MC, Rocha VZ. Cardiovascular risk assessment in patients with diabetes. Diabetol Metab Syndr. 2017;9:25.
- 132. De Rosa S, Arcidiacono B, Chiefari E, Brunetti A, Indolfi C, Foti DP. Type 2 diabetes mellitus and cardiovascular disease: Genetic and epigenetic links. *Front Endocrinol* (*Lausanne*). 2018;9:2.
- Wang CCL, Hess CN, Hiatt WR, Goldfine AB. Clinical update: Cardiovascular disease in diabetes mellitus. *Circulation*. 2016;133(24):2459-2502.
- 134. Ceriello A, Taboga C, Tonutti L, et al. Evidence for an independent and cumulative effect of postprandial hypertriglyceridemia and hyperglycemia on endothelial dysfunction and oxidative stress generation. *Circulation*. 2002;106(10):1211-1218.
- 135. Perkins JM, Joy NG, Tate DB, Davis SN. Acute effects of hyperinsulinemia and hyperglycemia on vascular inflammatory biomarkers and endothelial function in overweight and obese humans. *Am J Physiol-Endocrinol Metab.* 2015;309(2):E168-E176.
- 136. Ceriello A, Quagliaro L, Piconi L, et al. Effect of postprandial hypertriglyceridemia and hyperglycemia on circulating adhesion molecules and oxidative stress generation and the possible role of simvastatin treatment. *Diabetes*. 2004;53(3):701-710.
- 137. Ceriello A, Falleti E, Motz E, et al. Hyperglycemia-induced circulating ICAM-1 increase in diabetes mellitus: The possible role of oxidative stress. *Horm Metab Res.* 1998;30(3):146-149.

- 138. Nappo F, Esposito K, Cioffi M, et al. Postprandial endothelial activation in healthy subjects and in type 2 diabetic patients: Role of fat and carbohydrate meals. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2002;39(7):1145-1150.
- 139. Kowalska I, Straczkowski M, Szelachowska M, et al. Circulating E-selectin, vascular cell adhesion molecule-1, and intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in men with coronary artery disease assessed by angiography and disturbances of carbohydrate metabolism. *Metabolism.* 2002;51(6):733-736.
- 140. Poornima IG, Parikh P, Shannon RP. Diabetic cardiomyopathy. *Circ Res.* 2006;98(5):596-605.
- 141. Coelho-Filho OR, Shah RV, Mitchell R, et al. Quantification of cardiomyocyte hypertrophy by cardiac magnetic resonance: Implications for early cardiac remodeling. *Circulation*. 2013;128(11):1225-1233.
- 142. Pahwa R, Jialal I. Atherosclerosis. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Barquera S, Pedroza-Tobías A, Medina C, et al. Global overview of the epidemiology of atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Arch Med Res.* 2015;46(5):328-338.
- Grundy SM, Stone NJ, Bailey AL, et al. 2018
 AHA/ACC/AACVPR/AAPA/ABC/ACPM/ADA/AGS/APhA/ASPC/NLA/PCNA
 Guideline on the Management of Blood Cholesterol: A report of the American College of
 Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. *Circulation.* 2019;139(25):e1082-e1143.

- 145. Poznyak AV, Sukhorukov VN, Eremin, II, Nadelyaeva, II, Orekhov AN. Diagnostics of atherosclerosis: Overview of the existing methods. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* 2023;10:1134097.
- 146. Wong ND, Budoff MJ, Ferdinand K, et al. Atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease risk assessment: An American Society for Preventive Cardiology clinical practice statement. *Am J Prev Cardiol.* 2022;10:100335.
- 147. Batty M, Bennett MR, Yu E. The role of oxidative stress in atherosclerosis. *Cells*. 2022;11(23).
- 148. Flynn MC, Pernes G, Lee MKS, Nagareddy PR, Murphy AJ. Monocytes, macrophages, and metabolic disease in atherosclerosis. *Front Pharmacol.* 2019;10.
- 149. Kim KW, Ivanov S, Williams JW. Monocyte recruitment, specification, and function in atherosclerosis. *Cells.* 2020;10(1).
- 150. Morioka S, Perry JSA, Raymond MH, et al. Efferocytosis induces a novel SLC program to promote glucose uptake and lactate release. *Nature*. 2018;563(7733):714-718.
- 151. Florance I, Ramasubbu S. Current understanding on the role of lipids in macrophages and associated diseases. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2022;24(1).
- 152. Lusis AJ. Atherosclerosis. Nature. 2000;407(6801):233-241.
- 153. Bobryshev YV, Ivanova EA, Chistiakov DA, Nikiforov NG, Orekhov AN. Macrophages and their role in atherosclerosis: Pathophysiology and transcriptome analysis. *Biomed Res Int.* 2016;2016:9582430.
- 154. Aikawa M, Libby P. The vulnerable atherosclerotic plaque: Pathogenesis and therapeutic approach. *Cardiovasc Pathol.* 2004;13(3):125-138.

- 155. Tibaut M, Caprnda M, Kubatka P, et al. Markers of atherosclerosis: Part 1 Serological markers. *Heart Lung Circ.* 2019;28(5):667-677.
- 156. Sniderman AD, Thanassoulis G, Glavinovic T, et al. Apolipoprotein B particles and cardiovascular disease: A narrative review. *JAMA Cardiol.* 2019;4(12):1287-1295.
- Venugopal SK, Anoruo M, Jialal I. Biochemistry, low density lipoprotein. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Sacks FM, Campos H. Low-density lipoprotein size and cardiovascular disease: A reappraisal. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2003;88(10):4525-4532.
- Qiao Y-N, Zou Y-L, Guo S-D. Low-density lipoprotein particles in atherosclerosis. *Front Physiol.* 2022;13.
- 160. Rabizadeh S, Rajab A, Mechanick JI, et al. LDL/apo B ratio predict coronary heart disease in Type 2 diabetes independent of ASCVD risk score: A case-cohort study. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* 2021;31(5):1477-1485.
- 161. Trompet S, Packard CJ, Jukema JW. Plasma apolipoprotein-B is an important risk factor for cardiovascular disease, and its assessment should be routine clinical practice. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* 2018;29(1):51-52.
- Behbodikhah J, Ahmed S, Elyasi A, et al. Apolipoprotein B and cardiovascular disease:Biomarker and potential therapeutic target. *Metabolites*. 2021;11(10).
- 163. Bhargava S, de la Puente-Secades S, Schurgers L, Jankowski J. Lipids and lipoproteins in cardiovascular diseases: A classification. *Trends Endocrinol Metab.* 2022;33(6):409-423.
- 164. Pischon T, Girman CJ, Sacks FM, Rifai N, Stampfer MJ, Rimm EB. Non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and apolipoprotein B in the prediction of coronary heart disease in men. *Circulation*. 2005;112(22):3375-3383.

- Moss AJ, Goldstein RE, Marder VJ, et al. Thrombogenic factors and recurrent coronary events. *Circulation*. 1999;99(19):2517-2522.
- 166. Talmud PJ, Hawe E, Miller GJ, Humphries SE. Nonfasting apolipoprotein B and triglyceride levels as a useful predictor of coronary heart disease risk in middle-aged UK men. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2002;22(11):1918-1923.
- 167. Gotto AM, Whitney E, Stein EA, et al. Relation between baseline and on-treatment lipid parameters and first acute major coronary events in the Air Force/Texas Coronary Atherosclerosis Prevention Study (AFCAPS/TexCAPS). *Circulation*. 2000;101(5):477-484.
- Avogaro P, Bittolo Bon G, Avogaro P, Cazzolato G, Quinci GB. Are apolipoproteins better discriminators than lipids for atherosclerosis? *Lancet*. 1979;313(8122):901-903.
- 169. Benn M, Nordestgaard BG, Jensen GB, Tybjærg-Hansen A. Improving prediction of ischemic cardiovascular disease in the general population using apolipoprotein B. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2007;27(3):661-670.
- 170. Kottke BA, Zinsmeister AR, Holmes DR, Kneller RW, Hallaway BJ, Mao SJT.Apolipoproteins and coronary artery disease. *Mayo Clin Proc.* 1986;61(5):313-320.
- Reinhart RA, Gani K, Arndt MR, Broste SK. Apolipoproteins A-I and B as predictors of angiographically defined coronary artery disease. *Arch Intern Med.* 1990;150(8):1629-1633.
- Upadhyay RK. Emerging risk biomarkers in cardiovascular diseases and disorders. J Lipids. 2015;2015:971453.

- 173. Castelli WP, Garrison RJ, Wilson PW, Abbott RD, Kalousdian S, Kannel WB. Incidence of coronary heart disease and lipoprotein cholesterol levels. The Framingham Study. J Am Med Assoc. 1986;256(20):2835-2838.
- 174. Gordon DJ, Probstfield JL, Garrison RJ, et al. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cardiovascular disease. Four prospective American studies. *Circulation*. 1989;79(1):8-15.
- 175. Rader DJ, Hovingh GK. HDL and cardiovascular disease. *Lancet.* 2014;384(9943):618-625.
- 176. Goldbourt U, Yaari S, Medalie JH. Isolated low HDL cholesterol as a risk factor for coronary heart disease mortality. A 21-year follow-up of 8000 men. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1997;17(1):107-113.
- 177. Toth PP. High-density lipoprotein and cardiovascular risk. *Circulation*.2004;109(15):1809-1812.
- 178. Bandeali S, Farmer J. High-density lipoprotein and atherosclerosis: The role of antioxidant activity. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2012;14(2):101-107.
- 179. Casula M, Colpani O, Xie S, Catapano AL, Baragetti A. HDL in atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease: In search of a role. *Cells*. 2021;10(8).
- 180. Huang YQ, Liu XC, Lo K, et al. The U shaped relationship between high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and all-cause or cause-specific mortality in adult population. *Clin Interv Aging*. 2020;15:1883-1896.
- 181. Li H, Qian F, Zuo Y, et al. U-shaped relationship of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol and incidence of total, ischemic and hemorrhagic stroke: A prospective cohort study. *Stroke*. 2022;53(5):1624-1632.
- 182. Allard-Ratick MP, Sandesara P, Quyyumi AA, Sperling LS. Everything in moderation: Investigating the U-shaped link between HDL cholesterol and adverse outcomes. US Cardiology Review. 2019;13(1):49–53.
- 183. Haase CL, Tybjærg-Hansen A, Ali Qayyum A, Schou J, Nordestgaard BG, Frikke-Schmidt R. LCAT, HDL cholesterol and ischemic cardiovascular disease: A Mendelian randomization study of HDL cholesterol in 54,500 individuals. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* 2012;97(2):E248-E256.
- Voight BF, Peloso GM, Orho-Melander M, et al. Plasma HDL cholesterol and risk of myocardial infarction: A mendelian randomisation study. *Lancet*. 2012;380(9841):572-580.
- 185. Yang Y, Han K, Park SH, Kim MK, Yoon KH, Lee SH. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol and the risk of myocardial infarction, stroke, and cause-specific mortality: A nationwide cohort study in Korea. *J Lipid Atheroscler*. 2021;10(1):74-87.
- 186. Cho YK, Jung CH. HDL-C and Cardiovascular Risk: You Don't Need to Worry about Extremely High HDL-C Levels. *J Lipid Atheroscler*. 2021;10(1):57-61.
- 187. Martin SS, Khokhar AA, May HT, et al. HDL cholesterol subclasses, myocardial infarction, and mortality in secondary prevention: The Lipoprotein Investigators Collaborative. *Eur Heart J.* 2015;36(1):22-30.
- 188. Freedman DS, Otvos JD, Jeyarajah EJ, et al. Sex and age differences in lipoprotein subclasses measured by nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy: The Framingham Study. *Clin Chem.* 2004;50(7):1189-1200.
- Mangaraj M, Nanda R, Panda S. Apolipoprotein A-I: A molecule of diverse function. *Indian J Clin Biochem.* 2016;31(3):253-259.

- 190. van Wijk DF, Stroes ESG, Dallinga-Thie GM. Novel insights into anti-inflammatory actions of HDL. *Atherosclerosis*. 2010;212(2):388-389.
- 191. Faaborg-Andersen CC, Liu C, Subramaniyam V, et al. U-shaped relationship between apolipoprotein A1 levels and mortality risk in men and women. *Eur J Prev Cardiol.* 2023;30(4):293-304.
- 192. Ji Z, Liu G, Zhang R, et al. High-density lipoprotein cholesterol to apolipoprotein A-1 ratio is an important indicator predicting in-hospital death in patients with acute coronary syndrome. *Cardiol J.* 2024;31(2):251-260.
- 193. Kastelein JJP, van der Steeg WA, Holme I, et al. Lipids, apolipoproteins, and their ratios in relation to cardiovascular events with statin treatment. *Circulation*. 2008;117(23):3002-3009.
- 194. Yusuf S, Hawken S, Ôunpuu S, et al. Effect of potentially modifiable risk factors associated with myocardial infarction in 52 countries (the INTERHEART study): Casecontrol study. *The Lancet*. 2004;364(9438):937-952.
- 195. Lappegård KT, Kjellmo CA, Hovland A. High-density lipoprotein subfractions: Much ado about nothing or clinically important? *Biomedicines*. 2021;9(7).
- Ndrepepa G. High-density lipoprotein: A double-edged sword in cardiovascular physiology and pathophysiology. *J Lab Precis Med.* 2021;6.
- 197. Kontush A, Lindahl M, Lhomme M, Calabresi L, Chapman MJ, Davidson WS. Structure of HDL: Particle subclasses and molecular components. In: von Eckardstein A, Kardassis D, eds. *High density lipoproteins: From biological understanding to clinical exploitation*. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2015:3-51.

- 198. Francis GA. Chapter 15 High-density lipoproteins: Metabolism and protective roles against atherosclerosis. In: Ridgway ND, McLeod RS, eds. *Biochemistry of lipids, lipoproteins and membranes (Sixth edition)*. Boston: Elsevier; 2016:437-457.
- Stieger B. ABC1, ATP Binding Cassette Permease 1. In: Enna SJ, Bylund DB, eds.
 xPharm: The comprehensive pharmacology reference. New York: Elsevier; 2007:1-3.
- 200. Marques LR, Diniz TA, Antunes BM, et al. Reverse cholesterol transport: Molecular mechanisms and the non-medical approach to enhance HDL cholesterol. *Front Physiol.* 2018;9:526.
- 201. Natarajan P, Ray KK, Cannon CP. High-density lipoprotein and coronary heart disease: Current and future therapies. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2010;55(13):1283-1299.
- 202. Kontush A, Chantepie S, Chapman MJ. Small, dense HDL particles exert potent protection of atherogenic LDL against oxidative stress. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23(10):1881-1888.
- 203. Zerrad-Saadi A, Therond P, Chantepie S, et al. HDL3-mediated inactivation of LDLassociated phospholipid hydroperoxides is determined by the redox status of apolipoprotein A-I and HDL particle surface lipid rigidity. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2009;29(12):2169-2175.
- 204. Jomard A, Osto E. High density lipoproteins: Metabolism, function, and therapeutic potential. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* 2020;7.
- 205. Florea G, Tudorache IF, Fuior EV, et al. Apolipoprotein A-II, a player in multiple processes and diseases. *Biomedicines*. 2022;10(7).

- 206. Blanco-Vaca F, Escolà-Gil JC, Martín-Campos JM, Julve J. Role of apoA-II in lipid metabolism and atherosclerosis: Advances in the study of an enigmatic protein. *J Lipid Res.* 2001;42(11):1727-1739.
- 207. Castellani LW, Navab M, Van Lenten BJ, et al. Overexpression of apolipoprotein AII in transgenic mice converts high density lipoproteins to proinflammatory particles. *J Clin Invest.* 1997;100(2):464-474.
- 208. Chiesa G, Parolini C, Canavesi M, et al. Human apolipoproteins A-I and A-II in cell cholesterol efflux: Studies with transgenic mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1998;18(9):1417-1423.
- Schultz JR, Verstuyft JG, Gong EL, Nichols AV, Rubin EM. Protein composition determines the anti-atherogenic properties of HDL in transgenic mice. *Nature*. 1993;365(6448):762-764.
- 210. Labeur C, Lambert G, Van Cauteren T, et al. Displacement of apo A-I from HDL by apo A-II or its C-terminal helix promotes the formation of pre-β1 migrating particles and decreases LCAT activation. *Atherosclerosis*. 1998;139(2):351-362.
- 211. Lambert G, Decout A, Vanloo B, et al. The C-terminal helix of human apolipoprotein AII promotes the fusion of unilamellar liposomes and displaces apolipoprotein AI from high-density lipoproteins. *Eur J Biochem.* 1998;253(1):328-338.
- Sirtori CR, Corsini A, Ruscica M. The role of high-density lipoprotein cholesterol in 2022. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2022;24(5):365-377.
- Heinecke JW. The HDL proteome: A marker--and perhaps mediator--of coronary artery disease. *J Lipid Res.* 2009;50 Suppl(Suppl):S167-171.

- 214. Finamore F, Nieddu G, Rocchiccioli S, et al. Apolipoprotein signature of HDL and LDL from atherosclerotic patients in relation with carotid plaque typology: A preliminary report. *Biomedicines*. 2021;9(9):1156.
- 215. He Y, Song HD, Anantharamaiah GM, et al. Apolipoprotein A1 forms 5/5 and 5/4 antiparallel dimers in human high-density lipoprotein. *Mol Cell Proteomics*.
 2019;18(5):854a-864.
- 216. Yelamanchili D, Liu J, Gotto AM, Jr., et al. Highly conserved amino acid residues in apolipoprotein A1 discordantly induce high density lipoprotein assembly in vitro and in vivo. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids*. 2020;1865(12):158794.
- 217. Gordon SM. Chapter 12 Proteomic diversity in HDL: A driving force for particle function and target for therapeutic intervention. In: Komoda T, ed. *The HDL handbook (Second edition)*. Boston: Academic Press; 2014:293-322.
- 218. Subramanian SP, Gundry RL. The known unknowns of apolipoprotein glycosylation in health and disease. *iScience*. 2022;25(9):105031.
- 219. Xu X, Song Z, Mao B, Xu G. Apolipoprotein A1-related proteins and reverse cholesterol transport in antiatherosclerosis therapy: Recent progress and future perspectives. *Cardiovasc Ther.* 2022;2022:4610834.
- 220. Gorbet MB, Sefton MV. Review: Biomaterial-associated thrombosis: Roles of coagulation factors, complement, platelets and leukocytes. In: Williams DF, ed. *The biomaterials: Silver jubilee compendium*. Oxford: Elsevier Science; 2004:219-241.
- 221. Percy MG, Gründling A. Lipoteichoic acid synthesis and function in gram-positive bacteria. *Annu Rev Microbiol.* 2014;68:81-100.

- 222. Moore RE, Kawashiri MA, Kitajima K, et al. Apolipoprotein A-I deficiency results in markedly increased atherosclerosis in mice lacking the LDL receptor. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23(10):1914-1920.
- 223. Moore RE, Navab M, Millar JS, et al. Increased atherosclerosis in mice lacking apolipoprotein A-I attributable to both impaired reverse cholesterol transport and increased inflammation. *Circ Res.* 2005;97(8):763-771.
- 224. Apolipoprotein A-I deficiency. Orphanet. <u>https://www.orpha.net/en/disease/detail/425#:~:text=A%20rare%20lipoprotein%20metab</u> <u>olism%20disorder,coronary%20heart%20disease%20(CHD).&text=Synonym(s)%3A,Ap</u> <u>oA%2DI%20deficiency</u>. Updated December 2013. Accessed August 1, 2024.
- 225. Magi-Galluzzi C, Zhou M, Epstein JI. Chapter 1 Non-neoplastic diseases of the prostate. In: Zhou M, Magi-Galluzzi C, eds. *Genitourinary pathology*. Philadelphia: Churchill Livingstone; 2007:1-55.
- 226. Wilson SE, Sampaio LP, Shiju TM, Hilgert GSL, de Oliveira RC. Corneal opacity: Cell biological determinants of the transition from transparency to transient haze to scarring fibrosis, and resolution, after injury. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* 2022;63(1):22.
- 227. Ng DS, Vezina C, Wolever TS, Kuksis A, Hegele RA, Connelly PW. Apolipoprotein A-I deficiency. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1995;15(12):2157-2164.
- Bhale AS, Venkataraman K. Leveraging knowledge of HDLs major protein ApoA1: Structure, function, mutations, and potential therapeutics. *Biomed Pharmacother*.
 2022;154:113634.
- 229. Koike T, Koike Y, Yang D, et al. Human apolipoprotein A-II reduces atherosclerosis in knock-in rabbits. *Atherosclerosis*. 2021;316:32-40.

- 230. Andraski AB, Singh SA, Higashi H, Lee LH, Aikawa M, Sacks FM. The distinct metabolism between large and small HDL indicates unique origins of human apolipoprotein A4. JCI Insight. 2023;8(8).
- Qu J, Ko CW, Tso P, Bhargava A. Apolipoprotein A-IV: A multifunctional protein involved in protection against atherosclerosis and diabetes. *Cells.* 2019;8(4).
- 232. Shearston K, Tan JTM, Cochran BJ, Rye K-A. Inhibition of vascular inflammation by apolipoprotein A-IV. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* 2022;9.
- 233. Kris-Etherton PM, Sanders L, Lawler O, Riley T, Maki K. Hyperlipidemia. In: Caballero B, ed. *Encyclopedia of human nutrition (Fourth edition)*. Oxford: Academic Press; 2023:361-379.
- 234. Kei AA, Filippatos TD, Tsimihodimos V, Elisaf MS. A review of the role of apolipoprotein C-II in lipoprotein metabolism and cardiovascular disease. *Metabolism*. 2012;61(7):906-921.
- 235. Furtado JD, Ruotolo G, Nicholls SJ, Dullea R, Carvajal-Gonzalez S, Sacks FM.
 Pharmacological inhibition of CETP (Cholesteryl Ester Transfer Protein) increases HDL (High-Density Lipoprotein) that contains ApoC3 and other HDL subspecies associated with higher risk of coronary heart disease. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2022;42(2):227-237.
- 236. Braesch-Andersen S, Beckman L, Paulie S, Kumagai-Braesch M. ApoD mediates binding of HDL to LDL and to growing T24 carcinoma. *PLoS One*. 2014;9(12):e115180.
- 237. Chou C-Y, Lin Y-L, Huang Y-C, et al. Structural variation in human apolipoprotein E3 and E4: Secondary structure, tertiary structure, and size distribution. *Biophys J*. 2005;88(1):455-466.

- 238. Sorokin AV, Patel N, Abdelrahman KM, et al. Complex association of apolipoprotein E– containing HDL with coronary artery disease burden in cardiovascular disease. *JCI Insight.* 2022;7(10).
- 239. Mendivil CO, Rimm EB, Furtado J, Sacks FM. Apolipoprotein E in VLDL and LDL with apolipoprotein C-III is associated with a lower risk of coronary heart disease. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2013;2(3):e000130.
- 240. Morton RE, Mihna D. Apolipoprotein F concentration, activity, and the properties of LDL controlling ApoF activation in hyperlipidemic plasma. *J Lipid Res.* 2022;63(2):100166.
- 241. Lagor WR, Brown RJ, Toh SA, et al. Overexpression of apolipoprotein F reduces HDL cholesterol levels in vivo. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2009;29(1):40-46.
- 242. Mather KA, Thalamuthu A, Oldmeadow C, et al. Genome-wide significant results identified for plasma apolipoprotein H levels in middle-aged and older adults. *Scientific Reports*. 2016;6(1):23675.
- 243. Leduc MS, Shimmin LC, Klos KL, Hanis C, Boerwinkle E, Hixson JE. Comprehensive evaluation of apolipoprotein H gene (APOH) variation identifies novel associations with measures of lipid metabolism in GENOA. *J Lipid Res.* 2008;49(12):2648-2656.
- Wilkens TL, Sørensen H, Jensen MK, Furtado JD, Dragsted LO, Mukamal KJ.
 Associations between alcohol consumption and HDL subspecies defined by ApoC3,
 ApoE and ApoJ: The Cardiovascular Health Study. *Curr Probl Cardiol.*2023;48(1):101395.

- 245. de Silva HV, Stuart WD, Duvic CR, et al. A 70-kDa apolipoprotein designated ApoJ is a marker for subclasses of human plasma high density lipoproteins. *J Biol Chem*. 1990;265(22):13240-13247.
- 246. Lan X, Wen H, Lederman R, et al. Protein domains of APOL1 and its risk variants. *Exp* Mol Pathol. 2015;99(1):139-144.
- 247. Cubedo J, Padró T, Alonso R, Mata P, Badimon L. ApoL1 levels in high density lipoprotein and cardiovascular event presentation in patients with familial hypercholesterolemia. *J Lipid Res.* 2016;57(6):1059-1073.
- 248. Pirillo A, Catapano AL, Norata GD. HDL in infectious diseases and sepsis. In: von Eckardstein A, Kardassis D, eds. *High density lipoproteins: From biological understanding to clinical exploitation*. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2015:483-508.
- 249. Feingold KR, Grunfeld C. The role of HDL in innate immunity. *J Lipid Res*. 2011;52(1):1-3.
- 250. Ruiz M, Okada H, Dahlbäck B. HDL-associated ApoM is anti-apoptotic by delivering sphingosine 1-phosphate to S1P1 & S1P3 receptors on vascular endothelium. *Lipids Health Dis.* 2017;16(1):36.
- 251. Luo G, Zhang X, Nilsson-Ehle P, Xu N. Apolipoprotein M. Lipids Health Dis. 2004;3:21.
- 252. Denimal D. Antioxidant and anti-Inflammatory functions of high-density lipoprotein in Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes. *Antioxidants*. 2024;13(1):57.
- 253. Chen J, Hu J, Guo X, et al. Apolipoprotein O modulates cholesterol metabolism via NRF2/CYB5R3 independent of LDL receptor. *Cell Death & Disease*. 2024;15(6):389.

- 254. Taler-Verčič A, Goličnik M, Bavec A. The structure and function of Paraoxonase-1 and its comparison to Paraoxonase-2 and -3. *Molecules*. 2020;25(24).
- 255. González FEM, Ponce-RuÍz N, Rojas-GarcÍa AE, et al. PON1 concentration and highdensity lipoprotein characteristics as cardiovascular biomarkers. *Arch Med Sci Atheroscler Dis.* 2019;4:e47-e54.
- 256. Stafforini DM. Chapter Six Plasma PAF-AH (PLA2G7): Biochemical properties, association with LDLs and HDLs, and regulation of expression. In: Inoue K, Stafforini DM, Tamanoi F, eds. *The enzymes*. Vol 38. Academic Press; 2015:71-93.
- 257. Benítez S, Sánchez-Quesada JL, Ribas V, et al. Platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase is mainly associated with electronegative low-density lipoprotein subfraction. *Circulation*. 2003;108(1):92-96.
- 258. Noto H, Hara M, Karasawa K, et al. Human plasma platelet-activating factor acetylhydrolase binds to all the murine lipoproteins, conferring protection against oxidative stress. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23(5):829-835.
- 259. Kelesidis T, Papakonstantinou V, Detopoulou P, et al. The role of platelet-activating factor in chronic inflammation, immune activation, and comorbidities associated with HIV infection. *AIDS Rev.* 2015;17(4):191-201.
- 260. Rousset X, Shamburek R, Vaisman B, Amar M, Remaley AT. Lecithin cholesterol acyltransferase: an anti- or pro-atherogenic factor? *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2011;13(3):249-256.
- 261. Raposo HF, Forsythe P, Chausse B, et al. Novel role of cholesteryl ester transfer protein (CETP): attenuation of adiposity by enhancing lipolysis and brown adipose tissue activity. *Metabolism.* 2021;114:154429.

- 262. Barter PJ, Brewer HB, Chapman MJ, Hennekens CH, Rader DJ, Tall AR. Cholesteryl ester transfer protein. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2003;23(2):160-167.
- Jiang XC, Yu Y. The role of phospholipid transfer protein in the development of atherosclerosis. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2021;23(3):9.
- 264. Cheung MC, Vaisar T, Han X, Heinecke JW, Albers JJ. Phospholipid transfer protein in human plasma associates with proteins linked to immunity and inflammation. *Biochemistry*. 2010;49(34):7314-7322.
- Bardhan M, Kaushik R. Physiology, complement cascade. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*.
 Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024.
- Middleton O, Wheadon H, Michie AM. Classical complement pathway. In: Ratcliffe
 MJH, ed. *Encyclopedia of immunobiology*. Oxford: Academic Press; 2016:318-324.
- 267. Xin Y, Hertle E, van der Kallen CJH, et al. C3 and alternative pathway components are associated with an adverse lipoprotein subclass profile: The CODAM study. *J Clin Lipidol.* 2021;15(2):311-319.
- 268. Wang H, Liu M. Complement C4, infections, and autoimmune diseases. *Front Immunol*. 2021;12:694928.
- 269. Parra S, Vives G, Ferré R, et al. Complement system and small HDL particles are associated with subclinical atherosclerosis in SLE patients. *Atherosclerosis*.
 2012;225(1):224-230.
- 270. Gordon SM, Remaley AT. High density lipoproteins are modulators of protease activity: Implications in inflammation, complement activation, and atherothrombosis. *Atherosclerosis*. 2017;259:104-113.

- 271. Frank MM, Sullivan KE. Chapter 42 Complement deficiencies. In: Sullivan KE, Stiehm
 ER, eds. *Stiehm's immune deficiencies (Second edition)*. Academic Press; 2020:919-947.
- 272. Kubota K, Hayashi M, Oishi N, Sakaki Y. Polymorphism of the human vitronectin gene causes vitronectin blood type. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* 1990;167(3):1355-1360.
- 273. Mobilia M, Karakashian A, Neupane KR, et al. Enhancement of high-density lipoproteinassociated protease inhibitor activity prevents atherosclerosis progression. *Atherosclerosis*. 2024:118544.
- 274. Davidson WS, Shah AS, Sexmith H, Gordon SM. The HDL proteome watch:
 Compilation of studies leads to new insights on HDL function. *Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Biol Lipids*. 2022;1867(2):159072.
- 275. Sucharski HC, Koenig SN. Mechanisms of lipoproteins and reverse cholesterol transport in atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. In: Parinandi NL, Hund TJ, eds. *Cardiovascular signaling in health and disease*. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2022:343-365.
- 276. Frambach SJCM, de Haas R, Smeitink JAM, Rongen GA, Russel FGM, Schirris TJJ. Brothers in arms: ABCA1- and ABCG1-mediated cholesterol efflux as promising targets in cardiovascular disease treatment. *Pharmacol Rev.* 2020;72(1):152-190.
- 277. Xu D, Li Y, Yang F, et al. Structure and transport mechanism of the human cholesterol transporter ABCG1. *Cell Rep.* 2022;38(4):110298.
- Shen WJ, Azhar S, Kraemer FB. SR-B1: A unique multifunctional receptor for cholesterol influx and efflux. *Annu Rev Physiol.* 2018;80:95-116.
- 279. Powers HR, Sahoo D. SR-B1's next top model: Structural perspectives on the functions of the HDL receptor. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2022;24(4):277-288.

- Haas MJ, Reinacher D, Li JP, Wong NC, Mooradian AD. Regulation of apoA1 gene expression with acidosis: Requirement for a transcriptional repressor. *J Mol Endocrinol*. 2001;27(1):43-57.
- Murao K, Wada Y, Nakamura T, Taylor AH, Mooradian AD, Wong NCW. Effects of glucose and insulin on rat Apolipoprotein A-I gene expression. *J Biol Chem.* 1998;273(30):18959-18965.
- Haas MJ, Parekh S, Kalidas P, et al. Insulin mimetic effect of D-allulose on apolipoprotein A-I gene. *J Food Biochem*. 2022;46(2).
- 283. Bonacina F, Pirillo A, Catapano AL, Norata GD. HDL in immune-inflammatory responses: Implications beyond cardiovascular diseases. *Cells*. 2021;10(5).
- 284. Cockerill GW, Rye K-A, Gamble JR, Vadas MA, Barter PJ. High-density lipoproteins inhibit cytokine-induced expression of endothelial cell adhesion molecules. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1995;15(11):1987-1994.
- 285. Murphy AJ, Woollard KJ, Hoang A, et al. High-density lipoprotein reduces the human monocyte inflammatory response. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2008;28(11):2071-2077.
- 286. Barter PJ, Nicholls S, Rye K-A, Anantharamaiah GM, Navab M, Fogelman AM. Antiinflammatory properties of HDL. *Circ Res.* 2004;95(8):764-772.
- Diab A, Valenzuela Ripoll C, Guo Z, Javaheri A. HDL composition, heart failure, and its comorbidities. *Front Cardiovasc Med.* 2022;9.
- 288. Zimetti F, Adorni MP, Marsillach J, et al. Connection between the altered HDL antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties and the risk to develop Alzheimer's disease: A narrative review. Oxid Med Cell Longev. 2021;2021:6695796.

- Mineo C, Deguchi H, Griffin JH, Shaul PW. Endothelial and antithrombotic actions of HDL. *Circ Res.* 2006;98(11):1352-1364.
- Raskob GE, Angchaisuksiri P, Blanco AN, et al. Thrombosis. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2014;34(11):2363-2371.
- 291. Stitham J, Midgett C, Martin KA, Hwa J. Prostacyclin: An inflammatory paradox. *Front Pharmacol.* 2011;2:24.
- 292. Pahl A. Thromboxane-A Synthase. In: Enna SJ, Bylund DB, eds. *xPharm: The comprehensive pharmacology reference*. New York: Elsevier; 2008:1-6.
- 293. Al-Amer OM. The role of thrombin in haemostasis. *Blood Coagul Fibrinolysis*.2022;33(3):145-148.
- 294. van der Stoep M, Korporaal SJA, Van Eck M. High-density lipoprotein as a modulator of platelet and coagulation responses. *Cardiovasc Res.* 2014;103(3):362-371.
- 295. Quiroz A, Molina P, Santander N, Gallardo D, Rigotti A, Busso D. Ovarian cholesterol efflux: ATP-binding cassette transporters and follicular fluid HDL regulate cholesterol content in mouse oocytes. *Biol Reprod.* 2019;102(2):348-361.
- 296. Nagy RA, van Montfoort APA, Groen H, et al. Anti-oxidative function of follicular fluid HDL and outcomes of modified natural cycle-IVF. *Sci Rep.* 2019;9(1):12817.
- 297. Holesh JE, Bass AN, Lord M. Physiology, ovulation. In: *StatPearls*. Treasure Island (FL):
 StatPearls Publishing; 2024.
- Arias A, Quiroz A, Santander N, Morselli E, Busso D. Implications of high-density cholesterol metabolism for oocyte biology and female fertility. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* 2022;10:941539.

- 299. Wiener-Megnazi Z, Vardi L, Lissak A, et al. Oxidative stress indices in follicular fluid as measured by the thermochemiluminescence assay correlate with outcome parameters in in vitro fertilization. *Fertil Steril*. 2004;82 Suppl 3:1171-1176.
- Sèdes L, Thirouard L, Maqdasy S, et al. Cholesterol: A gatekeeper of male fertility? Front Endocrinol (Lausanne). 2018;9:369.
- 301. Rani A, Stadler JT, Marsche G. HDL-based therapeutics: A promising frontier in combating viral and bacterial infections. *Pharmacol Ther.* 2024;260:108684.
- 302. Catanese MT, Graziani R, von Hahn T, et al. High-avidity monoclonal antibodies against the human scavenger class B type I receptor efficiently block hepatitis C virus infection in the presence of high-density lipoprotein. *J Virol.* 2007;81(15):8063-8071.
- 303. Alcalá AC, Maravillas JL, Meza D, Ramirez OT, Ludert JE, Palomares LA. Dengue virus NS1 uses scavenger receptor B1 as a cell receptor in cultured cells. *J Virol.* 2022;96(5):e01664-01621.
- 304. Nielsen MJ, Petersen SV, Jacobsen C, et al. Haptoglobin-related protein is a high-affinity hemoglobin-binding plasma protein. *Blood.* 2006;108(8):2846-2849.
- Goldstein JL, Brown MS. A century of cholesterol and coronaries: From plaques to genes to statins. *Cell*. 2015;161(1):161-172.
- 306. Zhang X, Liu J, Wang M, et al. Twenty-year epidemiologic study on LDL-C levels in relation to the risks of atherosclerotic event, hemorrhagic stroke, and cancer death among young and middle-aged population in China. *J Clin Lipidol.* 2018;12(5):1179-1189.e1174.

- 307. Duncan MS, Vasan RS, Xanthakis V. Trajectories of blood lipid concentrations over the adult life course and risk of cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality: Observations from the Framingham Study over 35 years. *J Am Heart Assoc.* 2019;8(11):e011433.
- 308. Zhang Y, Vittinghoff E, Pletcher MJ, et al. Associations of blood pressure and cholesterol levels during young adulthood with later cardiovascular events. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2019;74(3):330-341.
- 309. Holmes MV, Asselbergs FW, Palmer TM, et al. Mendelian randomization of blood lipids for coronary heart disease. *Eur Heart J.* 2015;36(9):539-550.
- 310. Downs JR, Clearfield M, Weis S, et al. Primary prevention of acute coronary events with lovastatin in men and women with average cholesterol levels results of AFCAPS/TexCAPS. J Am Med Assoc. 1998;279(20):1615-1622.
- 311. Knatterud GL, Rosenberg Y, Campeau L, et al. Long-term effects on clinical outcomes of aggressive lowering of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels and low-dose anticoagulation in the post coronary artery bypass graft trial. *Circulation*.
 2000;102(2):157-165.
- 312. Sacks FM, Pfeffer MA, Moye LA, et al. The effect of pravastatin on coronary events after myocardial infarction in patients with average cholesterol levels. *N Engl J Med.* 1996;335(14):1001-1009.
- 313. Baigent C, Keech A, Kearney PM, et al. Efficacy and safety of cholesterol-lowering treatment: prospective meta-analysis of data from 90,056 participants in 14 randomised trials of statins. *Lancet.* 2005;366(9493):1267-1278.

- Ouchi Y, Sasaki J, Arai H, et al. Ezetimibe Lipid-Lowering Trial on Prevention of Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease in 75 or Older (EWTOPIA 75). *Circulation*. 2019;140(12):992-1003.
- 315. Sabatine MS, Giugliano RP, Keech AC, et al. Evolocumab and clinical outcomes in patients with cardiovascular disease. *N Engl J Med.* 2017;376(18):1713-1722.
- Strong A, Rader DJ. Clinical implications of lipid genetics for cardiovascular disease. *Curr Cardiovasc Risk Rep.* 2010;4(6):461-468.
- 317. Guo X, Gao M, Wang Y, et al. LDL receptor gene-ablated hamsters: A rodent model of familial hypercholesterolemia with dominant inheritance and diet-induced coronary atherosclerosis. *EBioMedicine*. 2018;27:214-224.
- 318. Ference BA, Yoo W, Alesh I, et al. Effect of long-term exposure to lower low-density lipoprotein cholesterol beginning early in life on the risk of coronary heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2012;60(25):2631-2639.
- 319. Ference BA, Majeed F, Penumetcha R, Flack JM, Brook RD. Effect of naturally random allocation to lower low-density lipoprotein cholesterol on the risk of coronary heart disease mediated by polymorphisms in NPC1L1, HMGCR, or both. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2015;65(15):1552-1561.
- 320. Lauridsen BK, Stender S, Frikke-Schmidt R, Nordestgaard BG, Tybjærg-Hansen A. Genetic variation in the cholesterol transporter NPC1L1, ischaemic vascular disease, and gallstone disease. *Eur Heart J.* 2015;36(25):1601-1608.
- 321. Ference BA, Robinson JG, Brook RD, et al. Variation in PCSK9 and HMGCR and risk of cardiovascular disease and diabetes. *N Engl J Med.* 2016;375(22):2144-2153.

- 322. Cohen JC, Boerwinkle E, Mosley TH, Jr., Hobbs HH. Sequence variations in PCSK9, low LDL, and protection against coronary heart disease. *N Engl J Med.* 2006;354(12):1264-1272.
- 323. Benn M, Nordestgaard BG, Grande P, Schnohr P, Tybjaerg-Hansen A. PCSK9 R46L, low-density lipoprotein cholesterol levels, and risk of ischemic heart disease: 3 independent studies and meta-analyses. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2010;55(25):2833-2842.
- 324. Kathiresan S. A PCSK9 missense variant associated with a reduced risk of early-onset myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med.* 2008;358(21):2299-2300.
- 325. Sniderman AD, Dufresne L, Pencina KM, Bilgic S, Thanassoulis G, Pencina MJ. Discordance among apoB, non-high-density lipoprotein cholesterol, and triglycerides: Implications for cardiovascular prevention. *Eur Heart J.* 2024.
- 326. Franceschini G. Epidemiologic evidence for high-density lipoprotein cholesterol as a risk factor for coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol.* 2001;88(12, Supplement 1):9-13.
- Wilson PWF. High-density lipoprotein, low-density lipoprotein and coronary artery disease. *Am J Cardiol.* 1990;66(6):A7-A10.
- 328. Kjeldsen EW, Nordestgaard LT, Frikke-Schmidt R. HDL cholesterol and noncardiovascular disease: A narrative review. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2021;22(9).
- Rubin EM, Krauss RM, Spangler EA, Verstuyft JG, Clift SM. Inhibition of early atherogenesis in transgenic mice by human apolipoprotein AI. *Nature*. 1991;353(6341):265-267.
- Pászty C, Maeda N, Verstuyft J, Rubin EM. Apolipoprotein AI transgene corrects apolipoprotein E deficiency-induced atherosclerosis in mice. *J Clin Invest.* 1994;94(2):899-903.

- 331. Arnett DK, Blumenthal RS, Albert MA, et al. 2019 ACC/AHA Guideline on the Primary Prevention of Cardiovascular Disease: A Report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. *Circulation*. 2019;140(11):e596-e646.
- 332. Egbe AC, Miranda WR, Anderson JH, Connolly HM. Prognostic implications of weight gain and weight loss in adults with congenital heart disease. *Int J Cardiol.* 2023;371:147-152.
- 333. Wing RR, Lang W, Wadden TA, et al. Benefits of modest weight loss in improving cardiovascular risk factors in overweight and obese individuals with type 2 diabetes. *Diabetes Care.* 2011;34(7):1481-1486.
- 334. Biddinger KJ, Emdin CA, Haas ME, et al. Association of habitual alcohol intake with risk of cardiovascular disease. *JAMA Netw Open.* 2022;5(3):e223849-e223849.
- 335. O'Keefe JH, Bybee KA, Lavie CJ. Alcohol and cardiovascular health. *J Am Coll Cardiol*.
 2007;50(11):1009-1014.
- 336. Ronksley PE, Brien SE, Turner BJ, Mukamal KJ, Ghali WA. Association of alcohol consumption with selected cardiovascular disease outcomes: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br Med J.* 2011;342:d671.
- 337. Duncan MS, Freiberg MS, Greevy RA, Jr, Kundu S, Vasan RS, Tindle HA. Association of smoking cessation with subsequent risk of cardiovascular disease. *J Am Med Assoc*. 2019;322(7):642-650.
- 338. van den Berg MJ, van der Graaf Y, Deckers JW, et al. Smoking cessation and risk of recurrent cardiovascular events and mortality after a first manifestation of arterial disease. *Am Heart J.* 2019;213:112-122.

- 339. Jeong S-M, Jeon KH, Shin DW, et al. Smoking cessation, but not reduction, reduces cardiovascular disease incidence. *Eur Heart J.* 2021;42(40):4141-4153.
- 340. Mons U, Müezzinler A, Gellert C, et al. Impact of smoking and smoking cessation on cardiovascular events and mortality among older adults: Meta-analysis of individual participant data from prospective cohort studies of the CHANCES consortium. *Br Med J*. 2015;350:h1551.
- 341. Ding N, Sang Y, Chen J, et al. Cigarette smoking, smoking cessation, and long-term risk of 3 major atherosclerotic diseases. *J Am Coll Cardiol*. 2019;74(4):498-507.
- 342. Sikand G, Severson T. Top 10 dietary strategies for atherosclerotic cardiovascular risk reduction. *Am J Prev Cardiol.* 2020;4:100106.
- 343. Sizar O, Khare S, Jamil RT, Talati R. Statin medications. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*.
 Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Kuijpers PMJC. History in medicine: The story of cholesterol, lipids and cardiology. *E-Journal of Cardiology Practice*. 2021;19(9).
- Duong H, Bajaj T. Lovastatin. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- 346. De Denus S, Spinler SA. Early statin therapy for acute coronary syndromes. Ann Pharmacother. 2002;36(11):1749-1758.
- 347. Ray KK, Cannon CP. The potential relevance of the multiple lipid-independent (pleiotropic) effects of statins in the management of acute coronary syndromes. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2005;46(8):1425-1433.

- 348. Schwartz GG, Olsson AG, Ezekowitz MD, et al. Effects of atorvastatin on early recurrent ischemic events in acute coronary syndromes The MIRACL Study: A randomized controlled trial. J Am Med Assoc. 2001;285(13):1711-1718.
- Talreja O, Kerndt CC, Cassagnol M. Simvastatin. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Sidhu G, Sapra A. Pravastatin. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Ramsamooj H, Preuss CV. Fluvastatin. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- McIver LA, Siddique MS. Atorvastatin. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024.
- 353. Bajaj T, Giwa AO. Rosuvastatin. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- Bhatti H, Tadi P. Pitavastatin. In. *StatPearls [Internet]*. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
- 355. Sarraju A, Ward A, Li J, et al. Personalizing cholesterol treatment recommendations for primary cardiovascular disease prevention. *Sci Rep.* 2022;12(1):23.
- Rikhi R, Shapiro MD. Newer and emerging LDL-C lowering agents and implications for ASCVD residual risk. *J Clin Med.* 2022;11(15).
- 357. Virani SS, Smith SC, Stone NJ, Grundy SM. Secondary prevention for atherosclerotic cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*. 2020;141(14):1121-1123.

- 358. van der Hoorn JWA, de Haan W, Berbée JFP, et al. Niacin increases HDL by reducing hepatic expression and plasma levels of cholesteryl ester transfer protein in APOE*3Leiden.CETP mice. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2008;28(11):2016-2022.
- 359. Birjmohun RS, Hutten BA, Kastelein JJP, Stroes ESG. Efficacy and safety of highdensity lipoprotein cholesterol-increasing compounds: A meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* 2005;45(2):185-197.
- Carlson LA. Nicotinic acid: The broad-spectrum lipid drug. A 50th anniversary review. J Intern Med. 2005;258(2):94-114.
- Forrester JS, Shah PK. Emerging strategies for increasing high-density lipoprotein. Am J Cardiol. 2006;98(11):1542-1549.
- 362. Brown BG, Zhao X-Q, Chait A, et al. Simvastatin and niacin, antioxidant vitamins, or the combination for the prevention of coronary disease. *N Engl J Med.* 2001;345(22):1583-1592.
- 363. Jin FY, Kamanna VS, Kashyap ML. Niacin decreases removal of high-density lipoprotein apolipoprotein A-I but not cholesterol ester by Hep G2 cells: Implication for reverse cholesterol transport. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 1997;17(10):2020-2028.
- 364. Zhang LH, Kamanna VS, Zhang MC, Kashyap ML. Niacin inhibits surface expression of ATP synthase beta chain in HepG2 cells: Implications for raising HDL. *J Lipid Res.* 2008;49(6):1195-1201.
- Kamanna VS, Kashyap ML. Mechanism of action of niacin. *Am J Cardiol.* 2008;101(8, Supplement):S20-S26.

- 366. Sakai T, Kamanna VS, Kashyap ML. Niacin, but not gemfibrozil, selectively increases LP-AI, a cardioprotective subfraction of HDL, in patients with low HDL cholesterol. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2001;21(11):1783-1789.
- 367. Yadav R, France M, Younis N, et al. Extended-release niacin with laropiprant: A review on efficacy, clinical effectiveness and safety. *Expert Opin Pharmacother*. 2012;13(9):1345-1362.
- 368. Mani P, Rohatgi A. Niacin therapy, HDL cholesterol, and cardiovascular disease: Is the HDL hypothesis defunct? *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2015;17(8):43.
- 369. Ronsein GE, Vaisar T, Davidson WS, et al. Niacin increases atherogenic proteins in high-density lipoprotein of statin-treated subjects. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* 2021;41(8):2330-2341.
- 370. Gordon SM, Amar MJ, Jeiran K, et al. Effect of niacin monotherapy on high density lipoprotein composition and function. *Lipids Health Dis.* 2020;19(1):190.
- 371. Tall AR, Rader DJ. Trials and tribulations of CETP inhibitors. *Circ Res.* 2018;122(1):106-112.
- 372. Dastmalchi LN, German CA, Taub PR. High density lipoprotein: When to rethink too much of a good thing. *Am J Prev Cardiol*. 2023;15:100511.
- 373. Bowman L, Hopewell JC, Chen F, et al. Effects of anacetrapib in patients with atherosclerotic vascular disease. *N Engl J Med.* 2017;377(13):1217-1227.
- 374. Wolska A, Reimund M, Sviridov DO, Amar MJ, Remaley AT. Apolipoprotein mimetic peptides: Potential new therapies for cardiovascular diseases. *Cells*. 2021;10(3).
- Van Lenten BJ, Wagner AC, Anantharamaiah GM, et al. Apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptides. *Curr Atheroscler Rep.* 2009;11(1):52-57.

- 376. Anantharamaiah GM, Mishra VK, Garber DW, et al. Structural requirements for antioxidative and anti-inflammatory properties of apolipoprotein A-I mimetic peptides. J Lipid Res. 2007;48(9):1915-1923.
- Bloedon LT, Dunbar R, Duffy D, et al. Safety, pharmacokinetics, and pharmacodynamics of oral apoA-I mimetic peptide D-4F in high-risk cardiovascular patients. *J Lipid Res.* 2008;49(6):1344-1352.
- 378. Watson CE, Weissbach N, Kjems L, et al. Treatment of patients with cardiovascular disease with L-4F, an apo-A1 mimetic, did not improve select biomarkers of HDL function. *J Lipid Res.* 2011;52(2):361-373.
- 379. Gibson CM, Duffy D, Korjian S, et al. Apolipoprotein A1 infusions and cardiovascular outcomes after acute myocardial infarction. *N Engl J Med.* 2024;390(17):1560-1571.
- 380. Gibson CM, Korjian S, Tricoci P, et al. Safety and tolerability of CSL112, a reconstituted, infusible, plasma-derived apolipoprotein A-I, after acute myocardial infarction: The AEGIS-I Trial (ApoA-I Event Reducing in Ischemic Syndromes I). *Circulation*. 2016;134(24):1918-1930.
- Ali P, Younas A. Understanding and interpreting regression analysis. *Evid-Based Nurs*. 2021;24(4):116-118.
- 382. Schober P, Vetter TR. Linear regression in medical research. *Anesth Analg.* 2021;132(1):108-109.
- Szumilas M. Explaining odds ratios. J Can Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. 2010;19(3):227-229.

- 384. Abd ElHafeez S, D'Arrigo G, Leonardis D, Fusaro M, Tripepi G, Roumeliotis S. Methods to analyze time-to-event data: The Cox regression analysis. *Oxid Med Cell Longev.* 2021;2021:1302811.
- 385. Toledo E. Chapter 2 Epidemiological and nutritional methods. In: Sánchez-Villegas A, Sánchez-Tainta A, eds. *The prevention of cardiovascular disease through the Mediterranean Diet.* Academic Press; 2018:25-34.
- 386. Gregorich M, Strohmaier S, Dunkler D, Heinze G. Regression with highly correlated predictors: Variable omission is not the solution. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. 2021;18(8).
- 387. Daoud JI. Multicollinearity and regression analysis. *J Phys Conf Ser.* 2017;949(1):012009.
- 388. Huang Y, DiDonato JA, Levison BS, et al. An abundant dysfunctional apolipoprotein A1 in human atheroma. *Nat Med.* 2014;20(2):193-203.
- Huang L-H, Elvington A, Randolph GJ. The role of the lymphatic system in cholesterol transport. *Front Pharmacol.* 2015;6.
- Ouimet M, Barrett TJ, Fisher EA. HDL and reverse cholesterol transport. *Circ Res.* 2019;124(10):1505-1518.
- Freeman SR, Jin X, Anzinger JJ, et al. ABCG1-mediated generation of extracellular cholesterol microdomains. *J Lipid Res.* 2014;55(1):115-127.
- 392. Sahoo D, Trischuk TC, Chan T, et al. ABCA1-dependent lipid efflux to apolipoprotein A-I mediates HDL particle formation and decreases VLDL secretion from murine hepatocytes. *J Lipid Res.* 2004;45(6):1122-1131.
- 393. Harrison E, Pius R. Cox proportional hazards regression. In. R for health data science.

- 394. Sekula P, Del Greco MF, Pattaro C, Köttgen A. Mendelian randomization as an approach to assess causality using observational data. *J Am Soc Nephrol.* 2016;27(11):3253-3265.
- 395. Gianicolo EAL, Eichler M, Muensterer O, Strauch K, Blettner M. Methods for evaluating causality in observational studies. *Dtsch Arztebl Int*. 2020;116(7):101-107.
- 396. Lamarche B, Rashid S, Lewis GF. HDL metabolism in hypertriglyceridemic states: An overview. *Clinica Chimica Acta*. 1999;286(1):145-161.

8.0 SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL

Supplemental Material 1. Hazard Ratios for Incident Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease (ASCVD) in Cox Proportional Hazards Models with Lipid Parameters and Risk Factors in Apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I) Quintiles in Males

	1 st Quintile	2 nd Quintile	3 rd Quintile	4 th Quintile	5 th Quintile
Variable					
АроВ	1.19 (1.14,1.24) ***	1.24 (1.19,1.30) ***	1.18 (1.12,1.23) ***	1.19 (1.14,1.25) ***	1.10 (1.05,1.15) ***
lnTG	0.99 (0.94,1.04)	0.95 (0.90,1.00)	0.97 (0.92,1.03)	1.01 (0.95,1.07)	1.08 (1.02,1.14)
SBP	1.16 (1.12,1.20) ***	1.11 (1.07,1.15) ***	1.18 (1.14,1.23) ***	1.21 (1.16,1.26) ***	1.23 (1.18,1.28) ***
HbA1c	1.09 (1.06,1.13) ***	1.09 (1.06,1.13) ***	1.11 (1.07,1.14) ***	1.07 (1.04,1.10) ***	1.08 (1.04,1.12) ***
Age	1.06 (1.06,1.07) ***	1.07 (1.07,1.08) ***	1.07 (1.06,1.08) ***	1.06 (1.06,1.07) ***	1.06 (1.05,1.06) ***
BMI	1.07 (1.03,1.11) *	1.08 (1.03,1.12) ***	1.08 (1.04,1.13) ***	1.07 (1.02,1.12)	1.06 (1.02,1.11)
BP Medication	1.47 (1.34,1.61) ***	1.46 (1.32,1.61) ***	1.36 (1.22,1.51) ***	1.42 (1.27,1.59) ***	1.60 (1.44,1.79) ***
Diabetes Medication	1.57 (1.27,1.94) ***	1.42 (1.08,1.87) *	1.51 (1.11,2.04)	1.49 (1.03,2.17)	1.71 (1.14,2.58)
Smoking	1.32 (1.22,1.43)	1.16 (1.08,1.26) ***	1.19 (1.09,1.31) ***	1.13 (1.03,1.24)	1.23 (1.12,1.36) ***

* p<0.05 (statistically significant)

*** p<0.001 (high statistical significance)

Supplemental Material 2. Hazard Ratios for Incident Atherosclerotic Cardiovascular Disease (ASCVD) in Cox Proportional Hazards Models with Lipid Parameters and Risk Factors in Apolipoprotein A-I (ApoA-I) Quintiles in Females

	1 st Quintile	2 nd Quintile	3 rd Quintile	4 th Quintile	5 th Quintile
Variable					
АроВ	1.15 (1.09,1.21) ***	1.10 (1.04,1.16) ***	1.06 (1.00,1.12)	1.06 (1.00,1.12)	1.05 (0.99,1.11)
lnTG	1.04 (0.97,1.11)	1.08 (1.00,1.16) *	1.07 (1.00,1.16)	1.07 (1.00,1.15)	1.10 (1.02,1.18)
SBP	1.18 (1.12,1.23) ***	1.18 (1.13,1.24) ***	1.20 (1.14,1.26) ***	1.18 (1.12,1.24) ***	1.18 (1.12,1.25) ***
HbA1c	1.10 (1.06,1.14) ***	1.08 (1.03,1.13)	1.07 (1.03,1.12) ***	1.10 (1.05,1.15) ***	1.05 (1.01,1.09) *
Age	1.06 (1.06,1.07) ***	1.05 (1.01,1.10) ***	1.07 (1.06,1.08) ***	1.08 (1.07,1.09) ***	1.08 (1.07,1.09) ***
BMI	1.08 (1.03,1.13)	1.10 (1.05,1.16) ***	1.09 (1.04,1.15) ***	1.07 (1.02,1.12)	1.05 (0.99,1.11)
BP Medication	1.54 (1.39,1.70) ***	1.52 (1.36,1.70) ***	1.62 (1.44,1.83) ***	1.59 (1.40,1.80) ***	1.70 (1.49,1.94) ***
Diabetes Medication	1.59 (1.19,2.12)	1.96 (1.32,2.90) ***	1.66 (1.04,2.65)	1.93 (1.11,3.37) *	0.84 (0.99,3.45)
Smoking	1.37 (1.25,1.50) ***	1.37 (1.24,1.51) ***	1.12 (1.02,1.24)	1.25 (1.12,1.38)	1.16 (1.04,1.29) *

* p<0.05 (statistically significant)

*** p<0.001 (high statistical significance)